
FULL-YEAR REPORT 
INCORPORATING 
APPENDIX 4E
Santos Limited
Preliminary Final Report under ASX Listing Rule 4.3A for the year ended 31 December 2012. 
This report is based on � nancial statements which have been audited.

Devil Creek gas plant, Western Australia.
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Results for announcement to the market 
Appendix 4E for the year ended 31 December 2012 

 
$million  

Revenue from ordinary activities Up 18% to 3,299    

Profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to members  Down 31% to 519 

Net profit for the period attributable to members  Down 31% to 519 

 

Dividends  Amount per security 
Franked amount per 
security at 30% tax  

2012 Interim Dividends 

Ordinary securities  

 

15¢ 

 

15¢ 

2012 Final Dividends 

Ordinary securities  

 

15¢ 

 

15¢ 

  

Record date for determining entitlements to the 2012 final dividend 7 March 2013 
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Directors’ Report  

 
 
The Directors present their report together with the consolidated fi nancial report of the consolidated entity, 
being Santos Limited (“Santos” or “the Company”)  and its controlled entities, for the finan cial year ended 
31 December 2012, and the auditor ’s report thereon. Information in the Annual Report referred to in this report, 
including the Remuneration Report, or contained in a note to the Financia l Statements referred to in this report 
forms part of , and is to be read as part of , this report.  

 

Directors, Directors’ Shareholdings and Directors’ Meetings 

Directors and Directors’ Shareholdings 

The names of Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report  and details of the relevant interest of 
each of those Directors in shares in the Company at that date are as set out below:  
 

Surname Other Names Shareholdings in Santos Limited 

Borda Kenneth Charles  74,320 

Coates Peter Roland (Chairman)  37,104 

Dean Kenneth Alfred  16,349 

Franklin Roy Alexander 3,547 

Goh Hock - 

Harding Richard Michael 2,643 

Hemstritch Jane Sharman 14,000 

Knox David John Wissler (Managing Director) 85,141 

Martin Gregory John Walton 10,750 
 
The above named Directors held office during and since the end of the financial year with the exception of Mr 
Hock Goh, who was appointed on 22 October 2012 and has held office since that date. There were no other 
persons who acted as Directors at any time during the financial year and up to the date of this report .  

 
All shareholdings are of fully paid ordinary shares. No Director holds a relevant interest in a related body 
corporate of Santos Limited.  

 
At the date of this report, Mr DJW Knox holds 257,512 options and 556,506 share acquisition rights (“SARs”). 
Details of the options and SARs granted to Mr Knox during the year are set out in the Remuneration Report on 
page 10 and in Notes 30-31 to the Financial Statements. 

 
Details of the qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of each Director and the Company Secretary 
are set out on the Directors’ and Executives’ biography pages of the Annual Report. This information includes 
details of other listed company directorships held during the last three years.  
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Directors’ Meetings 
The number of Directors’ meetings and meetings of committees of Directors held during the financ ial year and 
the number of meetings attended by each Director a re as follows: 
 

TABLE OF DI RECTORS’ MEETI NGS  

Director  Directors’ 
Meeting 2 

Audit  
Committee  

Environment 
Health & 

Safety 
Committee  

People & 
Remuneration 

Committee  

Finance  
Committee  

Nomination 
Committee  

Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended 

Borda Kenneth Charles  11 10 - - - - - - 5 5 5 5 

Coates Peter Roland  11 11 - - - - 5 5 5 5 5 5 

Dean Kenneth Alfred 11 11 4 4 - - - - 5 5 - - 

Franklin Roy Alexander 11 11 - - 4 4 5 5 - - - - 

Goh3 Hock 3 3 - - - - - - - - - - 

Harding Richard Michael 11 11 4 2 4 4 - - - - 5 5 

Hemstritch Jane Sharman 11 10 4 3 - - 5 4 - - - - 

Knox David John Wissler 11 11 - - 4 4 - - - - - - 

Martin Gregory John Walton 11 11 - - 4 4 5 5 - - - - 

1 Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the Direc tor held office, or was a member of the Committee, during the year. 
2 In addition to formal meetings, the Directors participated  in site visits to Gladstone in June and Narrabri/Gunnedah in December 2012. 
3 Appointed on 22 October 2012. 

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year w ere: petroleum exploration, the 
production, treatment and marketing of natural gas, crude oil, condensate,  naphtha, liquid petroleum gas, and 
the transportation by pipeline of crude oil. No significant change in the nature of these activities has occurred 
during the year.  

Review and Results of Operations 
A review of the operations and of the results of those oper ations of the consolidated entity du ring the year is as 
follows: 

Summary of results table 2012             2011    Variance 

 mmboe  mmboe % 

Production volume 52.1 47.2 10 

Sales volume 61.0 58.7 4 

 $million  $million  

Product sales 3,220 2,721 18 

EBITDAX2 1,880 2,126 (12) 

Exploration and evaluation expensed (165) (167) (1) 

Depreciation and depletion (773) (641) 21 

Net impairment loss (106) (127) (17) 

EBIT2 836 1,191 (30) 

Net finance income 79 91 (13) 

Taxation expense (397) (531) (25) 

Net profit for the period  518 751 (31) 

Net loss attributable to non -controlling interest  (1) (2) (50) 

Net profit attributable to equity holders of Santos 1 519 753 (31) 

Underlying profit for the period 2 606 453 34 
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1 Net profit attributable to the equity holders of Santos for the year of $519 million is $234 million lower than 2011, primarily due to lower gains on 
sale of non-current assets, largely as a result of the sale of 15% of the GLNG pro ject in 2011, combined with  higher cost of sales, offset by higher 
sales revenue. Please refer to page 6 for further details.  

2 EBITDAX (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, depletion, exploration  and evaluation and impairment), EBIT (earnings before interest and 
tax) and underlying profit are non -IFRS measures that are presented to provide an understanding of the underlying performance of Santos’ 
operations. Underlying profit excludes the impacts of asset acquisitions, disposals and impairments, as well as items that are subject to significant 
variability from one period to the next, including th e effects of fair value adjustments and fluctuations in exchange rates. Please refer to page 6 for 
the reconciliation from net profit to underlying profit for the period. The non-IFRS financial information is unaudited however the numbers have 
been extracted from the audited financial statements. 

Production and sales 
Santos’ 2012 production was up 10% to 52.1 million barrels of oil equivalent (“ mmboe”).  Production from new 
assets such as Reindeer in Western Australia and Chim Sao in Vietnam, combined with strong Cooper Basin oil 
production, drove the increase.  Consistent delivery of Santos’ strategy has positioned the company for further 
growth, with production expected to reach over 80 mmboe by 2020. 
 
Sales volumes grew by 4% in 2012 to 61 mmboe, reflecting higher production partially of fset by lower overall 
third party product sales. 
 
Sales revenue grew by 18% to a record $3,220 million, driven by a 33% increase in crude oil production and 
higher third party crude  oil sales.  The average realised oil price was A$113.78 per barrel, marginally lower than 
2011, while the average gas price of A$5.14 per gigajoule was 9% higher.  

Eastern Australia 
Eastern Australia Business Unit EBITDAX was $668 million, 3% higher  than 2011.  
 
Santos’ share of Cooper Basin gas production of 66.6 petajoules (PJ) during 2012 was 1% higher than 2011, with 
improvements in field and plant downtime partially offset by lo wer upstream capacity due to the project backlog 
caused by wet weather impacting the 2010-11 drilling campaigns.  Santos’ share of condensate production was 
1 million barrels (“mmbbl”) , in line with 2011.  Santos’ share of gas production from the Surat/Bowen/Deniso n 
areas in Queensland and the Otway Basin offshore Victoria was 30.6 PJ, 8% lower than 2011 primarily due to the 
shut-in of the non -operated Northern Denison field. 
 
Santos produced 3.2 mmbbl of oil from the Cooper Basin in 2012, its highest production s ince 2009. Driving the 
increase was the prior year drilling campaigns in the Zeus and Cook fields, improved access to field infrastructure 
following the 2010-11 floods and strong performance from the Charo wells brought on line in the  second half of 
2012. 
 
Santos achieved a significant milestone in the second half of 2012 with the  commencement of Australia’s first 
commercial production of gas from a shale well.  The Moomba-191 well was commissioned in late September 
2012 and produced a first month average flow rate o f 2.7 million standard cubic feet per day ( “mmscf/d”) , 
exceeding expectations, with gas composition consistent with that historically produced in the Moomba Big Lake 
area.  As at the end of the year, the well was flowing at 2. 5 mmscf/d.  Following this success, Santos will expand 
its shale development program in 2013, with four exploration wells  targeting Moomba shale and the Nappamerri 
Trough basin centred gas plays.  

WA & NT 
Western Australia and Northern Territory Business Unit EBITDAX was $801 million, 17% lower than 2011 
primarily due to the sale of the Evans Shoal asset in 2011. 
 
Santos’ Western Australia gas production increased by over 40% in 2012 to a record 65.0 PJ, driven by the 
Reindeer and Spar fields brought on line in 2011. With partner Apache Energy, Santos processes gas through the 
Varanus Island and Devil Creek facilities in the Carnarvon Basin, and supplies it to domestic resource and 
industrial customers.  Santos’ share of Western Australia condensate production of 635,600 barrels was 27% 
higher than 2011 due to higher production from the Reindeer and Spar fields. 
 
Santos’ share of WA oil production of 2.8 mmbbl was 11% lower than 2011 primarily due to lower output from 
the Stag field.  The Fletcher Finucane oil project is on track for firs t oil by midyear 2013 and will provide a boost 
to Santos’ production in the region.  

Santos’ share of gas production from the Darwin LNG plant of 14.4 PJ was in line with 2011.  The plant had a 
scheduled maintenance shutdown in the first half of 2012 and has performed strongly since the shutdown. 
 
In November 2012, Santos made a significant gas discovery at the Crown exploration well in WA-274-P, located 
between the Poseidon and Ichthys fields in the Browse Basin offshore Western Australia. The well was drilled to 
a total depth of 5,301 metres and intersected 61 metres of net gas pay i n the Jurassic-aged Montara, Plover and 
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Malita reservoirs.  Following on from the success at Crown, the Dufresne and Bassett-West prospects are planned 
to be drilled in 2013 , targeting gas and associated liquids in the neighbouring permit WA-408-P. 
 
In June 2012, Santos and partner ConocoPhillips signed an agreement with South Korea’s SK E&S to progress the 
appraisal of the Caldita Barossa gas fields offshore northern Australia.  Under the agreement, SK E&S will fund up 
to US$520 million in carry obligations and contingent payments with planning for a three-well appraisal program 
currently underway.  

Asia Pacific 
Asia Pacific Business Unit EBITDAX was $371 million, 132% higher  than 2011 mainly due to a full year of 
production from the Chim Sao asset in Vietnam and commencement of production from the Wortel asset in 
Indonesia. 
 
The Chim Sao asset offshore Vietnam performed strongly in 2012, with the gross oil production rate exceeding 
Santos’ guidance of 25,000 barrels of oil per day (“bopd”) .  Santos’ net entitlement to production was 2.9 mmbbl 
for the year.  Building from the success at Chim Sao, the Dua oil project was sanctioned in August 2012. It 
involves a three-well subsea tie-back to Chim Sao, and is expected to produce at a gross rate of 10,000 bopd. 
First oil is expected in the first half of 2014.  
 
Santos’ net entitlement gas production in Indonesia of 28.1 PJ was 1 7% lower than 2011, primarily due to a 
lower net entitlement to Maleo gas following the favourable gas price review at t he end of 2011 offset by the 
commencement of production from the Wortel asset in January 2 012.  Santos is planning to sanction the Peluang 
asset in 2013 which will be developed as a tie-back to Maleo with first production expected in the first half of 
2014. 
 
In Papua New Guinea, the PNG LNG project (Santos 13.5% interest) is over 70% complete and on track for first 
LNG in 2014. Operated by ExxonMobil, the project involves gas production and processing facilities in the 
Southern Highlands and Western Provinces of Papua New Guinea with capacity of 6.9 million tonnes of LNG per 
year.  In November 2012, the operator completed a cost and schedule review for th e project and advised that 
the project capital cost had increased to US$19 billion. This was primarily due to foreign exchange impacts, 
delays from work stoppages due to community disruptions and land access, and logistics and weather 
challenges. The operator also advised that the LNG plant capacity had increased from 6.6 million tonnes per 
annum (“mpta”) to 6.9 mtpa, with discussions underway with potential parties f or sales of additional volumes.  

GLNG 
Sanctioned in January 2011, the GLNG project (Santos 30% interest) is over 45% complete and on track for first 
LNG in 2015. The project involves developing coal seam natural gas fields in the Bowen and Surat Basins in 
south-western Queensland, a 420 kilometre underground gas transmission pipeline and a two-train LNG plant on 
Curtis Island at Gladstone. 
 
The GLNG project is at the heart of Santos’ vision to create a leading Asia Pacific exploration and production 
company, as it is key to the transformation of our east coast gas business through LNG export.  With the 
sanction of the GLNG project, Santos opened a channel to the strong Asian demand for Australian LNG, providing 
access to the higher priced Asian market and unlocking our east coast resources and accelerating the conversion 
into reserves. 
 
In June 2012, Santos announced that the gross capital cost estimate for th e GLNG project had increased from 
US$16 billion to US$18.5 billion for the period from final investment decis ion until the end of 2015.   This is 
based on foreign exchange rates which are consistent with the assumptions used at FID (A$/US$0.87 average 
over 2011-15). The increase was primarily due to accelerated upstream development in the Fairview and Roma 
fields such as additional wells, gas gathering and processing facilities, water handling faciliti es and other 
infrastructure.  
 
GLNG Business Unit results include domestic gas production and sales from the GLNG coal seam gas fields in 
south-western Queensland.  GLNG Business Unit EBITDAX was $11 million, 97% lower than 2011 mainly due to 
lower gains on sales of non-current assets in 2012, compared to the sale of 15% of the GLNG project in 2011. 
 
Santos’ share of GLNG gas production in 2012 was 10.8 PJ, 20% higher than 2011. 
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Net Profit  
The 2012 net profit attributable to equity holders of Santos Limited of $519 million is $234 million lower than in 
2011.  This decrease is primarily due to a $529 million before tax ($ 408 million after tax) gain on sale of 
non-current assets during 2011, combined with higher cost of sales, offset by higher sales revenue driven by 
higher liquids volumes and higher gas prices in the current period .  

 
Net profit includes items before tax of $96 million ($87 million after tax), as referred to in the reconciliation of 
net profit to underlying profit below.  

 
 

Reconciliat ion of Net Profit to Underlying Profit 1 
 2012 $million  2011 $million 

 Gross  Tax  Net  Gross  Tax  Net  

Net profit  after tax attributable to equity 
holders of Santos Limited  

  
519 

  
753 

Add/(deduct) the following:        

Net gains on sales of non-current assets (11) 3 (8)  (529) 121 (408)  

Impairment losses 106 (29) 77 127 (25) 102 

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 2 (1) 1 (18) 5 (13)  

Fair value adjustments on embedded derivatives 
and hedges (7) 2 (5)  5 (2) 3 

Remediation costs for incidents net of related 
insurance recoveries 2 (1) 1 - - -  

Other expense/(income)  items 4 (1) 3 (3) 2 (1)  

Tax adjustments relating to pr ior years - 17 17 - 17 17 

Other tax adjustments - 1 1 - - -  

 96 (9) 87 (418) 118 (300)  

Underlying Profit1    606   453 

1 Underlying profit is a non-IFRS measure that is presented to provide an understanding of the underlying performance of Santos’ operations. The 
measure excludes the impacts of asset acquisitions, disposals and impairments, as well as items that are subject to significant variability from one 
period to the next, including the effects of fair value adjustments an d fluctuations in exchange rates. The non-IFRS financial information is 
unaudited however the gross numbers presented above have been extracted from the audited financial statements.  
‘Other (expense)/income items’ in 2012 comprises amounts recognised for restructuring provision. 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
The Directors consider that matters or circumstances that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, 
the operations, results of operations or the state of affa irs of the Company in subsequent financial years are as 
follows: 

> Carbon Tax 
On 1 July 2012 the Australian Government’s Clean Energy legislation was introduced. This legislation requires 
Santos to surrender, to the Government, one carbon permit f or each tonne of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(“CO2e”) emitted from its affected facilities. The pri ce set by the Government for the first compliance year of  the 
scheme is $23 per tonne of CO2e. 

The cost of carbon for Santos in the 12 months from 1 July 2012 is  forecast to be in the range of 
$45-$65 million. Santos expects to recoup the majority of these carbon costs via cost pass through in domestic 
sales agreements and an allocation of free carbon permits that will be issued under the Jobs  and 
Competitiveness program of the legislation for LNG operations. 
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Dividends 
On 22 February 2013, the Directors resolved to pay a fully franked final dividend o f 15 cents per fully paid 
ordinary share on 28 March 2013 to shareholders registered in the books of the Company at the close of 
business on 7 March 2013 (“Record Date”). This final dividend amounts to approximately $ 144 million. The Board 
also resolved that the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) will continue to be in operation for this dividend.  
Shares issued under the DRP will be allocated at the arithmetic average of the daily weighted average market 
price of the Company’s shares on the ASX over a period of seven business days commencing on the second 
business day after the Record Date less a 2.5% discount (“DRP Price”). The last election date for the DRP is the 
Record Date. 

A fully franked final dividend of $142 million (15 cents per fully paid ordinary share) was paid on 30 March 2012 
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011, as disclosed in the 2011 Annual Report. In addition, a fully 
franked interim dividend of $143 million (15 cents per fully paid ordina ry share) was paid to members on 
28 September 2012. The DRP was in operation for both of these dividends and shares were allocated based on 
the DRP Price.  

Environmental Regulation 
The consolidated entity’s Australian operations are subject to various environmental regulations under 
Commonwealth, State and Territory legislation. Applicable legislation and requisite environmental licences are 
specified in the consolidated entity’s EHS Compliance Database, which forms part of the consolidated entity’s 
overall Environmental Management System. Compliance performance is monitored on a regular basis and in 
various forms, including environmental audits conducted by regulator y authorities and by the Company, either 
through internal or external resources.  
 
During the financial year, the consolidated entity received $9,200 in fines: three Infringement Notices issued 
pursuant to the Environmental Protection At 1994 (Qld), one pursuant to t he Waste Reduction and Recycling Act 
2011 (Qld) and two issued pursuant to the Protection of the Environment O perations Act 1997 (NSW). The 
consolidated entity undertook corrective measures in respect of the infringements to preclude re -occurrences. 
 
The consolidated entity received three other environmental regulatory instruments , two pursuant to the 
Environmental Protection Act 1994 (Qld) and one pursuant to the Petroleum and Geothermal Energy Act 2000 
(South Australia), for which it was not fined and no penalty was issued.   
 
Santos is continuing to cooperate with a NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and 
Services investigation into a loss of CSG water from the Eastern Star Gas (“ESG”)  operations in mid-2011 (prior 
to Santos taking control of ESG, now known as Santos NSW) at the Bibblewindi Water Management Facility 
located in the Pilliga Forest near Narrabri in NSW. 

Post Balance Date Events 
Except as mentioned below or elsewhere in this report, in the opinion of the Directors there  has not arisen, in the 
interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any matter or circ umstance that has 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of t he consolidated entity, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated ent ity in future financial years.  
 

> On 22 February 2013, the Directors of Santos Limited declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in 
respect of the 2012 financial year. The dividend has not been provided for in the 31 December 2012 
financial statements. Refer to note 22 of the Financial Statements for dividends declared after 
31 December 2012. 

Likely Developments 
Certain likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the e xpected results of those 
operations in future financial years will be referred to in the reports in the Annua l Report by the Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Further information about likely developments in the operations of  the consolidated entity and the expected 
results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this r eport because disclosure of the 
information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the conso lidated entity. Further details 
regarding likely developments appear in the individual reports pr oviding more detailed discussion of business 
activities and outlook in the Annual Report.  
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Shares Under Option and Unvested Share Acquisition Rights 

Options 

Unissued ordinary shares of Santos Limited under option at the date of this report  are as follows: 

Date options granted Expiry date 
Issue price of 

shares1 
Number of options 

23 May 2005 22 May 2015 $8.46 8,350 

23 May 2005 22 May 2015 $8.46 61,100 

24 October 2006 24 October 2016 $10.48 372,700 

4 May 2006 3 May 2016 $11.36 2,500,000 

1 July 2007 30 June 2017 $14.14 203,900 

1 July 2007 30 June 2017 $14.14 47,400 

3 September 2007 2 September 2017 $12.81 100,000 

3 May 2008 2 May 2018 $15.39 483,348 

3 May 2008 2 May 2018 $15.39 249,630 

28 July 2008 27 July 2018 $17.36 81,948 

02 March 2009 2 March 2019 $14.81 54,621 

   4,162,997 

1 This is the exercise price payable by the option holder. 

 
Options do not confer an entitlement to participate in a bonus or rights issue, prior to the exercise of the option.  

 

Unvested SARs 

Unissued ordinary shares of Santos Limited under unvested SARs at the date of this report are as follows: 

Date SARs granted Number of shares under unvested SARs 

2 March 2010 206,317 

15 November 2010 40,000 

4 January 2011 273,439 

1 March 2011 633,875 

1 March 2011 224,271 

4 July 2011 303,392 

4 January 2012 39,024 

1 March 2012 1,425,873 

3 May 2012 205,339 

2 July 2012 439,937 

3 January 2013 59,398 

  3,850,865 

 

No amount is payable on the vesting of SARs. SARs do not confer an entitlement to participate in a bonus or 
rights issue, prior to the vesting of the SAR.  Further details regarding the SARs (including when they will lapse) 
are contained in the Remuneration Report commencing on page 10 of this report  and in Note 30 to the Financial 
Statements. F
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Shares Issued on the Exercise of Options and on the Vesting of SARs 

Options 

No ordinary shares of Santos Limited were issued during the year ended 31 December 2012 on the exercise of 
options granted under the Santos Executive Share Option Plan. No further shares have been issued since then 
on the exercise of options granted under the Santos Executive Share Option Plan. 

Vested SARs 

The following ordinary shares of Santos Limited were issued during the year ended 31 December 2012 on the 
vesting of SARs granted under the Santos Employee Equity Incentive Plan (“SEEIP”) (formerly known as the  
Santos Employee Share Purchase Plan (“SESAP”)) and ShareMatch Plan (“ShareMatch”). No amount is payable 
on the vesting of SARs and accordingly no amounts are unpaid on any of the shares. 

 

Date SARs granted Number of shares issued 

2 March 2009 130,446 

2 March 2009 81,726 

2 March 2010 13,477 

22 November 2010 15,000 

4 January 2011 8,883 

1 March 2011 1,218 

1 March 2011 7,820 

4 July 2011 6,187 

2 July 2012 3,251 

 268,008 

 

Since 31 December 2012, the following ordinary shares of Santos Limited have been issued on the vesting of 
SARs granted under the SEEIP and ShareMatch. 

 

Date SARs granted Number of shares issued 

4 January 2011 1,285 

4 July 2011 750 

4 January 2012 402 

2 July 2012 1,624 

 4,061 

 

 

Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Remuneration 
Details of the Company’s remuneration policies and the nature and amount of the remuneration of the Directors 
and senior management (including shares, options and SARs granted during the financial year) are set out in the 
Remuneration Report commencing on page 10 of this report  and in Notes 30-31 to the Financial Statements. F
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2012 Remuneration Report 
The Directors of Santos Limited present this Remuneration Report for the consolidated entity for the year ended 
31 December 2012.  The information provided in this report  has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (“Corporations Act”) and forms part of the Directors’ Report.  
 
It outlines the Company’s key remuneration activities in 2012 and remuneration information pertaining to the 
Company’s Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director (“CEO”) and Senior Executives who are the 
key management personnel (“KMP”) of the consolidated entity for the purposes of the Corporations Act and the 
Accounting Standards.  

Remuneration at a Glance 

In 2012: 
 

Fixed Remuneration The CEO’s and Senior Executives’ total fixed remuneration (“TFR”) increased by an average of 4.0% 
in this year’s annual remuneration review, slight ly below the rest of the Company’s workforce who 
received 4.9% on average. 

Short-term Incentive 
(“STI”) 

The Company met or exceeded a number of its operational and financial targets, but did not fully 
meet others.  This performance, as assessed by the Board, resulted in an average STI award of 
68% of maximum.   

Long-term Incentive 
(“LTI”) 

The Company’s three year total shareholder return was -15.7% which ranked at the 33 rd percentile 
against the ASX 100.  This failure to achieve superior returns for shareholders resulted in none (0%) 
of the performance-tested Share Acquisition Rights (“SARs”) granted to the CEO and Senior 
Executives vesting. 

LTI program changes As foreshadowed in the 2011 remuneration report, changes in 2012 included: 

> “deferred rights” that is, LTI awards that are subject to a condition consisting only of a period 
of service, were discontinued as part of the regular LTI progra m for Senior Executives.  Unlike 
previous years, the annual LTI grant to the Senior Executives in 2012 was solely performance-
based ensuring alignment with the interests of shareholders.  The CEO grant continued to be 
entirely performance-based; 

> the number of SARs awarded were determined according to their fair value instead of a 
volume weighted average price.  This resulted in a larger number of SARs granted, however 
these SARs are entirely at risk (no deferred rights were offered) and will not vest if the 
Company does not achieve superior shareholder returns. 

2012-2015 Four Year 
Strategy Grant (“CEO 
Strategy Grant”) 

 

In accordance with shareholders’ approval at the May 2012 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), an 
additional long-term equity grant was made to the CEO for the 2012-2015 period.  The grant is 
aligned with long-term growth in shareholder returns as the SARs will only vest if long-term strategic 
targets in relation to production, reserves gr owth, GLNG first cargo delivery, GLNG capital 
expenditure and environment, health and safety are achieved. 

Non-executive 
Directors 

No increases have been made to non-executive Directors’ fees since they were last adjusted in 
October 2011. 

Realised Remuneration 
In keeping with the Company’s practice since 2009, the following table shows the remuneration “actually 
realised” by the CEO and Senior Executives in respect of 2012 performance.  This is in addition and different to 
the disclosures required by the Corporations Act and Accounting Standards, particularly in relation to LTI.  As a 
general principle, the Accounting Standards require a value to be placed on LTI based on probabilistic 
calculations at the time of grant (that is, before the SARs or Options vest and even if ultimately, they do not vest 
because the performance hurdles are not met, as was the case in 2012).  By contrast, this table values the LTI, 
in the case of SARs, only if the SARs vest and shares are issued to the executive, on the basis of their closing 
price on the date of vesting.  In the case of Options, a value is attributed only if the Options vest and are 
exercised resulting in the issue of shares to the executive, calculated on the basis of the difference between the 
exercise price and the market price on the date of exercise of the Options. 
 
The Company believes that the additional information provided in this table is useful to investors as recognised 
by the Productivity Commission in its Report on Executive Remuneration in Australia. The Commission noted that 
the usefulness of remuneration reports to investors was diminished by complexity and omissions and in particular 
recommended that the report should include reporting of pay “actually realised" by the executives named in the 
report. 
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Table 1: Realised Remuneration (non-IFRS)  

  Year 
Fixed 

remuneration1 
STI2 LTI3 Other4 Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

DJW Knox 
Chief Executive Officer and  
Managing Director 

2012 2,351,250 1,598,850 0 0 3,950,100 

2011 2,250,000 1,552,500 0 0 3,802,500 

JH Anderson 
Vice President Western Australia 
and Northern Territory 

2012 642,098 253,100 62,478 0 957,676 

2011 610,301 235,000 0 0 845,301 

JL Baulderstone  
Vice President Eastern Australia 

2012 689,484 250,100 75,804 0 1,015,388 

2011 648,340 235,000 0 0 883,340 

T Brown5 
Vice President Queensland 

2012 639,567 248,200 44,385 6,892 939,044 

2011 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

PJ Cleary 
Vice President Strategy and  
Corporate Development 

2012 652,695 200,800 N/A 0 853,495 

2011 627,000 205,000  N/A 1,400 833,400 

MEJ Eames 
Vice President Asia Pacific 

2012 684,404 203,400 67,020 77,7546 1,032,578 

2011 662,908 215,000 0 0 877,908 

MS Macfarlane7 
President GLNG Operations 

2012 662,964 200,400 62,238 14,804 940,406 

2011 642,185 208,000 0 23,215 873,400 

AJ Seaton 
Chief Financial Officer 

2012 705,500 246,300 59,181 0 1,010,981 

2011 622,500 235,000 0 0 857,500 
 

1 “Fixed Remuneration” comprises base salary and superannuation.
2 “STI” represents the amount of the STI or bonus that will be paid to the executive for 2012 perf ormance.
3 For the value of share-based payments calculated in accordance with the Accounting Standards, see Table 8 on page 20.  The figures in this 

“LTI” column show: 
�x for 2012, the pre-tax vested value of serv ice-based SARs which vested on 2 March 2012 at a closing share price of $13.68; no 2010-2012 

performance SARs vested and no Options were exercised in 2012; and 
�x for 2011, zero values as all KMP elected to receive their 2009-2011 deferred grant as Options, and no Options were exercised in 2011. 
Figures also include the value of an ex gratia payment of $1.31 per vested SAR as an adjustment to the value of unvested SARs at the time of 
the 2009 rights issue, detailed further at note 30 to the Financial Statements.  

4 “Other” comprises ad hoc payments treated as remuneration, such as assignment allowance and foreign service premium. 
5 Mr Brown became a KMP on 6 August 2012 when he was appointed to the role of Vice President Queensland.  Mr Brown was formerly Vice 

President Exploration and Subsurface. Remuneration for the entire year is included here for Mr Brown. 
6 The role of Vice President Asia Pacific was relocated to Santos’ new Singapore office in January 2012. Mr Eames commenced an expatriate 

assignment at this time, and will receive compensatory remuneration including foreign service premium for the duration of his a ssignment.  
The “Other” figure shown above for Mr Eames is the net value of the applicable allowan ces excluding the significant taxation related 
adjustments required due to the overseas assignment. The gross values inclusive of tax are shown in Table 8. Assignment-related payments 
are made in accordance with the standard policy applied to all Santos employees.   

7 Mr Macfarlane ceased to be a KMP on 5 August 2012 when he commenced in the role of Vice President GLNG Operations. Remuneration for 
the entire year is included here for Mr Macfarlane. 

The total remuneration amounts determined in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act are set 
out in Table 8 (see page 20). 

Remuneration Policy and Framework 
The Company’s remuneration practices have been designed to promote long-term growth in shareholder returns 
by: 
> aligning remuneration outcomes with strategic, operational and financial goals; 
> rewarding performance fairly and reasonably; and  
> striking a balance between short-term and long-term gr owth-related objectives, and providing an incentive 

for superior performance without encouraging irresponsible risk taking. 
  F
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The diagram below shows the key objectives of Santos’ remuneration policy for the CEO and Senior Executives 
and how these are implemented through the Company’s remuneration framework. 
 

 

Remuneration Governance 

People and Remuneration Committee 

The People and Remuneration Committee (“Committee”) oversees and formulates recommendations to the Board 
on the remuneration policies and practices of the Company generally, including the remuneration of non-
executive Directors, the CEO and Senior Executives.  
 
The Committee’s Charter can be viewed or downloaded from www.santos.com. In 2012, the Committee 
comprised the following non-executive Directors, including Mr PR Coates, the Chairman of the Board: 
 
GJW Martin Committee Chair  

PR Coates  
RA Franklin (from 15 Feb 2012)  
RM Harding (until 14 Feb 2012)  
JS Hemstritch  
  
The CEO attends parts of Committee meetings that do not involve discussion of his own arrangements. Other 
executives may also attend Committee meetings to provide management support. 
 

External advisors and remuneration advice 

In performing their roles, the Board and the Committee di rectly commission and receive information, advice and 
recommendations from independent external advisors. This assists the Directors to make informed decisions 
when considering the Company’s remuneration policies and practices. 
 
The Board has adopted a protocol to formally record the process for engaging and seeking advice from 
remuneration consultants, which ensures remuneration recommendations in relation to KMP are free from undue 
influence by management.  
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) and Aon Hewitt (“Aon”) were approved by the Committee as remuneration 
consultants and during the year were engaged in accordance with the Board approved protocol to provide 
remuneration recommendations. The terms of PwC and Aon’s engagements were finalised by the Chairman of 
the Committee and all remuneration recommendations were provided directly to the Committee Chairman.  
 
The Board is satisfied that the remuneration recommendations received from PwC and Aon during the year were 
free from undue influence. All communications between the Company and PwC and Aon in relation to the 
remuneration recommendations were subject to strict guidelines, including that information provided to PwC and 
Aon must not be selective or unbalanced, or imply that fu ture work is contingent on PwC or Aon giving particular 
recommendations. In addition, PwC and Aon provided a declaration to the Committee that the remuneration 
recommendations they made were free from any undue influence by the Company’s KMPs. 
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The following table shows the fees payable to PwC and Aon in respect of 2012.  

Table 2: Remuneration consultants  

Remuneration Consultant Advice and/or services provided Fees 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Remuneration recommendations (CEO remuneration) $60,000 

 Other remuneration re lated work (benchmarking and market practice data) $53,000

 Other non-remuneration related work including taxation, assurance 
and consulting fees  

$4,114,000

Aon Hewitt Remuneration recommendations (senior executive remuneration) $40,000 

 Other remuneration re lated work (benchmarking and market practice data) $12,000

 

Link between Performance and Remuneration  

Short-term Incentives (“STI”) 

The Company sets stretch operational and financial targets to be achieved annually. These short-term targets are 
chosen to encourage outcomes and behaviours that support the safe operation and delivery of the base business 
while pursuing long-term growth in shareholder valu e.  Below are the targets used in 2012 to measure 
performance for the purposes of STI and an explanation of the reason they were chosen. 

Table 3: STI scorecard 

Strategic Driver STI Measure Rationale 

Environment, 
Health and 
Safety 

> Personnel Safety - measured by the number of 
injuries per million hours worked and the 
average severity of these injuries. 

> Process Safety - measured by the number of 
Tier 1 incidents of loss of containment of 
hydrocarbons and the level of Safety Critical 
Maintenance performed on plant & equipment. 

> Environmental Incidents – measured by the 
number of environmental incidents of 
moderate or greater consequence. 

The Company takes safety and the environment very 
seriously. The integrated targets represent the 
Company’s holistic approach, the objective being to 
reduce the number of injuries to our employees and 
contractors, as well as the likelihood of low frequency 
but high impact incidents such as fires and 
explosions, and significant environmental incidents. 

Strong safety and environmental performance 
provides the Company with its “licence to operate”. 
The Company strives to maintain a strong track 
record in relation to it s safety and environmental 
performance. 

Profitability  > Production 
> Cost of production 
> Net profit after tax (“NPAT”) 

Production and the cost of production are critical to 
the Company’s profitability, which is a key measure 
of the Company’s performance and underpins annual 
earnings and cash flow for distribution to 
shareholders and re-investment for future growth. 

Corporate 
Sustainability  

> Corporate Sustainability - measured by the 
Company’s performance in an international 
Sustainability Index which covers a variety of 
areas including corporate governance, 
disclosure, environmental performance, risk 
management, human capital development, 
stakeholder engagement and social reporting.  

Corporate Sustainability is integral to the creation of 
long-term shareholder value by ensuring that 
opportunities are captured in an economic, 
environmental and socially responsible manner. 

Growth > Project Delivery - progress against milestones 
in key projects including GLNG, PNG LNG, 
Fletcher Finucane, Gunnedah and other 
opportunities are identified and measured. 

Project delivery underpins future production and 
growth.  In the current climate of rising costs and 
large capital expenditure commitments, it is essential 
that the Company delivers its long term projects on 
time and within budget to achieve future production. 

 > Reserves Replacement - the volume of “proven 
and probable” (2P) reserves added by the 
Company organically (through exploration and 
exploitation efforts as opposed to acquisitions) 
compared to the volume of reserves used in 
production. 

The Company’s ability to replace the reserves it runs 
down in production is critical to the long-term future 
of the Company.   
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Long-term Incentives (“LTI”) 

The Board believes that relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) performance against the ASX 100 effectively 
aligns the interests of individual executives with that of the Company’s shareholders. TSR is a fair measure of 
shareholder returns and the ASX 100 represents the companies in which most of the Company’s shareholders 
would invest as an alternative to Santos.   
 

2012 Performance 

In 2012, the Company met or exceeded a number of its operational and financial targets, but did not meet 
others: fully met injury severity, process safety, environmen t, profitability, reserves and sustainability targets; 
partially met production and project deliverability targets;  and did not meet the injury frequency target.  This 
performance, as assessed by the Board, resulted in an average STI award of 68% of maximum. 
 
The Company’s three-year TSR was -15.7% which ranked at the 33rd percentile against the ASX 100.  This 
resulted in none (0%) of the performance-tested SA Rs granted to the CEO and Senior Executives vesting. 
 
More details about how performance targets are set and tested for the purposes of STI and LTI awards are set 
out in the section “Detailed Information about Linking Company Performance to Incentives” on pages 23-24. 
 
Table 4 sets out the Company’s performance over the past five years in respect of several key financial and non-
financial indicators and the STI and LTI awards during this period. 

Table 4: Key metrics of Company performance 2008-2012  

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Injury Frequency (total recordable case frequency rate) 5.8 3.6 3.3 3.3 5.0 

Production (mmboe) 54.4 54.4 49.9 47.2 52.1 

Reserve replacement rate - 2P organic (%) 517 965 330 173 136 

Net profit after tax $m 1,650 434 498 751 518 

Dividends per ordinary share (cents) 1 42 42 42 30 30 

Share Price – closing price on first trading day of year $14.32 $14.67 $14.29 $13.19 $12.342 

TSR percentile ranking relative to ASX100 –  
three year performance to 31 December 

88th 88th 3 87th  39th  33rd   

LTI performance (% vesting) –  
shown against final year of performance period 

100% 100% 83% 0% 0% 

Average STI paid (% of maximum) 80% 80% 78% 69% 68% 
  

1 The following capital returns were made in the 2008 – 2012 period:
�x On 6 October 2008, the Company bought back 18,487,305 fully paid ordinary shares, representing 3.07% of fully paid shares on issue at 

that date, at a price of $16.23 per share. 
�x On 30 September 2009, the Company redeemed the 6,000,000 Franked Unsecured Equity Listed Securities (“FUELS”) on issue at the price of 

$100 each. 
2 Closing share price at 31 December 2012 was $11.10. 
3 I n respect of the 2007 LTI Grant (with performance period endin g 31 December 2009) Santos’ TSR performance was measured against a  

comparator group of Australian and international energy and produc tion (E&P) companies.  Relative TSR performance against this E&P group is 
shown for 2009. 

 
Over the last 10 years Santos’ TSR performance has exceeded that of the S&P/ASX 100 Index, as shown in 
Figure 1 below. 

Figure 1: 10 year company performance history 
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CEO Remuneration  

The non-executive Directors directly engaged and received independent external advice on Mr Knox’s 
remuneration package, which is benchmarked against the remuneration paid to CEOs of ASX 100 companies with 
a market capitalisation of 50% to 200% of  Santos’ market capitalisation, as well as an industry peer group.  This 
advice was received and considered by the Committee and the Board without management being present.   
 

Overview of earnings 

Fixed Remuneration  

What was the increase in the 
CEO’s fixed remuneration? 

Mr Knox’s TFR, including base salary and superannuation, was increased from $2,250,000 
to $2,351,250 in 2012.   

How was the remuneration 
increase determined? 

This increase was determined by the Board in consideration of Mr Knox’s performance, the 
performance of Santos and the remuneration provided to CEOs of companies in the market 
comparator groups outlined above. 

Short-term Incentives  

What is the maximum STI that 
the CEO can receive? 

Mr Knox has a maximum potential STI opportunity of 100% of his TFR, sub ject to delivery 
of strategic milestones and performance targets set by the Board (detailed in the section 
“Detailed Information about Linking Company Performance to Incentives” on pages 23-24.  
For 2012, this was a maximum value of $2,351,250. 

How much STI will the CEO 
receive in respect of 2012 
performance? 

The Board has determined that $1,598,850, or 68% of the maximum STI payable, will be 
paid to Mr Knox for 2012 performance.  This reflects the reco mmendation from the 
Committee after reviewing the Company’s performance in 2012. 

How is overall performance 
assessed for STI purposes? 

Whilst the Board ultimately retains the discretion to take other factors into account, 
Mr Knox’s performance is effectively assessed against the Company scorecard (see Table 3 
on page 13 and the section “Detailed Information about Linking Company Performance to 
Incentives” on pages 23-24). Mr Knox’s interests are therefore aligned with the Company’s 
and shareholders’ interests. 

Long-term Incentives  

How much annual LTI was 
granted to the CEO in 2012? 

In relation to the annual LTI grant, Mr Knox was granted 193,935 SARs with a face value 
of $2,750,000, as approved by shareholders at the 2011 AGM.  

This grant was issued on the terms of the annual LTI program outlined in the section 
“Detailed Information about Linking Company Performance to Incentives” on pages 23-24. 

Mr Knox also received the CEO Strategy Grant as detailed below.  

What proportion of prior year 
LTI grants vested in 2012?  

The CEO’s annual LTI grant for 2009 with a performa nce period 1 January 2009 to 
31 December 2011 was tested in early 2012. As the performance hurdle was not achieved, 
there was no vesting and the entire grant was forfeited.  

The testing of the 2010 LTI grant with a performance period 1 January 2010 to 
31 December 2012 occurred in early 2013. As the performance hurdle was not achieved, 
again there was no vesting and the entire grant was forfeited. 

What was the size of the CEO 
Strategy Grant? 

Shareholders approved the grant of SARs with a fair value of $2,000,000 at the 2012 AGM. 
This resulted in 205,339 SARs being granted to the CEO.  These SARs are at risk and will 
not vest if the strategic performance goals are not achieved. 

What are the performance 
conditions for the CEO Strategy 
Grant? 

Vesting is subject to achievement of specific goals that are integral to the Company’s 
performance over the next four years. As described more fully in the Notice of Meeting to 
the 2012 AGM, the award is split into five equal tranches with separate performance 
targets that relate to: 

> GLNG Start-Up – loading of first LNG cargo on or before 30 June 2015; 
> GLNG Cost – project cost within or under budget;  
> Production Growth – targeting 77 mmboe or more by 31 December 2015; 
> Reserves Growth – targeting 2P reserve/production cover of 18 years or more at 

31 December 2015; and 
> Operations Integrity – maintaining an annua l score of 90% or more against various 

environmental, health and safety metrics while ensuring no High Impact or Critical 
Environment incidents occur over the 2012-2015 period. 

Where targets are not fully achieved the Board has discretion to determine an appropriate 
level of pro rata vesting.  For example, if the first LNG cargo target of 30 June 2015 is 
missed by a few months, it will be reasonable for the CEO to receive an appropriate 
proportion. But, if the target was missed by a year, for example, it is likely that the CEO 
would get zero for that tranche.  The Board intends to only reward performance that is 
consistent with shareholder expectations and reserves the right to lapse all of a tranche if 
performance does not meet or exceed the relevant target.  
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At risk remuneration 

A higher proportion of the CEO’s total package is “at risk” relative to other Senior Executives because he has the 
greatest scope to personally influence the Company’s performance.  In 2012, this weighting further increased 
reflecting the addition of the CEO Strategy Grant. 

Table 5: Relative weightings of remuneration components for CEO1 

 Fixed Remuneration STI LTI 

2012 25% 25% 50% 

2011 33% 33% 33% 
  

1 These figures do not reflect the actual relative va lue derived by the CEO from each of the components, which is dependent on actual 
performance against targets for the “at ri sk” components. The figures represent the maximum potential of each component 

 

Service agreement and termination entitlements 

The Company entered into a service agreement with the CEO on 28 July 2008 which is ongoing until termination 
by the CEO or the Company.  
 
The service agreement provides that the Company may terminate the CEO’s employment on giving 12 months’ 
notice. Where the Company exercises this general right to terminate, it must make a payment to the CEO 
equivalent to his TFR for the full notice period. Pro-rata STI entitlements, subject to performance, will apply to 
the date of termination and the Board retains discreti on to vest any outstanding LTI, having regard to 
performance and reasons for termination. 
 
The Company may terminate the CEO’s employment without notice at any time for cause. No payment in lieu of 
notice, or any payment in respect of STI or LTI is payable under the agreement in this circumstance. 
 
Mr Knox may initiate termination of his service agreement by giving the Company six months’ notice, in which 
case he will be entitled to payment of TFR in respect of the notice period, and pro-rata STI to the date of 
termination, subject to performance. The Board retains discretion to vest any outstanding LTI, having regard to 
performance and reasons for termination. Mr Knox may also initiate termination of his service agreement 
immediately if there is a fundamental change in his role  or responsibilities without his consent. In this 
circumstance the service agreement provides for payment of 12 months’ TFR, full STI for the year in which 
employment is terminated, and a pro rata portion of  the following year’s STI, subject to current year 
performance. Pro-rata vesting of outstanding LTI will a pply, based on the expired portion of the performance 
period and performance achieved to the termination date.  
 
Mr Knox’s termination arrangements were approved at the Company’s AGM in May 2012. 
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Senior Executive Remuneration  

Overview of earnings 

Fixed Remuneration  

What was the fixed 
remuneration increase for 
Senior Executives in 2012? 

As a result of market benchmarking, the annual TFR review increase for Senior Executives was 
between 3.0% and 5.0% in 2012, with an average increase of 3.8%. Remuneration details for 
each individual are provided in Table 8. 

How were remuneration 
increases determined? 

Senior Executives’ TFR increases were determined with refere nce to the market for similar 
roles in comparable companies and in consideration of individuals’ skills and experience. 
 

Short-term Incentives  

What is the maximum STI that 
the Senior Executives can 
receive? 

All Senior Executives have a maximum potential STI opportunity of 50% of their TFR.  

How are STI payments 
calculated? 

To promote collaboration among Senior Executives and to focus their efforts towards the 
overall benefit of the Company, 70% of thei r STI is based on Company performance. The 
remaining 30% is based on their individual performance. 

How is performance assessed 
for STI purposes? 

Company performance is assessed by the Committee against the overall Company annual 
scorecard (see Table 3 on page 13 and the section “Detailed Information about Linking 
Company Performance to Incentives” on page 23).  

The individual performance of Senior Executives is assessed by the CEO by considering 
progress against targets set within each executive's own area of responsibility, for example the 
delivery of key project milestones for those Senior Executives with responsibility for growth 
LNG businesses, and production and cost targets for those managing operating assets.  

How much STI will Senior 
Executives receive in respect of 
2012 performance? 

Company performance against the measures in 2012 resulted in an average STI of 68% of 
maximum payable to all eligible employees. 

2012 STI awards made to individual Senior Executives range from 59% to 78% of maximum, 
depending on individual performance assessments (see Table 8 on page 20). The CEO’s 
proposed STI payments for Senior Executives are reviewed and endorsed by the Committee. 

The difference between actual STI paid and maximum STI will not be carried forward. 

Long-term Incentives  

How much annual LTI was 
granted in 2012? 

All Senior Executives have a maximum LTI value of 60% of their TFR.  This is an increase from 
the 2011 LTI opportunity when the maximum LTI value was 52.5% of TFR.  

Why were annual LTI grants 
increased? 

In 2011, the Board engaged PwC to conduct a review of the Company’s Senior Executive 
incentive arrangements.  The results identified that Senior Executives’ maximum LTI values 
were significantly lower than market competit ors and, unlike typical market practice, SARs 
were allocated based on “face value” not a “fai r value” which further reduced the true value 
from an executive’s perspective because it did not take into consideration the probability of the 
SAR vesting. 

The Board determined that to be more market competitive, it was appropriate to increase the 
allocation of LTI for Senior Executives and apply “fair value” in determining grant size.   

The increased “at risk” LTI with a long-ter m performance focus further aligns Senior 
Executives’ interests with those of shareholders, without increasing fixed remuneration. Whilst 
the number of LTI instruments granted has increased, they remain at risk and will not vest if 
superior shareholder returns are not delivered, as was the case in 2011 and 2012. This 
increase was coupled with the removal of deferred rights which had previously been granted 
subject to an executive’s continuous service only. 

Were any “deferred rights” 
issued to Senior Executives in 
2012? 

“Deferred rights” that is, LTI awards that are sub ject to a condition consisting only of a period 
of service and which were awarded to encourage retention, are no longer granted as part of 
the regular LTI program.  Annual LTI grants to the Senior Executives are now solely 
performance-based. F
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What are the applicable 
performance conditions? 

The 2012 LTI grant has a performance period from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014, with 
vesting based on the Company’s TSR performance relative to the ASX 100.  See the vesting 
schedule provided in the section “Detailed Information about Linking Company Performance to 
Incentives” on pages 23-24. 

What proportion of prior year  
LTI grants vested in 2012?  

The annual LTI grant from 2009 with a performa nce period 1 January 2009 to 
31 December 2011 was tested in early 2012. As the performance hurdle was not achieved, 
there was no vesting of the performance component of the grant, and this was forfeited. 

The testing of the 2010 LTI grant with a performance period 1 January 2010 to 
31 December 2012 occurred in early 2013. As the performance hurdle was not achieved, again 
there was no vesting of the performance port ion of the grant and this was forfeited. 

Grants of deferred rights awarded in 2009 vested in 2 March 2012 and are shown in Tables 1, 
8 and 10 on pages 11, 20 and 21 respectively. 

 
At risk remuneration 

In 2012, the “at risk” portion of the remuneration of Senio r Executives increased, reflecting the larger LTI grant 
outlined above.  

Table 6: Relative weightings of remuneration components for Senior Executives1 

 Fixed Remuneration STI LTI 

2012 47.5% 24% 28.5% 

2011 49% 25% 26% 
  
1 These figures do not reflect the actual relative value derived by the Senior Executives from each of the components, which is dependent 

on actual performance against targets for the “at risk” components. The figures represent  the maximum potential of each component. 

 

Service agreements and termination entitlements 

The Company has entered into service agreements with the Senior Executives.  The service agreements are 
ongoing until termination by the Company upon giving 12 months’ notice or by the Senior Executive upon giving 
six months’ notice. In a Company-initiated termination , the Company may make a payment in lieu of notice 
equivalent to the TFR the executive would have received over the notice period. All Senior Executives’ service 
agreements may be terminated immediately for cause, whereupon no payments in lieu of notice or other 
termination payments are payable under the agreement.  
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Non-executive Director Remuneration  

Remuneration policy 

The diagram below shows the key objectives of Santos’ non-executive Director remuneration policy and how 
these are implemented through the Company’s remuneration framework. 

 
 

Maximum aggregate amount 

Total non-executive Directors’ fees paid in a year, including Board Committee fees, must not exceed $2,100,000 
being the amount that was approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 2 May 2008. Directors may also be 
paid additional fees for special duties or exertions, and are entitled to be reimbu rsed for all business-related 
expenses. These payments are not included in the maximum aggregate amount approved by shareholders. No 
additional fees were paid during the year. 
 

Remuneration  

Non-executive Directors’ fees were last adjusted on 1 October 2011.  No increases to gross non-executive 
Directors’ fees were made in 2012.  Remuneration details for the non-executive Directors are provided at 
Table 12 on page 22. 
 

Fee structure 

Table 7: Non-executive Directors’ fees per annum1 

 Chair2 Member 

Board $480,030 $160,030 

Audit Committee $42,000 $21,000 

Environment, Health, Safety and Sustainability Committee $22,000 $15,000 

Finance Committee $22,000 $15,000 

Nomination Committee2 N/A $10,000 

People and Remuneration Committee $30,000 $16,000 
 

1 Fees are shown exclusive of superannuation. 
2 The Chairman of the Board does not receive any additional fees for serving on or chairing any Board committee.  The Chairman of the Board is 

the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, in accordance with its Charter. 

 

Superannuation and retirement benefits 

Superannuation contributions are made on behalf of non-executive Directors in accordance with the requirements 
of the Company’s statutory superannuation obligations.  Non-executive Directors are not entitled to retirement 
benefits (other than mandatory statutory entitlements). 
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Detailed Remuneration Information 
Table 8 presents summarised details of the remuneration for the CEO and Senior Executives in 2011 and 2012 as required under the Corporations Act.  
Table 8: 2011 and 2012 Senior Executive remuneration details 

  

1 In accordance with the requirements of the Accountin g Standards, remuneration includes a proportion of the value of the equity -linked compensation determined as at the grant date and progressively expensed over the vesting period.  
The amount allocated as remuneration is not relative to or indi cative of the actual benefit (if any) that the Senior Executives may ultimately realise should the equity instrument s vest.  The value of equity-linked compensation was 
determined in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payments applying the Monte Carlo simulation method. Details of the assumptions underlying the valuation are set out in note 30 to the Financial Statements. 

2 “Share-based payments” consists of SARs, Options and a cash settled component as a consequence of the rights issue in May 2009.  The cash settled amount only becomes payable on conversion of applicable SARs and Options to shares.  
This is further discussed in note 30 to the Financial Statements. 

3 This amount represents the STI performance award for 2012 which will be paid in March 2013.
4 “Other long-term benefit s” represents the movement in the Senior Executive's long service leave entitlements measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of the Senior Executive's service 

between the respective reporting dates. 
5 Mr Knox’s share-based payment values for 2012 represent the combined fair value of the CEO’s 2012 LTI grant and the CEO Strategy Grant, determined in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payments. The fair value per instrument as at 

grant date of 10 April 2012 and 21 June 2012, respectively, was $10.45 and $10.57. Further details are provided in note 30 to t he Financial Statements. 
6 Mr Brown became a KMP on appointment to the role Vice President Queensland, effective 6 August 2012 and figures shown are from this date to 31 December 2012.  
7 Mr Eames became eligible for expatriate benefits, includin g Foreign Service Premium, as a result of his international assignment to Singapore when the position of Vice President Asia Pacific was relocated in January 2012 (reflected as 

"Other" short-term employee benefits). Assignment-related payments are made in accordance with the standard policy applied to a ll Santos employees, and include significant taxation related adjustments. 
8 Mr Macfarlane ceased to be a KMP on 5 August 2012 when he commenced in the role of Vice President GLNG Operations. Figures shown for 2012 are for the period 1 January 2012 to 5 Au gust 2012. Figures shown for 2011 are for the 

period 20 May 2011 to 31 December 2011 while Mr Macfarlane was in a KMP role. 

Short-term employee benefits 
Post-

employment Share-based payments1,2 

  
Termination 

Other long 
term 

benefits 
(long 

service)4 Total 
% Total 
“at risk” 

% Total 
in SARs 

and 
options     Base salary STI3 Other 

Superannuation 
contributions SARs Options 

Cash 
based 

Total 
share-based 

payments 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $   

D J Knox 2012 2,335,128 1,598,850 - 16,122 1,783,865 119,358 15,660 1,918,8835 - 67,690 5,936,673 59% 32% 

  2011 2,234,513 1,552,500 - 15,487 842,402 283,793 41,768 1,167,963 - 60,399 5,030,862 54% 22% 

J H Anderson 2012 625,976 253,100 - 16,122 292,987 - 527 293,514 - 9,335 1,198,047 46% 24% 

  2011 594,814 235,000 - 15,487 207,671 8,180 4,888 220,739 - 29,973 1,096,013 42% 20% 

J L Baulderstone 2012 673,362 250,100 - 16,122 386,547 - 640 387,187 - 22,743 1,349,514 47% 29% 

  2011 632,853 235,000 - 15,487 295,981 7,487 5,139 308,607 - 17,635 1,209,582 45% 25% 

T J Brown6 2012 267,967 100,365 6,892 6,641 110,636 - - 110,636 - 4,056 496,557 42% 22% 

  2011 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a  n/a   n/a  

PJ Cleary 2012 636,573 200,800 - 16,122 270,769 - - 270,769 - 10,752 1,135,016 42% 24% 

  2011 601,059 205,000 1,400 25,941 129,595 - - 129,595   10,670 973,665 34% 13% 

M E Eames7 2012 668,282 203,400 193,166 16,122 311,893 - 566 312,459 - 12,207 1,405,636 37% 22% 

  2011 647,421 215,000 - 15,487 226,535 9,640 5,595 241,770 - 31,522 1,151,200 40% 21% 

M S Macfarlane8 2012 384,134 119,364 8,835 9,481 201,192 - 525 201,717 - 8,146 731,677 44% 27% 

  2011 389,220 128,789 9,084 9,615 155,481 - 2,310 157,791 - 22,046 716,545 40% 22% 

A J Seaton 2012 689,378 246,300 - 16,122 275,808 - 988 276,796 - 27,889 1,256,485 42% 22% 

  2011 607,013 235,000 - 15,487 172,187 - 5,218 177,405 - 39,773 1,074,678 38% 16% 
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Table 9 contains details of the number and value of SARs and Options granted, vested and lapsed for  
Mr Knox in 2012.  

Table 9: 2012 SARs and Options outcomes for CEO   
  Granted  Vested  Lapsed 

Number1 Maximum Value2 Number Value Number Value 

SARs3 399,274 $4,197,054 - - (50,403) ($625,501) 

Options4 - - - - (131,976) ($999,058) 
 

1 The SARs granted to Mr Knox during the year constitute his full LTI awards for the 2012 financial year, in respect of both h is standard LTI grant 
and the CEO Strategy Grant.   

2 Maximum value represents the combined fair value of the CEO’s 2012 LTI grant and the CEO Strategy Grant, determined in accordance with AASB 
2 Share-based Payments. The fair value per instrument as at grant date of 10 April 2012 and 21 June 2012, respectively, was $10.45 and $10.57. 
Details of the assumptions underlying the valuations are set out in note 30 to the Financial Statements. The minimum total valu e of the grant, if the 
applicable vesting conditions are not met, is nil in all cases. 

3 No SARs vested in respect of the performance period ended 31 December 2012, and consequently all were lapsed by the Board on  
20 February 2013. The value of lapsed SARs is based on the closing share price at the end of the performance period of $11.10 p lus the value of a 
forfeited ex gratia payment of $1.31 per SAR as an adjustment to  the value of unvested SARs at the time of the 2009 rights issu e, detailed further 
at note 30 to the Financial Statements. 

4 No Options vested in respect of the performance period ended 31 December 2012 and consequently all were lapsed by the Board on 
20 February 2013.  The value of Options shown is based on the difference between the closing share price of $11.10 on the date of the end of the 
performance period and the exercise price of $17.36, plus the value of the forfeited ex gratia payment of $1.31 per vested Option as an adjustment 
to the value of unvested Options at the time of the 2009 rights issue, detailed further at note 30 to the Financial Statements.   

 

Table 10 contains details of the number and value of SARs received by Senior Executives in 2012.  No Senior 
Executives had any Options granted, vested or lapsed in 2012.  No Options were exercised in 2012. 

Table 10: 2012 SARs outcomes for Senior Executives  

   Granted SARs  Vested SARs  Lapsed SARs 

Number1 Maximum Value2 Number Value3 Number Value3 

JH Anderson 40,274 $401,532 4,168 $62,478 (13,359) ($165,785) 

JL Baulderstone 42,737 $426,088 5,057 $75,804 (13,450) ($166,915) 

TJ Brown4 - - - - - - 

PJ Cleary 40,843 $407,205 - - - - 

MEJ Eames 42,777 $426,487 4,471 $67,020 (15,744) ($195,383) 

MS Macfarlane4 41,447 $413,227 4,152 $62,238 (13,481) ($167,299) 

AJ Seaton 44,302 $441,691 3,948 $59,181 (5,982) ($74,237) 

Total  252,380 $2,516,230 21,796 $326,721 (62,016)  ($769,619)  
 

  
1 The grants made to the Senior Executives during the year constitute their full LTI awards for the 2012 financial year.   
2 Maximum value represents the fair value of the SARs as at the grant date of 10 April 2012, determined in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based 

Payments. The fair value per instrument at the grant date was $9.97. Monte Carlo simulation was used to determine the value of the SARs 
granted. Details of the assumptions underlying the valuation are set out in note 30 to  the Financial Statements. The minimum total value of the 
grant, if the applicable vesting conditions are not met, is nil in all cases. 

3 These figures show the value of performance-based SARs in respect of the performance period ended 31 December 2012 at the closing share 
price on that date of $ 11.10, for which nil vesting was effected by the Boar d on 20 February 2013, plus service-based SARs which vested on 
2 March 2012 at a closing share price of $13.68. These figures also include the value of an ex gratia payment of $1.31 per SAR as an adjustment 
to the value of unvested SARs at the time of the 2009 rights issue, detailed further at note 30 to the Financial Statements.   

4 Remuneration disclosed for Mr Brown is for the period from 6 August 2012 when he became a KMP and for Mr Macfarlane for the period until 
5 August 2012 after which time he ceased to be a KMP. 
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Table 11 outlines the LTI grants that were still in progress or were tested during 2012. 

Table 11:  LTI grants to Senior Executives  

Grant 
year 

Grant type Vesting condition(s) 
Performance/vesting 

period 
Status 

2009 Performance Award Relative TSR performance 
against ASX 100 
companies 

1 January 2009 to  
31 December 2011 

Testing completed.  Resulted in 
0% of the grant vesting on 
15 February 2012. 

Deferred Award Continuous service 2 March 2009 to  
1 March 2012 

Vested in full to Senior Executives 
who met the continuous service 
condition. 

2010 Performance Award Relative TSR performance 
against ASX 100 
companies 

1 January 2010 to  
31 December 2012 

Testing completed.  Resulted in 
0% of the grant vesting on  
20 February 2013. 

Deferred Award Continuous service 2 March 2010 to 
1 March 2013 

In progress. 

2011 Performance Award Relative TSR performance 
against ASX 100 
companies 

1 January 2011 to  
31 December 2013 

In progress. 

Deferred Award Continuous service 2 March 2011 to  
1 March 2014 

In progress. 

2012 Performance Award Relative TSR performance 
against ASX 100 
companies 

1 January 2012 to  
31 December 2014 

In progress. 

  
1 Full details of all grants made prior to 2012 can be found in at note 30  to the Financial Statements and in prior remunerati on reports.  

 
Details of the fees and other benefits paid to non-execut ive Directors during 2012 are set out in Table 12 below. 
No share-based payments were made to any non-executive Directors. 

Table 12: 2011 and 2012 non-executive Director remuneration details 

  Short-term benefits 
Retirement 

benefits Share-
based 

payments 
Total 

Director Year 
Directors'  fees 

(incl. Committee 
Fees)1 

Fees for special 
duties or 
exertions 

Other Superannuation1 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

KC Borda  2012 192,551 - - 16,123 - 208,674 

2011 186,369 - - 15,487 - 201,856 

PR Coates 2012 480,551 - - 16,123 - 496,674 

 2011 462,744 - - 15,487 - 478,231 

KA Dean 2012 217,551 - - 16,123 - 233,674 

 2011 209,869 - - 15,487 - 225,356 

RA Franklin 2012 204,299 - - 1,212 - 205,511 

 2011 184,119 - - 736 - 184,855 

H Goh2 2012 34,105 - - 134 - 34,239 

 2011 - - - - - - 

RM Harding 2012 215,518 - - 16,123 - 231,641 

 2011 221,869 - - 15,487 - 237,356 

JS Hemstritch 2012 197,551 - - 16,123 - 213,674 

2011 189,869 - - 15,487 - 205,356 

GJW Martin 2012 205,551 - - 16,123 - 221,674 

 2011 193,369 - - 15,487 - 208,856 
  

1 Includes superannuation guarantee payments. Superannuation guarantee payments are made to Mr Franklin and Mr Goh only in relation to days 
worked in Australia.  

2 Mr Goh was appointed on 22 October 2012. 
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Detailed Information about Linking Company Performance to Incentives 

Short-term incentives  

How are the Company’s short-
term performance targets 
determined? 

The Company’s short-term performance targets comprise a combination of strategic, 
financial and operational targets, all of which are agreed with the Board and directly 
related to Santos’ strategic plan. These are captured in the Company’s annual performance 
scorecard. 

What is measured in the 
Company’s annual performance 
scorecard? 

 

The Company scorecard includes a range of Company performance measures used to drive 
balanced business performance. These measures include lagging indicators to assess the 
Company’s past performance, as well as forward-looking indicators to ensure the Company 
is positioning itself effectively for future growth.  

As described in Table 3 on page 13, the areas covered by the scorecard include: 

> Environment, health and safety  
> Profitability, including production, cost of production and NPAT 
> Corporate sustainability 
> Growth, including project delivery and reserves replacement 

The Board believes that this scorecard is balanced and focusses CEO and Senior Executive 
attention on achieving the key conditions and milestones necessary to deliver Santos’ 
strategic plan. 

How is Company performance 
assessed? 

Company performance is formally assessed by the Committee against the overall Company 
scorecard at the end of each financial year and this forms the basis of a recommendation 
to the Board.  

Each metric is assessed against an agreed target and assigned a percentage weighting of 
the total scorecard. The actual versus target performance of each metric is assigned a 
score between 0% and 100%.  The weightings are then applied to these scores to derive a 
rating for that metric.  The sum of each metric’s rating is used to determine the Company’s 
overall performance score.  

The Board believes the above method of assessment is rigorous and provides a balanced 
assessment of the Company’s performance.   

How does Company 
performance impact the STI 
program? 

Firstly, the Company’s overall performance score sets the actual budget available for STI 
allocations across the organisation in respect of that performance year. This is calculated 
by applying the percentage performance score to the maximum potential STIs of all eligible 
employees. 

Secondly, the Company’s overall performance score contributes to the actual STI payment 
made to individuals in a given year.  For the CEO, this Company performance outcome is 
the sole input for determining STI payment.  For Senior Executives, the Company 
performance outcome determines 70% of their STI payment.  The other 30% is 
determined through their individual performance assessment.  

 

 
Long-term incentives  

How are long-term incentives 
linked to Company 
performance? 

 

LTI aligns the rewards received by the CEO and Senior Executives with the longer term 
performance of Santos relative to other ASX 100 companies.  Recipients also have the 
opportunity to grow the long-term value of their LTI by delivering results for the Company 
that increase the share price.  

All 2012 LTI grants are now solely performance-based, ensuring further alignment with the 
interests of shareholders. 

How is LTI awarded? All LTI grants are delivered in the form of SARs, i.e. a conditional entitlement to a fully paid 
ordinary share at zero price, subject to sati sfaction of the performance condition. Nothing 
is payable by executives if and when SARs vest. For LTI awards granted in 2012, the Board 
has discretion to settle SARs in cash. 

What is the performance 
period? 

SARs issued under the annual LTI program for 2012 have a three year performance period 
from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014. This period has been chosen as an appropriate 
balance between providing a genuine and foreseeable incentive to Senior Executives and 
fostering a long-term view of shareholder interests.  

What performance hurdles are 
applied to the LTI? 

Vesting of the 2012 grant is based on the Company’s relative TSR against ASX 100 
companies as at 1 January 2012. The Board has discretion to adjust the comparator group, 
for instance to take account of takeovers, mergers and demergers that occur during the 
performance period. Relative TSR performance is tested by an independent third party and 
reviewed by the Board prior to vesting.   
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Why has relative TSR been 
chosen as the company’s LTI 
performance hurdle? 

The Board believes that relative TSR effectively aligns the interests of individual executives 
with that of the Company’s shareholders, as TSR is a fair measure of shareholder returns, 
and the ASX 100 represents the companies in which most of the Company’s shareholders 
could invest as an alternative to Santos. 

How is vesting determined? Vesting will be in accordance with the followin g schedule:

TSR percentile ranking % of grant vesting 

<50 th percentile 0% 

=50 th percentile 50% 

51st to 74 th percentile Further 2% for each 
percentile improvement 
above the 50th percentile 

75th to 100 th percentile 100% 

This vesting scale is applied consistently to both the CEO and Senior Executives’ annual LTI 
grants.  

There is no re-testing of the performance condit ion. SARs that do not vest upon testing of 
the performance condition will lapse. 

When can vested SARs be 
traded? 

Upon vesting of SARs, shares will automatically be allocated to the executive. Shares will 
be allocated without restrictions unless the executive has elected an extended restriction 
period. Restricted shares cannot be traded until the earlier of five/seven years from the 
grant date (depending on the period elected by  the executive) or cessation of employment, 
whichever is earlier.  

��
��
��
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Indemnification 
Rule 61 of the Company’s Constitution provides that the Company indemnifies, on a full indemnity basis and to 
the full extent permitted by law, officers of the Company f or all losses or liabilities incurred by the person as an 
officer of the Company, a related body corporate or trustee of a company -sponsored superannuation fund. Rule 
61 does not indemnify an officer for any liability involving a lack of good faith.  
 
Rule 61 also permits the Company to purchase and maintain a Directors’ and Officers’ insurance policy. No 
indemnity has been granted to an auditor of the Company in their  capacity as auditor of the Company. 
 
In conformity with Rule 61, the Company is party to Deeds of Indemnity in favour o f each of the Directors 
referred to in this report who he ld office during the year and certain senior executives of the consolidated entity . 
The indemnities operate to the full extent permitted by law and ar e not subject to a monetary limit. Santos is not 
aware of any liability having arisen, and no claims have been made, during or since the financial year ending 
31 December 2012 under the Deeds of Indemnity.  
 
During the year, the Company paid premiums in respect of Directors' and Officers' Liability and Legal Expenses 
insurance contracts for the year ended 31 December 2012 and since the end of the year the Company has paid, 
or agreed to pay, premiums in respect of such contracts for the year ending 31 December 2013. The insurance 
contracts insure against certain liability (subject to exclusions)  persons who are or have been directors or officers 
of the Company and its controlled entities. A condition of the c ontracts is that the nature of the liability 
indemnified and the premium payable not be disclosed. 

Non-Audit Services 
During the year the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, was paid the following amounts in relation to non -audit 
services it provided: 
 
Taxation services $89,000 
Assurance services $541,000 
Other services $9,000 
 
The Directors are satisfied, based on the advice of the audit committee, that the provision of the non -audit 
services detailed above by Ernst & Young is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act.  
 
The reason for forming this opinion is that all non -audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to 
ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity o f the auditor.  
 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act is set 
out on page 26. 

Rounding 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, applies to the 
Company. Accordingly, amounts have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order, unless otherwise 
indicated. 

 
This report is made out on 22 February 2013 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director  Director  
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislat ion 

 

Auditor's Independence Declarat ion to the Directors of Santos Limited  

In relation to our audit of the financial report  of Santos Limited for the year ended 31 December 2012, to 
the best  of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contravent ions of the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporat ions Act 2001  or any applicable code of professional conduct . 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 

 

 

T S Hammond 
Partner 
Adelaide  
22 February 201 3 
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Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 

The consolidated income statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated f inancial statements. 
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  2012 2011 
 Note $million  $million 

Product sales 3 3,220 2,721 

Cost of sales 4 (2,089) (1,737) 

Gross profit   1,131 984 

Other revenue 3 79 82 

Other income 3 16 545 

Other expenses 4 (390) (411) 

Finance income 5 138 190 

Finance costs 5 (59) (99) 

Share of net losses of an associate 26 – (9) 

Profit before tax   915 1,282 

Income tax expense 6 (322) (440) 

Royalty-related taxation expense 6 (75) (91) 

Total taxation expense  (397) (531) 

Net profit for the period   518 751 

    

Net profit / ( loss)  attributable to:     

Owners of Santos Limited   519 753 

Non -controlling interests   (1) (2) 

  518 751 

    

Earnings per share attributable to the equity holde rs of Santos 
Limited (¢)     

Basic earnings per share 23 54.4 84.8 

Diluted earnings per share 23 54.1 84.4 

    

Dividends per share ($)     

Paid during the period 22 0.30 0.30 

Declared in respect of the period 22 0.30 0.30 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 

 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated f inancial statements. 
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  2012 2011 
 Note $million  $million 

Net profit  for the period   518 751 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:     

Exchange (loss)/gain on translation of foreign operations  (89) 6 

Tax effect 6 (12) – 

 21 (101) 6 

Gain/(loss) on foreign currency loans designated as hedges of net 
investments in foreign operations  46 (20) 

Tax effect 6 (14) 6 

 21 32 (14) 

Impairment of available -for-sale financial assets reclassified to the 
income statement  – 4 

Tax effect 6 – (1) 

 21 – 3 

Gain/(loss) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  11 (23) 

Tax effect 6 (3) 7 

 21 8 (16) 

Actuarial gain/( loss) on the defined benefit plan  29 2 (14) 

Tax effect 6 (1) 4 

 21 1 (10) 

Other comprehensive  loss , net of tax   (60)  (31) 

Total comprehensive income   458 720 

Total comprehensive income / ( loss)  attributable to:     

Owners of Santos Limited   459 722 

Non -controlling interests   (1) (2) 

  458 720 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2012 

 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated f inancial statements. 
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  2012 2011 
 Note $million  $million 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,151 3,332 

Trade and other receivables 8 514 899 

Prepayments  263 200 

Inventories 9 321 283 

Other financial assets 10 3 6 

Tax receivable  6 24 

Total current assets   3,258 4,744 

Non -current assets     

Receivables 8 17 25 

Prepayments  30 16 

Other financial assets 10 254 192 

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 1,510 1,386 

Oil and gas assets 12 11,675 9,068 

Other land, buildings, plant and equipment  13 268 241 

Deferred tax assets 15 23 142 

Total non -current assets   13,777 11,070 

Total assets   17,035 15,814 

Current liabilit ies     

Trade and other payables 16 950 1,005 

Deferred income  48 60 

Interest -bearing loans and borrowings 17 15 169 

Current tax liabilities  121 109 

Provisions 18 173 135 

Other financial liabilities 19 4 2 

Total current liabilit ies   1,311 1,480 

Non -current liabilit ies     

Deferred income  45 47 

Interest -bearing loans and borrowings 17 3,689 3,092 

Deferred tax liabilities 15 934 977 

Provisions 18 1,652 1,173 

Other financial liabilities 19 39 82 

Total non -current liabilit ies   6,359 5,371 

Total liabilit ies   7,670 6,851 

Net assets   9,365 8,963 

Equity     

Issued capital 20 6,608 6,392 

Reserves 21 (412) (351) 

Retained earnings 21 3,174 2,926 

Equity attributable to owners of  Santos Limited  9,370 8,967 

Non-controlling interests  (5)  (4) 

Total equity   9,365 8,963 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 

 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated f inancial statements. 
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  2012 2011 
 Note $million  $million 

Cash flows from operating activit ies     
Receipts from customers  3,364 2,876 
Interest received  155 208 
Overriding royalties received  10 9 
Insurance proceeds received  1 – 
Pipeline tariffs and other receipts  87 149 
Income taxes refunded  26 43 
Royalty-related taxation refunded  2 14 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,554) (1,387) 
Exploration and evaluation – seismic and studies  (131) (113) 
Royalty and excise paid  (85) (48) 
Borrowing costs paid  (19) (81) 
Income taxes paid  (50) (243) 
Overriding royalty costs  (4) (3) 
Royalty-related taxation paid  (144) (171) 

Net cash provided by operating activit ies  28 1,658 1,253 

Cash flows from investing activit ies     
Payments for:    
Exploration and evaluation assets  (200) (171) 
Oil and gas assets  (2,767) (2,583) 
Other land, buildings, plant and equipment   (60) (48) 
Acquisitions of exploration and evaluation assets  (68) – 
Acquisitions of oil and gas assets  (52) (18) 
Acquisition of controlled entities, net of cash received  – 3 
Restoration  (31) (42) 

Receipts from loans to related entities  3 3 
Proceeds from:     
Disposal of exploration and evaluation assets 3 51 653 
Disposal of oil and gas assets 3 223 444 
Disposal of controlled entities  2 – 
Disposal of other land, buildings, plant and equipment  3 – 3 
Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 3 1 – 

Income taxes paid on disposal of non-current assets  (124) (248) 
Borrowing costs paid  (175) (132) 
Refundable deposit received  9 – 
Refundable deposit paid  (7) – 
Other investing activities  (3) (6) 

Net cash used in investing activit ies   (3,198) (2,142) 

Cash flows from financing activit ies     
Dividends paid  (159) (155) 
Drawdown of borrowings  627 354 
Repayments of borrowings  (190) (385) 
Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares  88 96 

Net cash provided by/ (used in)  financing activities   366 (90) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (1,174) (979) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the p eriod   3,332 4,319 
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balances of cash held in 
foreign currencies  (7) (8) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  7 2,151 3,332 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated fin ancial statements. 
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  Equity attributable to owners of Santos Limited    

 
 

I ssued  
capital  

Translation  
reserve  

Fair  
value  

reserve  
Hedging  
reserve  

Retained  
earnings 

Total  
equity  

Non - 
controlling  

interests  
Total  

equity  
Note $million  $million  $million  $million  $million  $million  $million  $million  

Balance at 1 January 2011  5,514 (329) (3) 2 2,421 7,605 (2) 7,603 

Profit for the period   – – – – 753 753 (2) 751 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period   – (8) 3 (16) (10) (31) – (31) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period   – (8) 3 (16) 743 722 (2) 720 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:          

Issue of shares related to acquisition 20 683 – – – – 683 – 683 

Shares issued 20 195 – – – – 195 – 195 

Dividends to shareholders 22 – – – – (263) (263) – (263) 

Share-based payment transactions 30 – – – – 25 25 – 25 

Balance at 31 December 2011  6,392 (337) – (14) 2,926 8,967 (4) 8,963 

          

Balance at 1 January 2012  6,392 (337) – (14) 2,926 8,967 (4) 8,963 

Profit for the period   – – – – 519 519 (1) 518 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period   – (69) – 8 1 (60)  – (60)  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period   – (69) – 8 520 459 (1) 458 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:          

Shares issued 20 216 – – – – 216 – 216 

Dividends to shareholders 22 – – – – (285) (285) – (285) 

Share-based payment transactions 30 – – – – 13 13 – 13 

Balance at 31 December 2012  6,608 (406) – (6) 3,174 9,370 (5) 9,365 F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies  

The consolidated financial report of Santos Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31  December 2012 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 22 February 2013. 

The consolidated financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 comprises the 
Company and its controlled entities (“the Group”).   Santos Limited (the parent) is a company limited by shares 
incorporated in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) and is 
the ultimate parent entity in the Group.  The Group is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements.  The nature of the operations and principal activities of t he Group are described in the 
Directors’ Report. 

 
(a)  Statement of compliance  

The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report which h as been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting St andards Board.  The consolidated 
financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the Internati onal 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  
 

(b)  Basis of preparation  

The consolidated financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 

The consolidated financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments, fixed rate notes that are hedged by an interest r ate swap and a cross-currency swap, and 
available-for-sale financial assets, which are measured at fair value. 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 (updated by Class 
Order 05/641 effective 28 July 2005), and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the 
consolidated financial report and Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest million dollars, 
unless otherwise stated. 

Adopt ion of  new  account ing st andards and int erpret at ions 

The following amendments to standards, which became applicable from 1 January 2012, have been 
adopted by the Group.  These amendments have not impacted on the accounting policies, financial 
position or performance of the Group, or on presentation or disclosure in the consolidated financial 
report:  

�x AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of 
Financial Assets; and 

�x AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax Recovery of 
Underlying Assets.  

The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their effective date for the annual 
reporting period ended 31 December 2012. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(b)  Basis of preparation (continued)  

New  st andards and int erpret at ions not  yet  adopt ed 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements.  The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards, amendments to 
standards and interpretations is set out below.  

�x AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9.  

AASB 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and derecognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities.  Application of AASB 9 is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s accounting for financial assets and financial liabilities.  AASB 9 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1  January 2015, and is available for early adoption. 

�x AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities , revised AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures and AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards. 

In August 2011, the AASB issued a suite of six new and amended standards which address the 
accounting for joint arrangements, consolidated financial state ments and associated disclosures.  
The standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1  January 2013. 

AASB 10 replaces the guidance on control and consolidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements and Interpretation  12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  AASB 10 
includes a new definition of control that focusses on the need to have both power and rights or 
exposure to variable returns.  A review of all entities in the Group which are less than 100% ow ned 
has been completed to assess the impact of AASB 10.  The review determined that AASB 10 is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the composition of inve stments currently consolidated into 
the Group’s results. 

AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures and uses the definition of control in AASB 10 
to introduce a principles based approach to accounting for joint arrangements.  The focus is no 
longer on the legal structure of joint arrangements, but rather  on how rights and obligations are 
shared by the parties to the joint arrangement.  The joint arrangement will be classified as either a 
joint operation or a joint venture .  Parties to a joint operation  recognise their share of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses in relation to their interest in a joint operation.  Joint venturers  will 
be required to apply the equity method of accounting for their investment in a joint venture . 

The majority of the Group’s joint arrangements are in the form  of joint operations and  the 
application of AASB 11 from 1 January 2013 will have no impact on these.  At 31 December 2012, 
the Group has interests in seven jointly controlled entities  which are currently accounted for using 
the proportionate consolidation method.  These jointly controlled entities have been assessed as 
meeting the classification of joint vent ures under AASB 11.  From 1 January 2013, the Group will be 
required to retrospectively apply the equity method of accounting to these entities .  As a result, the 
Group will no longer recognise its proportionate share of the r evenue, expenses, assets, liabilities 
and associated cash-flows of these operations.  Instead, the Group will recognise its share of net 
assets on a single line in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, its share of net profit on a 
single line in the Consolidated Income Statement and its share of dividends received in the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

The application of AASB 11 will result in the following adjustment at 1  January 2012: 

�x Derecognition of assets of $71 million; 

�x Recognition of liabilities of $ 20 million; 

�x Derecognition of losses of non-controlling interests of $1 million; and  

�x Recognition of equity accounted investment of $92 million.  

If AASB 11 had applied for the year ended 31 December 2012 there would be no significant impact 
on net profit after tax or earnings per share in the current year.   
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(b)  Basis of preparation (continued)  

New  st andards and int erpret at ions not  yet  adopt ed (continued)  

�x AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 13  

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures.  The 
standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires more 
extensive disclosures than the current standards.  

AASB 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1  January 2013. 

�x Revised AASB 119 Employee Benefits, AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 119  

These amendments require all actuarial gains and losses to be recognised immediately in other  
comprehensive income, which is consistent with the Group’s current policy.  The expected return on 
plan assets will be calculated based on the rate used to discount the defined benefit obligation.  The 
standard also introduces a number of additional disclosures for defined benefit assets and liabilities. 

AASB 119 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on o r after 1  January 2013. 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective that  are expected to have a material impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the current or fut ure reporting periods.  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 
consolidated financial report.  The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group. 

During the year, the Group reassessed its accounting treatment of certain Cooper Basin arrangements 
relating to crude oil purchases and sales that have previously been recorded as trading income.  From 
1 January 2012, these arrangements have been recorded as product sales and third party purchases on 
a gross basis rather than as trading income which was previously disclosed on a net basis.  
Comparatives for the year ended 31 December 2011 have been restated to reflect this change, resulting 
in an increase in product sales revenue of $191 million, an increase in cost of sales of $175 million and a 
decrease in trading revenue of $16 million. Corresponding adjustments are reflected in the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows, note 2 and note 37. There is no impact on net profit, net assets or earnings 
per share in the comparative financial year as a consequence of this change. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(c)  Basis of consolidation  

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.  Control exists when the Company has the power, 
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating po licies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or 
convertible are taken into account.  The financial statements of  subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control c ommences until the date that control 
ceases. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  The 
acquisition method of accounting involves recognising at acquisition date, separately from goodwill, the  
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  The 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition date fair values (refer note  1(g)). 

The difference between the above items and the fair value o f the consideration, including the fair value of 
the pre-existing investment of the a cquiree, is goodwill or a discount on acquisition. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary it will:  

�x derecognise the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary; 

�x derecognise the carrying value of any non-controlling interest;  

�x derecognise the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity ; 

�x recognise the fair value of the consideration received; 

�x recognise the fair value of any investment retained; and  

�x recognise any surplus or deficit in the income statement.  

A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control is accounted for as 
an equity transaction. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition, less any impairment charges, in the 
parent entity ’s financial statements. 

Intra -group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

Non-cont rolling int erest s 

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated entities are  allocated their share of net profit 
after tax in the income statement, and are identified separately  from the Group’s equity in those 
entities.  Losses are attributed to the non -controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(c)  Basis of consolidation (continued)  

Joint ly cont rolled asset s 

Santos’ exploration and production activities are often conducted through joint venture arrangements 
governed by joint operating agreements, production sharing co ntracts or similar contractual 
relationships.  A summary of the Group’s interests in its significant joint ventures is included in note  27.  

A joint venture characterised as a jointly controlled asset involves the joint control, and often the joint 
ownership, by the venturers of one or more assets contribu ted to, or acquired for the purpose of, the 
joint venture and dedicated to the purposes of the joint venture .  The assets are used to obtain benefits 
for the venturers.  Each venturer may take a share of the out put from the assets and each bears an 
agreed share of expenses incurred.  Each venturer has control over its share of future economic benefits 
through its share of jointly controlled assets.  

The interests of the Group in unincorporated joint ventures are brought to accoun t by recognising in the 
financial statements the Group’s share of jointly controlled assets, share of expenses and liabilities 
incurred, and the income from the sale or use of its share of t he production of the joint venture in 
accordance with the revenue policy in note 1(x).  

Joint ly cont rolled ent it ies  

The Group has interests in joint ventures which are jointly controlle d entities, whereby the venturers 
have contractual arrangements that establish joint control ove r the economic activities of the entities.  
The Group recognises its interest in jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation, by 
combining its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint venture with similar line 
items in the consolidated financial statements. 

I nvest ment  in an associate 

The Group’s investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated financial statements.  An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.  The Group generally has significant 
influence if it has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights of an entity.  

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is carr ied in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes to the Group’s share of net assets of the 
associate.  Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount  of the investment and is 
not amortised.  After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate.  

The Group’s share of the associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income 
statement, and its share of post -acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the statement of 
changes in equity and, when applicable, in the statement of compre hensive income.  The cumulative 
post-acquisition movements are recorded against the carrying amount of the investment.   Dividends 
receivable from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment  in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.  The Group’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and the associate is eliminated. 

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any unsecured long-term receivables and loans, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.  The reporting dates of 
the associate and the Group are identical and the associate’s accounting policies are consistent with 
those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(d)  Foreign currency  

Funct ional and present at ion currency 

Both the functional and presentation currency of Santos Limited is Australian dollars.  Some subsidiaries 
have a functional currency other than Australian dollars which is translated to the presentation currency 
(see below). 

Transact ions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the funct ional currency by applying the 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary a ssets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the reporting date.  Foreign 
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.  

Foreign exchange differences that arise on the translation of monetary items that form part of the net 
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in the translation reserve in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the init ial transaction.  Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to the functional 
currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair v alue was determined. 

Group companies 

On 1 January 2011, Gladstone LNG (“GLNG”) entities with an Australian dollar functional currency 
changed their functional currency to US dollars.  The change in functional currency was applied 
prospectively from this date.  An additional GLNG entity changed its functional currency from Australian 
dollars to US dollars on 1 April 2012, with the  change being applied prospectively from this date. 

The results of subsidiaries with a functional currency other than Australian dollars are translated to 
Australian dollars as at the date of each transaction.  The assets and liabilities are translated to 
Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the report ing date.  Foreign exchange differences 
arising on retranslation are recognised directly in the translatio n reserve. 

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net inve stment in foreign operations and of 
related hedges are recognised in the translation reserve.  They are released into th e income statement 
upon disposal of the foreign operation.  
 

(e)  Derivative  financial instruments  

The Group regularly uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposures to changes in foreign 
exchange rates, commodity prices and interest rates arising in the normal course of business.  The 
principal derivatives that may be used are forward foreign exchange contracts, cro ss-currency interest 
rate swaps, interest rate swaps and commodity crude oil price swaps, and option contracts.  Their use is 
subject to a comprehensive set of policies, procedures and limits approved by the Board of Directors.  
The Group does not trade in derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair v alue.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.  Wher e derivatives qualify for hedge accounting 
(refer note  1(f)), recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature o f the item being 
hedged, otherwise the gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is re cognised immediately in the 
income statement. 

The fair value of these derivative financial instruments is the e stimated amount that the Group would 
receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the reportin g date, taking into account current market 
prices and the current creditworthiness o f the contract counterparties.  

Embedded derivat ives 

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or oth er host contracts are treated as separate 
derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and 
the host contracts are not measured at fair value with chang es in fair value recognised in the income 
statement. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

( f)  Hedging  

Hedge effect iveness 

Hedge accounting (see below) is only applied where the derivative financial instrument provides an 
effective hedge of the hedged item.  Where a derivative financial instrument provides a partially 
effective hedge, any gain or loss on the ineffective part is recognised immediately in the income 
statement. 

Fair value hedge 

Where a derivative financial instrument hedges the changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability 
or an unrecognised firm commitment (or an identified portion of s uch asset, liability or firm 
commitment), any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognise d in the income statement.  The 
hedged item is stated at fair value in respect of the risk be ing hedged, with any gain or loss being 
recognised in the income statement. 

Cash f low  hedge 

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a 
recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast t ransaction, any gain or loss on the derivative 
financial instrument is recognised directly in equity.  When the forecast transaction subsequently re sults 
in the recognition of a non -financial asset or non-financial liability, or the forecast transaction for a 
non-financial asset or non-financial liability becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedging is 
applied, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or 
other carrying amount of the non -financial asset or non-financial liability.  If a hedge of a forecast 
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the 
associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into the income 
statement in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or  liability assumed affects the 
income statement. 

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding paragraph, the associated cumulative 
gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement in the same period or 
periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the incom e statement. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation 
of the hedge relationship, but the hedged forecast transaction is  still expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in a ccordance with the above policy when 
the transaction occurs.  If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative 
unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement.  

Hedge of  monet ary asset s and liabilit ies 

When a derivative financial instrument is used to hedge economically the foreign exchange exposure of 
a recognised monetary asset or liability, hedge accounting is not applied and any gain or loss on t he 
hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement.  

Hedge of  net  invest ment  in a foreign operat ion 

The gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment  in a foreign operation is recognised 
directly in equity.   On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of an y such gains or losses 
recognised directly in equity is transferred to the income sta tement. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(g)  Acquisition of assets  

All assets acquired are recorded at their cost of acquisition, being the amount of cash or cash 
equivalents paid, and the fair value of assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred.  The cost of an 
asset comprises the purchase price including any incidental costs directly attributable to the ac quisition; 
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating; and the estimate of the costs of dis mantling and removing the asset and restoring 
the site on which it is located determined in accordance with note  1(q).  

Business combinat ions  

A business combination is a transaction in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more businesses.  
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of 
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired .  

The acquisition method is only applied to a business combination when control over the business is 
obtained.  Subsequent changes in interests in a business where control already exists are accounted for as 
transactions between owners. 

The cost of the business combination is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued and 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition.  The cost includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to 
be an asset or liability will be recognised in either the income statement or in other comprehensive income. 
Where the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured. 

Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange.  The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a sim ilar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acqui ree over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If those amounts are less 
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the su bsidiary acquired and the measurement of all 
amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement as a bargain 
purchase. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(h)  Exploration and evaluation expenditure  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of each area of interest is accounted for using the 
successful efforts method of accounting.  The successful efforts method requires all exploration and 
evaluation expenditure to be expensed in the period it is incurred, exc ept the costs of successful wells 
and the costs of acquiring interests in new exploration assets, which are capitalised as intangible 
exploration and evaluation.  The costs of wells are initially capi talised pending the results of the well.  

An area of interest refers to an individual geological area where the presence of oil or a natural gas field 
is considered favourable or has been proved to exist, and in most cases will comprise an individual 
prospective oil or gas field. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is recognised in relation to an area of interest when  the rights to 
tenure of the area of interest are current and either:  

(i)  such expenditure is expected to be recovered through successful development and commercial 
exploitation of the area of interest  or, alternatively, by its sale; or  

(ii)  the exploration activities in the area of interest have not yet r eached a stage which permits 
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves and active and 
significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest  are continuing.  

Where an ownership interest in an exploration and evaluation asset is exchanged for another, the 
transaction is recognised by reference to the carrying value of the original interest.  Any cash 
consideration paid, including transaction costs, is accounted for as an acquisition of exploration and 
evaluation assets.  Any cash consideration received, net of transaction costs, is treated as a recoupment 
of costs previously capitalised with any excess accounted for as a gain on disposal of non-current 
assets. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date, in conjunction with the impairment review process referred  to in note  1(p), to determine whether 
any of the following indicators of impairment exists:  

(i)  tenure over the licence area has expired during the period or will exp ire in the near future, and is 
not expected to be renewed; or  

(ii)  substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the 
specific area is not budgeted or planned; or  

(iii)  exploration for and evaluation of resources in the specific area has not led to the discovery of 
commercially viable quantities of resources, and the Group has decided to discontinue activities in 
the specific area; or 

(iv)  sufficient data exist to indicate that although a development is likely to p roceed, the carrying 
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be r ecovered in full from successful 
development or from sale. 

Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made and any 
resultant impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. 

When a discovered oil or gas field enters the development phase the accumulated exploration and 
evaluation expenditure is transferred to oil and gas assets – assets in development.  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

( i)  Oil and gas assets  

Oil and gas assets are usually single oil or gas fields being developed for future production or which are 
in the production phase.  Where several individual oil or gas fields are to be produced through common 
facilities, the individual oil or gas field  and the associated production facilities are managed and reported 
as a single oil and gas asset. 

Assets in development  

When the technical and commercial feasibility of an undeveloped oil or gas field has been demonstrated, 
the field enters its development phase.  The costs of oil and g as assets in the development phase are 
separately accounted for as tangible assets and include past exploration and evaluation costs, 
development drilling and other subsurface expenditure, surface plant and equipment and any associated 
land and buildings.  Other subsurface expenditures include the costs of de-watering coal seam gas fields 
to provide access to the coal seams to enable production from coal seam gas reserves.  De-watering 
costs are the costs of extracting, transporting, treating and disposing of water during the develo pment 
phases of the coal seam gas fields. 

When commercial operation commences the accumulated costs are transferred to oil and gas assets – 
producing assets. 

Producing asset s 

The costs of oil and gas assets in production are separately accounted for as tangible assets and include 
past exploration and evaluation costs, pre-production development costs and the ongoing costs of 
continuing to develop reserves for production and to expand or replace plant and equipment and any 
associated land and buildings. 

These costs are subject to depreciation and depletion in accordance with note 1(k).  

Ongoing explorat ion and evaluat ion act ivit ies 

Often the initial discovery and development of an oil or gas asset will lead to ongoing exploration for, 
and evaluation of, potential new oil or gas fields in the vicinity with the intention of pr oducing any near 
field discoveries using the infrastructure in place. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure associated with oil and gas assets is accounted for in accordance 
with the policy in note  1(h).  Exploration and evaluation expenditure amounts capitalised in respect of 
oil and gas assets are separately disclosed in note 12. 
 

( j)  Land, buildings, plant and equipment  

Land and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation on buildings, less any 
impairment losses recognised. 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses.  Such cost includes the cost of rotable spares and insurance spares that are purchased for 
specific plant and equipment items.  Similarly, the cost of major cycli cal maintenance is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the related plant and equipment as a repl acement only if it is eligible for 
capitalisation.  Any remaining carrying amount from the cost o f the previous major cyclical maintenance 
is derecognised.  All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the income statement as incurred. 

Depreciation on buildings, plant and equipment is calculated in accordance with note 1(k).  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(k)  Depreciation and depletion  

Depreciation charges are calculated to write off the depreciable value of buildings, plant and equipment 
over their estimated economic useful lives to the Group.  Each component of an item of buildings, plant 
and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the tota l cost of the asset is depreciated 
separately.  The residual value, useful life and depreciation method applied to an asset are reviewed at 
the end of each annual reporting period.  

Depreciation of onshore buildings, plant and equipment and corporate assets is calculated using the 
straight-line method of depreciation on an individual asset basis from the date the asset is available for 
use, unless a units of production method represents a more systematic allocation of the asset’s 
depreciable amount over its economic useful life. 

The estimated useful lives for each class of onshore assets for the current and comparative periods are 
generally as follows: 

�x Buildings 20 – 50 years 

�x Plant and equipment  

�ƒ Computer equipment 3 – 5 years 

�ƒ Motor vehicles 4 – 7 years 

�ƒ Furniture and fittings  10 – 20 years 

�ƒ Pipelines 10 – 30 years 

�ƒ Plant and facilities 10 – 50 years 

Depreciation of offshore plant and equipment is calculated using the units of production method for an 
asset or group of assets from the date of commencement of production.  

Depletion charges are calculated using the units of production method based on heating value which will 
amortise the cost of carried forward exploration, evaluation and subsurface development expenditure 
(“subsurface assets”) over the life of the estimated P roven plus Probable (“2P”) hydrocarbon reserves 
for an asset or group of assets, together with future subs urface costs necessary to develop the 
hydrocarbon reserves in the respective asset or group of assets. 

The heating value measurement used for the conversion of volumes of different hydrocarbon pro ducts is 
barrels of oil equivalent.  

Depletion is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of assets in the development stage until 
production commences. 
 

( l)  Available -for -sale financial assets  

Financial instruments classified as being available for sale are stated at fair value, with any resultant 
gain or loss being recognised directly in equity. 

The fair value of financial instruments classified as available for sale is their quoted bid price at the close 
of business on the reporting date.  

Financial instruments classified as available for sale are recognised or derecognised on the date of 
commitment to purchase or sell the investments.  When these investments are derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(m)  I nventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisab le value.  Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
selling expenses.  Cost is determined as follows: 

(i)  drilling and maintenance stocks, which include plant spares, consumables and maintenance and 
drilling tools used for ongoing operations, are valued at weighted average cost; and  

(ii)  petroleum products, which comprise extracted crude oil, liquefied  petroleum gas, condensate and 
naphtha stored in tanks and pipeline systems and processed sales gas and ethane stored in 
subsurface reservoirs, are valued using the absorption cost method in a manner which 
approximates specific identification. 

 
(n)  Trade and other receivables  

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value, which in practice is the equivalent of 
cost, less any impairment losses. 

Long-term receivables are discounted and are stated at amortised cost, less impairment losses. 

Trade and other receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date.  Where a 
receivable is impaired the amount of the impairmen t is the difference between the asset’s carrying value 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounte d at the original effective interest rate.  
The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the use  of an allowance account.  Changes in 
the allowance account are recognised in the income statement. 
 

(o)  Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and generally have 
an original maturity of three months or less.  
 

(p)  I mpairment  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to dete rmine whether there is any indication of impairment.  Where an 
indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of t he recoverable amount is made. 

Oil and gas assets, land, buildings, plant and equipment are assessed for impairment on a 
cash-generating unit basis.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest grouping of assets that generates  
independent cash inflows, and generally represents an individual oil or gas field.  Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets 
in the unit on a pro -rata basis. 

Individual assets or sub-component groups of assets within a cash-generating unit  may become 
impaired if circumstances related to their ongoing use change or there is an indication that the benefits 
to be obtained from ongoing use are likely to be less than the carrying value of the individual asset or 
sub-component group of assets. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with note 1(h).  

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or 
its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(p)  I mpairment (continued)  

Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in 
equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaire d, the cumulative loss that had been 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income statement even though the financial asset has 
not been derecognised.  The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in the income statement 
is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair v alue, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in the income statement. 

Calculat ion of  recoverable amount  

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  
In assessing value in use, an asset's estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.  Where an asset does not generate cash flows that are largely 
independent from other assets or groups of assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

For oil and gas assets, the estimated future cash flows for the value-in-use calculation are based on 
estimates of 2P hydrocarbon reserves, future production profiles, commodit y prices, operating costs and 
any future development costs necessary to produce the reserves.  Estimates of future commodity prices 
are based on contracted prices where applicable or based on forward market prices where available.  
For oil and gas assets, the estimated fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on estimates of 
hydrocarbon reserves and resources and other relevant factors. 

Reversals of  impairment  

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been an increase in the estimated recoverable amount of a 
previously impaired asset.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have b een determined, net of depreciation or 
depletion, if no impairment  loss had been recognised. 

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments classified as 
available-for-sale financial assets are not reversed. 
 

(q)  Provisions  

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is  probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligat ion and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.  

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation using a discounted cash f low methodology.  If the effect of the 
time value of money is material, the provision is discounted using a  current pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, w here appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability.  The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs. 

Restorat ion 

Provisions for future environmental restoration are recognised where there is a present obligation as a 
result of exploration, development, production, transportation o r storage activities having been 
undertaken, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benef its will be required to settle the 
obligation.  The estimated future obligations include the costs of  removing facilities, abandoning wells 
and restoring the affected areas. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (co ntinued)  

(q)  Provisions (continued)  

Restorat ion (continued)  

The provision for future restoration costs is the best estim ate of the present value of the future 
expenditure required to settle the restoration obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal 
requirements.  Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes in the estimate are 
reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at  the reporting date, with a corresponding 
change in the cost of the associated asset. 

The amount of the provision for future restoration costs rela ting to exploration, development and 
production facilities is capitalised and depleted as a component of the cost of those activities.  

Remediat ion 

Provisions for remediation costs are recognised where there is a present obligation as a result of an 
unexpected event that occurs outside of the planned operations of  an asset. 

The provision for future remediation costs is the best estima te of the present value of the future 
expenditure required to settle the remediation obligation at the reporting date, based  on current legal 
requirements.  Future remediation costs are reviewed annually and any changes in the estimate are 
reflected in the present value of the remediation provision at the reporting date, with a corresponding 
charge to the income statement.  

Carbon tax 

The Group estimates its emissions liability in accordance with the Clean Energy Act 2011 (Cth) and 
associated pronouncements, based on covered emissions arising from facilities for which the Group has 
operational control.  

The determination of covered emissions includes both measured and estimated data based on 
operational activities and judgement in regard to the expected liable facilities for the relevant 
compliance period under the legislation.  

Carbon permits are purchased when the provision for carbon is required to be settled.  The carbon 
provision is derecognised from the statement of financial position when purchased permits are delivered 
to the Australian government in settlement of the liability.   

The estimated impact of carbon tax on the Group’s cash-generating units has been included in 
determining cash flow projections when assessing impairment of oil and gas assets and other land, 
buildings, plant and equipment as described in note 1(af) . 

The carrying amount of the provision for carbon is disclosed in note 18. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

( r)  Employee benefits  

Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave that are expected 
to be settled within twelve months of the reporting d ate are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date.  They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.  Expenses for non-vesting sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and 
are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

Long-term service benefi t s 

A liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of th e estimated future 
cash outflows to be made in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date.  The obligation is 
calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary rates, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using the rates attached to the 
Commonwealth Government bonds at the reporting date which have maturity dates approximating the 
terms of the Group’s obligations. 

Defined cont r ibut ion plans 

The Group contributes to several defined contribution superannuation plans.  Obligations for 
contributions are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred. 

Defined benefit  plan 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit superannuation plan is calculated by 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have ear ned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to deter mine its present value, and the fair value o f 
any plan assets is deducted. 

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on Commonwealth Government bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s oblig ations.  The calculation is performed by a 
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.  

When the benefits of the plan are improved, the portion of the inc reased benefit relating to past service 
by employees is recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight -line basis over the 
average period until the benefits become vested.  To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the 
expense is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

Actuarial gains or losses that arise in calculating the Group’s obligation in respect of the plan are 
recognised directly in retained earnings. 

When the calculation results in plan assets exceeding liabilities to the Group, the recognised asset is 
limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses a nd past service costs and the present value 
of any future refunds from the plan or reduct ions in future contributions to the plan.  

Past service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee 
services in prior periods, resulting in the current period from  the introduction of, or changes to, 
post-employment benefits or other long -term employee benefits.  Past service cost may be either 
positive (where benefits are introduced or improved)  or negative (where existing benefits are reduced).  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

( r)  Employee benefits (continued)  

Share-based payment  t ransact ions  

Santos executive share-based payment plans 

The Santos Executive Share Option Plan allows eligible executives to acquire shares in the capital of the 
Company.  The fair value of options granted is recognised as an employee expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the 
period during which the executive becomes unconditionally entitled to the options.  The fair value of the 
options granted is measured using a Monte Carlo simulation method, taking into account the terms a nd 
market conditions upon which the options were granted.  The amount recognised  as an expense is only 
adjusted when the options do not vest due to non -market-related conditions. 

The fair value of Share Acquisition Rights (“SARs”) issued to eligible executives under the Executive 
Long-term Incentive Programme is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the 
executive becomes unconditionally entitled to the SARs.  The fair value of the performance-based SARs 
granted is measured using a Monte Carlo simulation method, taking into account the terms and market 
conditions upon which the SARs were granted.  The fair value of the deferred-based SARs granted is 
measured by discounting the share price on the grant date using the assum ed dividend yield for the 
term of the SAR.  The amount recognised as an expense is only adjusted when the SARs do not vest 
due to non-market-related conditions. 

SARs issued under the Santos Employee Equity Incentive Plan (“SEEIP”) allow eligible executives to 
receive SARs upon the satisfaction of set non-market performance conditions.  The fair value of the 
SARs granted under this plan is measured by discounting the share price on the grant date using the 
assumed dividend yield for the term of the SAR.  The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
each reporting period based on an estimate of the likelihood of achieving the performance conditions.   

Cash-settled share-based payment plans 

The Group recognises the fair value of cash-settled share-based payment transactions as an employee 
expense with a corresponding increase in the liability for employee benefits.  The fair value of the 
liability is measured initially, and at the end of each reporting pe riod until settled, at the fair value of the 
cash-settled share-based payment transaction, by using a Monte Carlo simulation method, taking into 
account the terms and conditions on which the cash-settled share-based payment transactions were 
granted, and the extent to which the employees have rendered service to date. 

General employee share plans 

Santos operates two general employee share plans, Share1000 Plan and ShareMatch Plan, under the 
Santos Employee Share Purchase Plan, which are open to eligible executives and employees.  The 
Share1000 Plan provides for grants of fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the C ompany up to a 
value determined by the Board.  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

( r)  Employee benefits (continued)  

Share-based payment  t ransact ions (cont inued) 

General employee share plans (continued) 

The fair value per share is determined by the Volume Weighted Average Price (“VWAP”) of ordinary 
Santos shares on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) during the week up to and including the 
date of issue of the shares.  The fair value of shares granted is recognised as an employee expense with 
a corresponding increase in issued capital. 

The ShareMatch Plan allows eligible executives and employees to purchase shares through salary 
sacrifice over a maximum twelve month period, and to receive a matched Share Acquisition Rights 
(“SARs”) at a ratio set by the Board . 

The fair value per share is determined by the VWAP of ordinary Santos shares on the ASX during the 
week up to and including the date of issue of the shares .  The fair value of shares is recognised as an 
increase in issued capital with a corresponding increase in loans receivable. 

The fair value of matched SARs is measured by discounting the share price on the grant date using the 
assumed dividend yield for the term of the matched SAR.  The fair value is measured at grant date and 
recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the period during 
which the eligible executive or employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the SARs. 

Santos Eastern Star Gas Limited Employee Incentive Plan 

Under the Santos Eastern Star Gas Limited Employee Incentive Plan, eligible employees are granted 
ordinary shares in Santos, in exchange for Eastern Star Gas Limited (“ESG”) shares issued under the 
Eastern Star Gas Limited Employee Incentive Plan pursuant to the acquisition of ESG.  The cost of the 
ESG shares acquired is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity and associated 
interest-free employee loans, which is measured using a Monte Carlo simulation method, taking into 
account the contractual life of the loans and the expectation of early repayment, with a corresponding 
increase in equity. 

These fully paid ordinary shares are not quoted on the ASX as they are subject to trading restrictions 
while the loans are outstanding.  Under the terms of the plan, Santos holds a lien over the issued shares 
and the employees have no obligation to repay the outstanding loans.  The loans are granted with 
terms of up to five years, and if the loan s were not repaid before expiration of the term, the e ntitlement 
to the shares would be forfeited and the shares would be sold on-market by Santos.  The loans are not 
recognised as receivables and an increase in issued capital is recognised upon receipt of payment of the 
loans or proceeds of sales. 
 

(s)  I nterest -bearing borrowings  

Interest -bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net o f transaction costs incurred.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest -bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any 
difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the 
period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.  

Fixed-rate notes that are hedged by an interest rate swap are recognised at fair value (refer note  1(f)).  
 

( t)  Borrowing costs  

Borrowing costs, including interest and finance charges relating to major o il and gas assets under 
development up to the date of commencement of commerc ial operations, are capitalised as a 
component of the cost of development.  Where funds are borr owed specifically for qualifying projects 
the actual borrowing costs incurred are capitalised.  Where the projects are funded through general 
borrowings the borrowing costs are capitalised based on the weighted average borrowing rate (refer 
note 17).  Borrowing costs incurred after commencement of commercial operations are expensed. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(u)  Deferred income  

A liability is recorded for obligations under sales contracts to deliver natural gas in future periods for 
which payment has already been received. 

Deferred income is also recognised on asset-sale agreements where consideration is received prior to all 
conditions precedent being fulfilled.  
 

(v)  Trade and other payables  

Trade and other payables are recognised when the related goods or services are received, at the 
amount of cash or cash equivalent that will be required to dischar ge the obligation, gross of any 
settlement discount offered.  Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are settled on normal terms 
and conditions. 
 

(w)  Share capital  

Ordinary share capit al 

Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as a liability at the time the Directors resolve to pay or declare the dividend. 

Transact ion cost s 

Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any 
related income tax benefit.  
 

(x)  Revenue  

Revenue is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer.  Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the 
consideration or contributions received, net of goods and services tax or similar taxes, to the extent it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and t he revenue can be reliably measured. 

Sales revenue 

Sales revenue is recognised on the basis of the Group’s interest in a producing field (“entitlements” 
method), when the physical product and associated risks and rewards of ownership pass to the 
purchaser, which is generally at the time of ship or truck loa ding, or on the product entering the 
pipeline. 

Revenue earned under a production sharing contract (“PSC”) is recognised on a net entitlements basis 
according to the terms of the PSC. 

Dividends 

Dividend revenue from controlled entities is recognised as the dividends are declared, and from other 
parties as the dividends are received. 

Overriding royalt ies 

Royalties recognised on farmed-out operating lease rights are recognised as revenue as they accrue in 
accordance with the terms of the overriding -royalty agreements. 

Pipeline t ari f fs and processing t olls 

Tariffs and tolls charged to other entities for use of pipelines  and facilities owned by the Group are 
recognised as revenue as they accrue in accordance with the terms of the tariff and tolling agreements.  

Trading revenue 

Trading revenue represents the net revenue derived from the purchase and subsequent sale of 
hydrocarbon products from third parties where the risks and benefits of ownership of  the product do not 
pass to the Group, or where the Group acts as an agent or broker with compensation on a commission 
or fee basis. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(y)  I ntere st  income  

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  
This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fina ncial asset and allocating the interest income 
over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, whic h is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the  financial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.  
 

(z)  Other income  

Other income is recognised in the income statement at the fair v alue of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of goods and services tax, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer or when the service ha s been performed. 

The gain or loss arising on disposal of a non-current asset is included as other income at the date 
control of the asset passes to the buyer.  The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of dis posal and the net proceeds on disposal. 
 

(aa)  Leases  

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lea se is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment  of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the le ssee.  All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.  Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Assets under finance lease are depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease  term if there is no reasonable expectation 
that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

(ab)  Carbon t ax 

Carbon costs are recognised as an operating expense in the Income Statement as emissions are incurred.   

Carbon costs that are recovered from customers are recognised as sales revenue in the income 
statement in accordance with note 1(x).  
 

(ac)  Goods  and services tax  

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 
(“ATO”).  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount  of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities wh ich are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
are classified as operating cash flows. 

Similar taxes in other tax jurisdictions are accounted for in a lik e manner. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(ad)  Taxation  

I ncome t ax 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises curre nt and deferred tax.  Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it r elates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.  

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable on the taxable pr ofit or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting da te, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is determined using the statement of financial p osition approach, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the appropriate tax bases.  The following temporary differences are not provided for: the  initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither acco unting nor taxable profit; and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent it is probab le that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and  liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits  will be 
available against which the asset can be utilised.  For Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (“PRRT”) purposes, 
the impact of future augmentation on expenditure is  included in the determination of future taxable 
profits when assessing the extent to which a deferred tax asset can be recognised in the statement of 
financial position.  Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.  

The Company and all of its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax -consolidated 
group under Australian taxation law.  Santos Limited is the head entity in the tax -consolidated group.  
Current tax expense or benefit, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets ari sing from temporary 
differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are allocated amongst the members of the 
tax-consolidated group using a “stand-alone taxpayer” approach in accordance with Interpretat ion 1052 
Tax Consolidation Accounting and are recognised in the separate financial statements of each entity.  
Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of 
the members of the tax -consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the 
tax-consolidated group). 

The Company and the other entities in the tax -consolidated group have entered into a tax funding 
agreement.  Tax contribution amounts payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as 
payable to or receivable by the Company and each other member of the tax -consolidated group.  Where 
the tax contribution amount recognised by each member of the ta x-consolidated group for a particular 
period under the tax funding agreement is different from the aggr egate of the current tax liability or 
asset and any deferred tax asset arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in respect of that period 
assumed by the Company, the difference is recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity 
participants. 

The Company and the other entities in the tax -consolidated group have also entered into a tax sharing 
agreement pursuant to which the other entities may be required t o contribute to the tax liabilities of the 
Company in the event of default by the Company o r upon leaving the tax -consolidated group. 

Royalt y-related t axat ion 

PRRT, Resource Rent Royalty and Timor-Leste’s Additional Profits Tax are accounted for as income tax 
as described above. 

From 1 July 2012, the existing PRRT regime was extended to apply to all Australian petroleum 
production sourced from projects located onshore, in terri torial waters and the North West Shelf project 
area.  On transition to the extended PRRT regime, a starting tax base is immediately available to be 
deducted against the relevant project profits, giving rise to a potential deferred tax asset.  The 
recoverability of a deferred tax asset arising from transiti on to the extended PRRT regime has been 
assessed as described above. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(ae)  Discontinued  operations and n on -current assets held for sale  

A discontinued operation is a significant component of the Group that has been disposed of, or is 
classified as held for sale, and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of 
operations, and is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of 
operations.  The results of discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the income 
statement and the assets and liabilities are presented separately on the statement of financial position.  

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carry ing amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction.  They are not depreciated or amorti sed.  For an asset or disposal group to 
be classified as held for sale, it must be available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale 
must be highly probable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 
group) to fair value less costs to sell.  A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value 
less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group) but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised.  A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the 
non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition. 
 

(af)  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and as sumptions  

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on management’s 
judgement regarding estimates and assumptions of future events.  The reasonableness of estimates and 
underlying assumptions is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the re vision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affect s both current and future periods.  The key 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:  

Est imates of reserve quant it ies 

The estimated quantities of Proven plus Probable hydrocarbon reserves reported by the Group are 
integral to the calculation of depletion and depreciation expense and to assessments of possible 
impairment of assets.  Estimated reserve quantities are based upon interpretations of geological and 
geophysical models and assessments of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of producing 
the reserves.  These assessments require assumptions to be made regarding future development and 
production costs, commodity prices, exchange rates and fiscal regimes.  The estimates of reserves 
may change from period to period as the economic assumptions used to estimate the reserves can 
change from period to period, and as additional geological data is generated during the course of 
operations.  Reserves estimates are prepared in accordance with the Group’s policies and procedures 
for reserves estimation which conform to guidelines prepared by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.  

Explorat ion and evaluat ion 

The Group’s policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is discussed in note 1(h).  The 
application of this policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future 
events and circumstances, particularly in relation to the assessment of whether economic quantities of  
reserves have been found.  Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information 
becomes available.  If, after having capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure, management 
concludes that the capitalised expenditure is unlikely to be recovered by future exploitation or sale, 
then the relevant capitalised amount will be written off in the income statement.  The carrying amount 
of exploration and evaluation assets and the assumptions used in the estimation of recoverable amount 
are disclosed in notes 11 and 14 respectively. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

(af)  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and as sumptions (continued)  

Provision for restorat ion 

The Group estimates the future removal and restoration costs of  oil and gas production facilities, wells, 
pipelines and related assets at the time of installation of the assets and reviews these assessments 
periodically.  In most instances the removal of these  assets will occur many years in the future.  The 
estimate of future removal costs therefore requires  management to make judgements regarding the 
removal date, future environmental legislation, the extent of re storation activities required and future 
removal technologies. 

The carrying amount of the provision for restoration is disclosed in note 18. 

I mpairment  of oil and gas assets 

The Group assesses whether oil and gas assets are impaired on a semi-annual basis.  This requires an 
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash -generating unit to which the assets belong.  The 
carrying amount of oil and gas assets and the assumptions used in the estimation of recoverable amount 
are discussed in notes 12 and 14 respectively. 

I mpairment  of other land, buildings, plant  and equipment   

The Group assesses whether other land, buildings, plant and equipment is impaired on a semi-annual 
basis.  This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the ca sh-generating unit to which the 
assets belong.  The carrying amount of other land, buildings, plant and equipment and the assumptions 
used in the estimation of recoverable amount are discussed in notes 13 and 14 respectively. 

Royalt y-related t axat ion  

From 1 July 2012, the Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (“PRRT”) was extended to all Australian onshore 
oil and gas production licences.  Accounting for the implementation of PRRT legislation involves 
judgement around application of the legislation including  the combination of production licences into 
PRRT projects, the taxing point of projects and the measurement of the starting base of projects.  In 
assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, estimates are required in respect of future 
augmentation of expenditure and the probable cash flows used in det ermining the recoverability of 
deferred tax assets.  The key assumptions used on accounting for the transition to t he extended PRRT 
regime are discussed in note 1(ad).    

In October 2012, following the Full Federal Court’s decision in Esso Australia Resources Pty Ltd v 
Commissioner of Taxation  (“Esso Case”), the Commissioner of Taxation released a decision impact 
statement indicating that, inter alia, the outcome of the Esso  Case may mean that contract liabilities 
cannot be apportioned under the PRRT regime and therefore are only deductible if they are incurred 
wholly in relation to the relevant project. In this respect, in ad dition to those assumptions identified 
above, the Group has applied judgement in respect of its assessment of the applicability of the 
decision in the Esso Case to the projects subject to PRRT in which it holds an interest.  Based on the 
information available to the Group as at the reporting date, t he Esso Case has had no significant 
impact on the amounts recorded in respect of the Group’s royalty-related income tax expense, assets 
or liabilities in the consolidated financial report for the year e nded 31 December 2012. 

The Australian Government (“Government”) issued an announcement on 14 December 2012 that 
stipulated that the result of the Esso Case is inconsistent with the policy intent of the PRRT regime and 
the way it has been administered since its commencement in 1987. The Government has undertaken 
to introduce amendments to the legislation that will maintain the po licy intent of the PRRT and remove 
the uncertainty on  taxpayers’ ability to deduct contract expenditures which are app ortioned between 
projects. As at the date of this report, the Government has yet to introduce these amendments. 

Assuming that changes to the legislation are introduced and enacted there will be no significant impact 
on the amounts recorded in respect of the Group’s royalty -related income tax expense, assets or 
liabilities in the consolidated financial report.   
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2. Segment information  

The Group has identified its operating segments to be the four business units of Eastern Australia; Western 
Australia and Northern Territory (“WA & NT”) ; Asia Pacific; and Gladstone LNG (“GLNG”), based on the 
different geographical regions and the similarity of assets wit hin those regions.  This is the basis on which 
internal reports are provided to the Chief Executive Officer for assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources within the Group. 

The Asia Pacific operating segment includes operations in Indonesia, Papua New Guinea, Vietnam, India and 
Bangladesh.  

The Chief Executive Officer monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purposes of 
making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance.  The basis of measurement of 
segment performance has changed from the previous financial report.  From 1  January 2012, royalty-related 
taxation is no longer included in the measurement of segment performance, consistent with a change in 
information provided to the Chief Executive Officer.  Segment performance is measured based on earnings 
before interest, tax, impairment, exploration  and evaluation, and gains or losses on sale of non-current 
assets and controlled entities (“EBITX”).  Corporate and exploration expenditure and inter-segment 
eliminations are included in the segment disclosure for reconciliation purposes. 

The Group operates primarily in one business: the exploration for, and development, production, 
transportation and marketing of , hydrocarbons.  Revenue is derived primarily from the sale of gas and liquid 
hydrocarbons and the transportation of crude oil.  
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2. Segment information (continued)  
 

  
Eastern  

Australia  WA & NT Asia Pacific  GLNG 

Corporate,  
exploration and  

eliminations  Total  
  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 
 Note $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million 

Revenue              

Sales to external customers  1,614 1,504 1,065 958 497 230 44 28 – 1 3,220 2,721 

Inter -segment sales  – – – – – – 38 64 (38) (64) – – 

Other revenue from external customers  46 65 4 1 10 (1) 3 5 16 12 79 82 

Total segment revenue 3 1,660 1,569 1,069 959 507 229 85 97 (22) (51) 3,299 2,803 

Results               

Earnings before interest, tax, exploration  and 
evaluation, impairment and gains/(losses) 
on sale of non-current assets and controlled 
entities (“EBITX”)  286 276 574 614 256 95 (18) (18) (2) (11) 1,096 956 

Depreciation and depletion  380 357 218 177 116 62 29 16 30 29 773 641 

Gains/(losses) on sale of non-current assets 
and controlled entities 3 2 14 9 172 (1) 3 – 340 1 – 11 529 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
depletion, exploration and evaluation and 
impairment (“EBITDAX”)  668 647 801 963 371 160 11 338 29 18 1,880 2,126 

Depreciation and depletion 4 (380) (357) (218) (177) (116) (62) (29) (16) (30) (29) (773) (641) 

Exploration and evaluation expensed 4 – – – – – – – – (165) (167) (165) (167) 

Net impairment (loss)/reversal   – (51) (64) (1) (42) (83) – – – 8 (106) (127) 

Earnings before interest and tax (“EBIT”)   288 239 519 785 213 15 (18) 322 (166) (170) 836 1,191 

Net finance income 5         79 91 79 91 

Profit before tax             915 1,282 

Income tax expense 6         ( 322) (440) (322) (440) 

Royalty-related taxation expense  6 20 8 (96) (99) – – 1 – – – ( 75) (91) 

Net profit for the period             518 751 
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2. Segment information (continued)  
 

  
Eastern  

Australia  WA & NT Asia Pacific  GLNG 

Corporate,  
exploration and  

eliminations  Total  
  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 
 Note $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million 

Amounts included in profit before tax 
that are unusual because of their nature, 
size or incidence:               

Gain on sale of exploration and evaluation 
assets 3 – – – 152 – 3 – 45 – – – 200 

Gain on sale of oil and gas assets 3 2 14 9 20 – – – 295 – – 11 329 

Gain on sale of controlled entities 3 – – – – – – – – 1 – 1 – 

Loss on sale of available-for-sale financial 
assets 3 – – – – (1) – – – – – (1) – 

Restructuring provision  (4) – – – – – – – – – (4) – 

Transaction costs on acquisition of 
subsidiaries  – (11) – – – – – – – – – (11) 

Remediation costs for incidents, net of related 
insurance recoveries  (2) – – – – – – – – – (2)  – 

Non-refundable deposit received  – – – 15 – – – – – – – 15 

Finalisation of redetermination  – – – 5 – – – – – – – 5 

Additions and acquisit ions of 
non -current assets (other than financial 
assets and deferred tax assets) :               

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 152 998 96 55 25 54 5 19 – – 278 1,126 

Oil and gas assets 12 616 427 525 477 878 820 1,463 1,312 – – 3,482 3,036 

Other land, buildings, plant and equipment  13 – 27 2 – 1 – 2 8 58 42 63 77 

  768 1,452 623 532 904 874 1,470 1,339 58 42 3,823 4,239 
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   2012 2011 
2. Segment I nformation (continued)  Note $million  $million 

 
Revenue from external customers by geographical 
location of production     

 Australia  2,792 2,575 

 Other countries  507 228 

 Total revenue 3 3,299 2,803 

 

During the year revenue from two separate customers 
amounted to $1,127 million (2011: $558 million from one 
customer), arising from sales from all segments of the Group.    

 
Non -current assets (other than financial assets and 
deferred tax assets)  by geographical location     

 Australia  10,897 8,558 

 Papua New Guinea  2,025 1,330 

 Other countries  531 807 

   13,453 10,695 

     

3. Revenue and Other I ncome     

 Product sales:    

 Gas, ethane and liquefied gas  1,319 1,252 

 Crude oil  1,401 994 

 Condensate and naphtha  321 304 

 Liquefied petroleum gas  179 171 

 Total product sales*   3,220 2,721 

 Other revenue:    

 Overriding royalties  12 9 

 Pipeline tariffs and processing tolls  34 56 

 Other  33 17 

 Total other revenue  79 82 

 Total revenue  3,299 2,803 

 Other income:    

 Insurance recoveries  1 – 

 Net gain on sale of exploration and evaluation assets  – 200 

 Net gain on sale of oil and gas assets  11 329 

 Net gain on sale of controlled entities  1 – 

 Net loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets  (1) – 

 Non-refundable deposit received   – 15 

 Other  4 1 

 Total other income  16 545 

 *  Total product sales include third party product sales of $ 527 million (2011:  $486 million). 
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   2012 2011 
3. Revenue and Other I ncome (continued)   $million  $million 

 Net gain on sale of non -current  assets     

 Proceeds on disposals  23 1,332 

 
Recoupment of current year exploration and evaluation 

expenditure  – (3) 

 
Proceeds after recoupment of current year exploration and 

evaluation expenditure  23 1,329 

 Book value of oil and gas assets disposed  (11) (360) 

 
Book value of other land, buildings, plant and equipment 

disposed  – (3) 

 
Recoupment of prior year exploration and evaluation 

expenditure  – (451) 

 Book value of working capital disposed  (1) 18 

 Transaction costs  – (4) 

 Total net gain on sale of non-current assets  11 529 

 Compris ing:     

 Net gain on sale of exploration and evaluation assets  – 200 

 Net gain on sale of oil and gas assets  11 329 

   11 529 

 
Reconciliat ion to cash inflow from p roceeds on 

disposal of non -current assets     

 
Proceeds after recoupment of current year exploration and 

evaluation expenditure  23 1,329 

 Foreign currency changes on settlement  – (2) 

 Amounts to be received in the future   – (238) 

 Amounts received from current year disposals  23 1,089 

 Amounts received from prior year disposals  252 11 

 Total proceeds on disposal of non-current assets  275 1,100 

 Compris ing:     

 Proceeds from disposal of exploration and evaluation assets  51 653 

 Proceeds from disposal of oil and gas assets  223 444 

 Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets  1 – 

 
Proceeds from disposal of other land, buildings, plant and 

equipment  – 3 

   275 1,100 
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   2012 2011 
4. Expenses  Note $million  $million 

 Cost of sales:    

 Cash cost of production:    

 Production costs:    

 Production expenses  576 491 

 Production facilities operating leases  84 65 

 Total production costs  660 556 

 Other operating costs:    

 Pipeline tariffs, processing tolls and other  117 115 

 Royalty and excise  88 54 

 Carbon costs  26 – 

 Total other operating  costs  231 169 

 Total cash cost of production  891 725 

 Depreciation and depletion  768 636 

 Third party product purchases  465 388 

 Increase in product stock  (35) (12) 

 Total cost of sales  2,089 1,737 

 Other expenses:    

 Selling  23 31 

 Corporate  96 94 

 Depreciation  5 5 

 Foreign exchange losses/(gains)*   2 (18) 

 

Losses/(gains) from change in fair value of derivative 
financial assets designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss  1 (8) 

 Fair value hedges, (gains)/losses:    

 On the hedging instrument   (57) (135) 

 On the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk   49 148 

 Exploration and evaluation expensed  165 167 

 Net impairment loss on exploration and evaluation assets 14(a) 5 13 

 Net impairment loss on oil and gas assets 14(b) 101 118 

 
Net impairment loss on other land, buildings, plant and  

equipment  14(c) – 1 

 Net impairment reversal on receivables  – (9) 

 Net impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets  – 4 

 Total other expenses  390 411 

 

* The foreign exchange losses for the year ended 31 December 2012 include the following significant amounts in relation to 
foreign functional currency subsidiaries: $17 million gain (2011: $30 million loss) relating to the effects of foreign exchange 
on Australian dollar denominated tax bases and $17 million loss (2011: $30 million gain) on foreign functional currency 
intercompany loans. 

 Profit before tax includes the following:     

 Depreciation and depletion:    

 Depletion of subsurface assets  404 341 

 Depreciation of plant and equipment  368 299 

 Depreciation of buildings  1 1 

 Total depreciation and depletion  773 641 

 Minimum lease payments  85 82 
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2012 
 

2011 
5. Net Finance ( I ncome) / Costs  $million  $million 

 Finance income:   

 Interest income 138 190 

 Total finance income 138 190 

 Finance costs:   

 Interest expense:   

 Interest paid to third parties  197 192 

 Deduct borrowing costs capitalised 183 136 

  14 56 

 Unwind of the effect of discounting on provisions  45 43 

 Total finance costs 59 99 

 Net finance income 79 91 
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  2012 2011 
6. Taxation  Expense  $million  $million 

 Recognised in the income statement:    

 I ncome tax expense    

 Current tax expense   

 Current year 163 380 

 Adjustments for prior years 17 29 

  180 409 

 Deferred tax expense   

 Origination and reversal of temporary differences 142 40 

 Adjustments for prior years – (9) 

  142 31 

 Total income tax expense 322 440 

 Royalty -related taxation expense    

 Current tax expense   

 Current year 158 125 

 Adjustments for prior years 3 5 

  161 130 

 Deferred tax expense   

 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (86) (43) 

 Adjustments for prior years – 4 

  (86) (39) 

 Total royalty-related taxation expense 75 91 

 
Numerical reconciliat ion between tax expense and pr e-tax net 
profit :    

 Profit before tax 915 1,282 

 Prima facie income tax at 30% ( 2011: 30%)  274 385 

 Increase in income tax expense due to:   

 Foreign losses not recognised 24 50 

 Non-deductible expenses 10 11 

 Change in tax bases of assets as a result of change in use – (25) 

 Tax adjustments relating to prior years  17 17 

 Other (3) 2 

 Income tax expense 322 440 

 Royalty-related taxation expense 75 91 

 Total taxation expense 397 531 

 Deferred tax charged/ (credited)  directly to equity:    

 Net exchange loss on translation of foreign operations 12 – 

 
Net loss/(gain) on foreign currency loans designated as hedges of net 

investments in foreign operations 14 (6) 

 
Impairment of available -for-sale financial assets reclassified to the 

income statement – 1 

 Net loss/(gain) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 3 (7) 

 Actuarial loss/(gain) on defined benefit plan 1 (4) 

  30 (16) 
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  2012 2011 
7. Cash  and Cash Equivalents  $million  $million 

 Cash at bank and in hand 265 282 

 Short-term deposits 1,886 3,050 

  2,151 3,332 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents represent fair value.  Bank balances and short-term deposits 
earn interest at floating rates based upon market rates. 

The Group’s usual cash management process includes investing cash in short-term deposits.  As at 
31 December 2012, $49 million (2011: $ 1,532 million) was placed in term deposits with original maturities 
greater than three months and up to nine months.  All deposits are  held with financial institutions approved by 
the Board and are readily convertible to cash with commensurate interest adjustments if required.  

Restricted cash balances  

Barracuda Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in Papua New Guinea, has cash and cash equivalents at 
31 December 2012 of US$16 million (2011: US$13 million) which can only be repatriated to Australia with the 
permission of the Internal Revenue Commission of Papua New Guinea in accordance with the financing plan 
submitted in respect of PDL 3. 

At 31 December 2012, $8 million (2011: $3 million) was held in short -term deposits to support the issue of bank 
guarantees. 

 

  2012 2011 
8. Trade and Other Receivables  $million  $million 

 Current    

 Trade receivables 349 318 

 Other receivables 165 581 

 Allowance for impairment loss on other receivables – – 

  514 899 

 Non -current    

 Other receivables 17 25 

 Ageing of trade  and other  receivables at the report ing date:    

 Trade and other receivables not yet due 466 877 

 Past due not impaired:   

 Less than one month 33 11 

 One to three months 17 10 

 Three to six months 8 8 

 Six to twelve months 7 10 

 Greater than twelve months – 8 

 Considered impaired:   

 Greater than twelve months – – 

  531 924 

 Movement in provision for impairment loss :   

 Balance at 1 January – 22 

 Impairment loss – – 

 Reversal of impairment loss – (9) 

 Release of provision – (13) 

 Balance at 31  December  – – 
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8. Trade and Other Receivables  (continued)    

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and settlement terms are generally within 30 days.  Trade 
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate to a  number of independent customers for whom 
there is no recent history of default.  

I mpaired receivables  

An allowance for impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade or 
other receivable is impaired.  No impairment loss (2011: $9 million impairment reversal) was recognised by 
the Group during the year.  

 

  2012 2011 
9. I nventories  $million  $million 

 Petroleum products  180 151 

 Drilling and maintenance stocks  141 132 

 Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 321 283 

    

 Inventories included above that are stated at net realisable value  9 35 

 

10. Other Financial Assets    

 Current    

 Receivables due from other related entities  3 3 

 Interest rate swap contracts  – 3 

  3 6 

 Non -current    

 Interest rate swap contracts  182 178 

 Cross-currency swap contracts 41 – 

 Embedded derivatives 7 8 

 Available-for-sale financial assets 10 2 

 Receivables due from other related entities  – 3 

 Other 14 1 

  254 192 
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  2012 2011 

  Subsurface  Plant and   Subsurface Plant and  
11. Exploration and  assets  equipment  Total  assets equipment Total 
 Evaluation Assets  $million  $million  $million  $million $million $million 

 Cost 1,519 28 1,547 1,395 28 1,423 

 Less impairment (37) – (37) (37) – (37) 

 Balance at 31  December  1,482 28 1,510 1,358 28 1,386 

 Reconciliat ion of movements        

 Balance at 1 January  1,358 28 1,386 750 212 962 

 Acquisition of controlled entities – – – 890 15 905 

 
Acquisitions of exploration and 

evaluation assets 68 – 68 14 – 14 

 Additions 210 – 210 197 10 207 

 Disposals and recoupment – – – (370) (86) (456) 

 
Exploration and evaluation 

expensed (41) – (41) (58) – (58) 

 Impairment losses (1) – (1)  (13) – (13) 

 
Transfer to oil and gas assets in 

development (81) – (81) (36) (123) (159) 

 
Transfer to oil and gas assets in 

production (30) – (30) (16) – (16) 

 Exchange differences (1) – (1) – – – 

 Balance at 31  December  1,482 28 1,510 1,358 28 1,386 

 Comprising:        

 Acquisition costs 1,195 7 1,202 1,006 28 1,034 

 Successful exploration wells 251 21 272 229 – 229 

 

Exploration and evaluation 
assets pending determination 
of success 36 – 36 123 – 123 

  1,482 28 1,510 1,358 28 1,386 
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  2012 2011 

  Subsurface  Plant and   Subsurface Plant and  
  assets  equipment  Total  assets equipment Total 
12. Oil and Gas Assets  $million  $million  $million  $million $million $million 

 Cost 10,061 11,913 21,974 9,060 9,508 18,568 

 
Less accumulated depreciation, 

depletion and impairment (6,019) (4,280) (10,299) (5,565) (3,935) (9,500) 

 Balance at 31  December  4,042 7,633 11,675 3,495 5,573 9,068 

 Reconciliat ion of movements        

 Assets in development        

 Balance at 1 January 508 2,533 3,041 573 1,080 1,653 

 Acquisition of oil and gas assets 22 – 22 – – – 

 Additions 377 1,975 2,352 307 1,953 2,260 

 Disposals (8) (3) (11) – – – 

 
Transfer from exploration and 

evaluation assets 81 – 81 36 123 159 

 
Transfer to oil and gas assets in 

production – – – (386) (653) (1,039) 

 Impairment losses – – – (9) (20) (29) 

 Exchange differences (9) (78) (87) (13) 50 37 

 Balance at 31  December  971 4,427 5,398 508 2,533 3,041 

 Producing asset s       

 Balance at 1 January 2,987 3,040 6,027 2,611 2,650 5,261 

 Acquisitions of oil and gas assets 27 3 30 33 10 43 

 Additions  529 549 1,078 469 264 733 

 
Transfer from exploration and 

evaluation assets 30 – 30 16 – 16 

 
Transfer from oil and gas assets 

in development – – – 386 653 1,039 

 Disposals  – (2) (2) (102) (269) (371) 

 Depreciation and depletion  (404) (336) (740) (341) (267) (608) 

 Net impairment losses (68) (33) (101) (85) (4) (89) 

 

Impairment of exploration and 
evaluation pending 
commercialisation (4) – (4) – – – 

 Exchange differences (26) (15) (41) – 3 3 

 Balance at 31  December  3,071 3,206 6,277 2,987 3,040 6,027 

 Total oil and gas assets  4,042 7,633 11,675 3,495 5,573 9,068 

 Comprising:        

 

Exploration and evaluation 
expenditure pending 
commercialisation 26 – 26 39 – 39 

 Other capitalised expenditure 4,016 7,633 11,649 3,456 5,573 9,029 

  4,042 7,633 11,675 3,495 5,573 9,068 
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  2012 2011 

  Land and  Plant and   Land and Plant and  
13. Other  Land, Buildings,  buildings  equipment  Total  buildings equipment Total 
 Plant and Equipment  $million  $million  $million  $million $million $million 

 Cost 84 462 546 72 427 499 

 
Less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment (8) (270) (278) (6) (252) (258) 

 Balance at 31  December  76 192 268 66 175 241 

 Reconciliat ion of movements        

 Balance at 1 January 66 175 241 45 156 201 

 Acquisition of controlled entities – – – 25 1 26 

 Additions  11 52 63 – 51 51 

 Disposals – (3) (3) (3) – (3) 

 Impairment  – – – – (1) (1) 

 Depreciation  (1) (32) (33) (1) (32) (33) 

 Balance at 31  December  76 192 268 66 175 241 

 

14. I mpairment of N on -current Assets  

(a)  Exploration and evaluation assets  

At 31 December 2012 the Group reassessed the carrying amount of its exploration and evaluation 
assets for indicators of impairment in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy (refer 
note 1(h)).  As a result, the recoverable amounts of some specific exploration and evaluation assets 
were formally reassessed, resulting in an impairment loss of $5 million (2011: $13 million).  
Estimates of recoverable amounts of exploration and evaluation assets are based on the asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell. 

   Subsurface Plant and  
Area of interest  Segment  Description  assets  equipment  Total  
   $million  $million  $million  

2012      

Carnarvon Basin WA & NT Exploration area 4 – 4 

Tajikistan Asia Pacific Exploration area 1 – 1 

Total impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 5 – 5 

2011      

Bangladesh Asia Pacific Exploration area 13 – 13 

Total impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 13 – 13 
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14. I mpairment of N on -current Assets  (continued)  

(b)  Oil and gas assets  

At 31 December 2012 the Group reassessed the carrying amount of its oil and gas assets for 
indicators of impairment such as changes in future prices, future costs and reserves.  As a result, 
the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and some specific oil and gas assets were 
formally reassessed, resulting in an impairment loss of $101 million (2011: $118 million).  

Estimates of recoverable amounts of oil and gas assets are based on either fair value less costs to 
sell or value in use, determined by discounting each asset’s estimated future cash flows at 
asset-specific discount rates.  The pre-tax discount rates applied were equivalent to post  tax 
discount rates between 8.0% and 14.7% ( 2011: 8.3% and 14.4%), depending on the nature of the 
risks specific to each asset. 

   Subsurface  Plant and   
Cash -generating    assets  equipment  Total  
unit  Segment  Descript ion  $million  $million  $million  

2012      

Impairment/ (reversal) 
of CGUs:      

Thevenard WA & NT Oil field 34 27 61 

Legendre WA & NT Oil field (4) – (4) 

Jabiru/Challis WA & NT Oil field 6 – 6 

Elang Kakatua WA & NT Oil field (3) – (3) 

Sangu Asia Pacific Gas PSC 26 – 26 

Sampang Asia Pacific Oil and gas PSC 10 6 16 

SE Gobe Asia Pacific Oil and gas field (1) – (1) 

Total impairment of oil and gas assets 68 33 101 

2011      

Impairment/ (reversal) 
of CGUs:      

Legendre WA & NT Oil field 6 – 6 

Airlie WA & NT Oil field 4 – 4 

Thevenard WA & NT Oil field (5) – (5) 

Mutineer Exeter WA & NT Oil field (4) – (4) 

Kipper Eastern Australia Gas field 9 20 29 

Moonie Eastern Australia Oil field 9 5 14 

Sangu Asia Pacific Gas PSC 66 – 66 

Impairment/ (reversal) 
of specific oil and gas 
assets:      

Cooper Basin  Eastern Australia Oil and gas field 7 – 7 

Cooper Basin Eastern Australia Pipeline – (1) (1) 

Other Surat Eastern Australia Gas field 2 - 2 

Total impairment of oil and gas assets 94 24 118 
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14. I mpairment of N on -current Assets  (continued)  

(c)  Other l and, buildings, plant and equipment   

At 31 December 2012 the Group reassessed the carrying amount of its other land, buildings, plant 
and equipment assets for indicators of impairment.  As a result, the re coverable amounts of some 
specific other land, buildings, plant and equipment  assets were formally reassessed. No impairment 
loss was recognised by the Group during the year (2011: $1 million).  Estimates of recoverable 
amounts of other land, buildings, plant and equipment assets are based on its fair value less costs 
to sell.   

   Subsurface  Plant and   
Cash -generating    assets  equipment  Total  
unit  Segment  Descript ion  $million  $million  $million  

2011      

Other plant and 
equipment Corporate Aircraft – 1 1 

Total impairment of other land, buildings, plant and 
equipment – 1 1 
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 Assets  Liabilit ies  Net  

15. Deferred Tax Assets and  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 
Liabilit ies  $million  $million $million  $million $million  $million 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilit ies  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the fo llowing:  

Exploration and evaluation assets – – (477) (455) (477) (455) 

Oil and gas assets – – (213) (155) (213) (155) 

Other land, buildings, plant and 
equipment 16 20 – – 16 20 

Available-for-sale financial assets – 2 – – – 2 

Trade receivables 1 – – (2) 1 (2) 

Other receivables – – (7) (9) (7) (9) 

Inventories – – (2) (3) (2) (3) 

Derivative financial instruments – – (69) (42) (69) (42) 

Other assets – – (36) (24) (36) (24) 

Equity-raising costs 6 11 – – 6 11 

Interest -bearing loans and borrowings – – (26) (32) (26) (32) 

Other liabilities 26 – – (20) 26 (20) 

Provisions 243 237 – – 243 237 

Royalty-related taxes – – (371) (361) (371) (361) 

Other items – – (1)  (16) (1) (16) 

Tax value of carry-forward losses 
recognised – 14 (1) – (1) 14 

Tax assets/(liabilities) 292 284 (1,203) (1,119) (911) (835) 

Set-off of tax  (269) (142) 269 142 – – 

Net tax assets/(liabilities) 23 142 (934) (977) (911) (835) 
 

 2012 2011 
 $million  $million 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following 
items:   

Temporary differences in relation to investments in subsidiaries 2,939 1,550 

Deductible temporary differences relating to royalty -related taxation 
(net of income tax)  3,625 – 

Other deductible temporary differences 269 239 

Tax losses 349 347 

 7,182 2,136 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the future and that ther e will be sufficient future taxable profits against 
which the benefits can be utilised.  Tax losses of $67 million (2011: $66 million) will expire between 2021 
and 2028.  The remaining deductible temporary differences and t ax losses do not expire under current tax 
legislation. 
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  2012 2011 
16. Trade and Other Payables  $million  $million 

 Trade payables 786 764 

 Non-trade payables 164 241 

  950 1,005 

    

17. I nterest -bearing Loans and Borrowings    

 

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the 
Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings.  For more information 
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign curre ncy risk, 
see note 38.   

 Current    

 Finance leases 1 1 

 Bank loans – unsecured 14 17 

 Long-term notes – 151 

  15 169 

 Non -current    

 Finance leases 1 2 

 Bank loans – secured 1,168 695 

 Bank loans – unsecured 170 77 

 Medium-term notes 107 105 

 Long-term notes 846 868 

 Subordinated notes 1,397 1,345 

  3,689 3,092 

The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts to manage the exposure to interest rates.  This  
has resulted in a weighted average interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities of 5.61% as at 
31 December 2012 (2011: 5.86%).  

All secured interest-bearing loans and borrowings, with the exception of the finance leas es, are borrowed 
through Santos Finance Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Santos Limited.  All interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings by Santos Finance Ltd are guaranteed by Santos Limited.  All borrowings are 
unsecured, with the exception of the secured bank loans and finance leases.   
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17. I nterest -bearing Loans and Borrowings  (continued)  

Details of major credit facilit ies  

(a)  Bank loans –  secured  

   Effective interest rate    

Secured assets  
Year of  
maturity  Currency  2012 2011 2012 2011 

   %  % $million  $million 

PNG LNG 2024/2026 USD 4.61 4.59 1,168 695 

PNG LNG 

Loan facilities for the PNG LNG project in which Santos entities hold an equity interest of 13.5% , 
were entered into by the joint venture participants on 15 December 2009 and are provided by 17 
commercial banks and six export credit agencies, bear fixed and floating rates of interest and have 
estimated final maturity dates (subject to the date of practical completion of the PNG LNG project) 
of December 2024 and December 2026 respectively.  As at 31 December 2012, US$557 million 
(A$537 million) of the facility limit remains undrawn.  

The facilities include security over assets and entitlements of the participants in respect of the 
project.  The carrying values of the Group’s assets pledged as security are: 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Trade and other receivables 94 35 

 Oil and gas assets in development 2,041 1,308 

  2,135 1,343 

The coordinated development and operating agreement is the key commercial agreement for the 
project and includes a “mandatory default step-up” provision under which prior to first cargo:  

(i)  parties which have not defaulted in the payment of a cash call f or a licence area within the 
project are required to pay a pro -rata share of cash calls not paid by the defaulting parties; 
and  

(ii)  if a licence area fails to collectively remedy a payment default, non -defaulting project 
participants from other licence areas are required to pay a pro-rata share of the amounts not 
paid by the defaulting licence area.  

Where non-defaulting parties make “mandatory default step-up” payments they are entitled to 
dilute the equity interests of defaulting parties at a penalty ra te of 20%. 
 

(b)  Bank loans – unsecured  

Term  bank loans 

  Effective interest rate    

Year of maturity  Currency  2012 2011 2012 2011 
  %  % $million  $million 

2012 to 2017 USD 0.82 0.62 75 94 

Term bank loans bear interest at the relevant interbank refe rence rate.  The amount outstanding at 
31 December 2012 is US$78 million (A$75 million) ( 2011: US$95 million (A$94 million)).  
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17. I nterest -bearing Loans and Borrowings  (continued)  

Details of major credit facilit ies  (continued)  

(b)  Bank loans – unsecured  (continued)  

Export  Credit  Agency support ed loan facil i t ies 

At 31 December 2012, the Group had loan facilities of US$1,200 million (A$1,157 million) 
supported by various export credit agencies, which have estimated maturity dates (subject to the 
date of practical completion of the GLNG project) between 2016 and 2024.  

  Effective interest rate    

Year of maturity  Currency  2012 2011 2012 2011 
  %  % $million  $million 

2016 to 2024 USD 3.64 – 109 – 

Export credit agency loans bear interest at the relevant i nterbank reference rate plus a margin.  
The principal outstanding at 31 December 2012 is US$130 million (A$126 million) (2011: nil).  
 

( c)  Medium -term notes  

The Group has a $1,000 million (2011: $1,000 million) Australian medium-term note programme 
under which the following were issued in 2005:  

  Effective interest rate    

Year of issue  
Year of  
maturity  2012 2011 2012 2011 

  %  % $million  $million 

2005 2015 4.74 5.66 107 105 
 
(d)  Long -term notes  

The Group has issued long-term notes in the US Private Placement market with varying maturities.  
The Group has the following long-term notes on issue: 

  Effective interest rate    

Year of issue  
Year of  
maturity  2012 2011 2012 2011 

  %  % $million  $million 

2000 2010 to 2015 2.05 1.82 57 82 

2002 2010 to 2022 1.92 2.73 162 296 

2007 2017 to 2027 1.06 0.90 627 641 

    846 1,019 

Long-term notes bear interest at 5.95% to 8.44% (2011: 5.85% to 8.44% ) fixed rate interest, 
which have been swapped to floating rate commitments .  The principal outstanding at 
31 December 2012 is US$688 million (A$663 million) ( 2011: US$839 million (A$828 million)). 
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17. I nterest -bearing Loans and Borrowings  (continued)  

Details of major credit facilit ies  (continued)  

(e)  Subordinated notes  

The Group has issued €1,000 million in subordinated notes, which mature after 60 years but which 
can be redeemed at the Group’s option on or after 22 September 2017. 

  Effective interest rate    

Year of issue  
Year of  
maturity  2012 2011 2012 2011 

  %  % $million  $million 

2010 2070 6.46 7.26 1,397 1,345 

The subordinated notes accrue fixed coupons at a rate of 8.25% (2011: 8.25%) per annum for the 
first seven years, and thereafter on a floating rate basis plus a 6.85% margin.  The subordinated 
notes are not convertible into Santos Limited ordinary shares. 
 

( f)  Bilateral bank loan facility  

As at 31 December 2012 the Group had bilateral bank loan facilities of A$1,050 million 
(2011: A$1,450 million) and US$1,100 million (A$1,060 million) (2011: US$500 million 
(A$493 million)) which mature between 2015 and 2018.  The facilities are undrawn at 
31 December 2012. 
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  2012 2011 
18. Provisions  $million  $million 

 Current    

 Employee benefits 89 84 

 Restoration 53 46 

 Remediation 7 3 

 Carbon 20 – 

 Other 4 2 

  173 135 

 Non -current    

 Employee benefits 12 9 

 Defined benefit obligations (refer note  29) 40 50 

 Restoration 1,589 1,106 

 Remediation 5 8 

 Carbon 6 – 

  1,652 1,173 

Movement in p rovisions  

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than provisions relating to 
employee benefits, are set out below:  

 
Total  

restoration  
Total  

remediation  
Total  

carbon  Total  
 $million  $million  $million  $million  

Balance at 1 January 2012 1,152 11 – 1,163 

Provisions made during the year 169 3 26 198 

Provisions used during the year (23) (2) – (25) 

Unwind of discount  45 – – 45 

Change in discount rate 273 – – 273 

Exchange differences 26 – – 26 

Balance at 31 December  2012 1,642 12 26 1,680 

Restoration  

Provisions for future removal and restoration costs are recognised when there is a present obligation as 
a result of exploration, development, production, transportatio n or storage activities having been 
undertaken, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benef its will be required to settle the 
obligation.  The estimated future obligations include the costs of  removing facilities, abandoning wells 
and restoring the affected areas. 

Remediation  

Provisions for remediation costs are recognised when there is a present obligation as a result of an 
unexpected event that occurs outside of the planned operations of  an asset. 

Carbon  

Provisions for carbon costs are recognised when there is a present obligation to settle the Group’s 
emissions of carbon dioxide equivalent.  
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  2012 2011 
19. Other Financial Liabilit ies  $million  $million 

 Current    

 Other 4 2 

  4 2 

 Non -current    

 Cross-currency swap contracts – 47 

 Other 39 35 

  39 82 

    

20. I ssued Capital    

 961,184,172 (2011: 944,469,750) listed ordinary shares, fully paid 6,608 6,392 

 54,500 (2011: 83,000) ordinary shares, paid to one cent  – – 

  6,608 6,392 

In accordance with changes to applicable corporations legislation effective from 1 July 1998, the shares 
issued do not have a par value and there is no limit on the author ised share capital of the Company. 

  2012 2011 2012 2011 
 Note Number of shares  $million  $million 

Movement in fully paid ordinary 
shares       

Balance at 1 January  944,469,750 874,991,455 6,392 5,514 

Shares issued in Eastern Star Gas Limited 
(“ESG”) acquisition 20(a) – 51,200,158 – 673 

Santos ESG Employee Incentive Plan 20(a) – 2,002,362 5 10 

Santos Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
(“DRP”) 20(b) 10,274,438 8,629,248 126 108 

DRP underwriting agreement 20(b) 5,509,612 6,498,096 77 75 

Santos Employee Share1000 Plan 30(a) 142,008 171,750 2 2 

Santos Employee ShareMatch Plan 30(a) 491,856 639,420 6 9 

Shares issued on exercise of options 30(b) – 65,668 – 1 

Shares issued on vesting of Share 
Acquisition Rights 30(a,b) 268,008 271,593 – – 

Santos Executive Share Plan 30(f) 28,500 – – – 

Balance at 31  December   961,184,172 944,469,750 6,608 6,392 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share, which entitles the holder to participate in dividends 
and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the numb er of and amounts paid on 
the shares held.  The market price of the Company’s ordinary shares on 31 December 2012 was $11.10 
(2011: $12.24). 
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20. I ssued Capital  ( continued)  

(a)  Shares issued in Eastern Star Gas  Limited  Acquisit ion  

Santos acquired Eastern Star Gas Limited (“ESG”) in 2011.  The consideration included the issue of 
0.06881 Santos Limited shares for each ESG share on issue.  On completion of the Scheme of 
Arrangement on 17 November 2011, 51,200,158 fully paid ordinary shares were issued and 
$673 million was credited to the Company’s capital account.  In addition, 2,002,36 2 restricted 
shares were issued to ESG employees to replace their existing ESG employee incentive plan shares.  
During 2012, $5 million was received in respect of repayment of loans in relatio n to these shares 
(2011: $10 million).  

Refer note 30(c) for further details.  
 

(b)  Santos Dividend Reinvestment Plan  

The Santos Dividend Reinvestment Plan is in operation.  Shares are allocated at the arithmetic 
average of the daily weighted average market price of the Company’s shares on the ASX over a 
period of seven business days commencing on the second business day after the Dividend Record 
Date.  At this time, the Board has determined that a 2.5% discount will apply  to the Santos Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan on the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012.  The last date for 
the receipt of an election notice to participate in the Santos D ividend Reinvestment Plan is the 
record date, 7 March 2013.  The Santos Dividend Reinvestment Plan was fully underwritten for the 
2011 final dividend.   
 

Capital risk  management  

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
allowing returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakehold ers to be maintained, and to retain an 
efficient capital structure.   In order to optimise the capital structure, the Group may ad just its dividend 
distribution policy, return capital to share holders, issue new shares, draw or repay debt or undertake 
other corporate initiatives consistent with its strategic obj ectives. 

In applying these objectives, the Group aims to:  

�x minimise the weighted average cost of capital whilst retaining a ppropriate financial flexibility;  

�x ensure ongoing access to a range of debt and equity markets; and 

�x maintain an investment grade credit rating.  

A range of financial metrics are used to monitor the capita l structure including ratios measuring Gearing, 
Funds from Operations to Debt (“FFO-to-Debt”) and Debt over Earnings before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation (“Debt -to-EBITDA”).  The Group monitors these capital structure metrics 
on both an actual and forecast basis. 

During 2012, Santos Limited maintained a corporate credit rating of BBB+ from  Standard & Poor’s.  The 
credit rating was placed on “negative outlook” in January 2011  following the Group’s announcement of 
the final investment decision on the Gladstone LNG project and this rating outlook remains in place. 
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  Translation  Fair value  Hedging   
  Reserve  Reserve  Reserve  Total  
21. Reserves  and Retained Earnings  $million  $million  $million  $million  

 Reserves      

 Balance at 1 January 2011 (329) (3) 2 (330) 

 
Net exchange gain on translation of foreign 

operations 6 – – 6 

 
Net loss on foreign currency loans designated as 

hedges of net investments in foreign operations (14) – – (14) 

 
Impairment of  available-for-sale financial assets 

reclassified to the income statement – 3 – 3 

 
Net loss on derivatives designated as cash flow 

hedges – – (16) (16) 

 Balance at 31 December 2011 (337) – (14) (351) 

 Balance at 1 January 2012 (337) – (14) (351) 

 
Net exchange loss on translation of foreign 

operations (101) – – (101) 

 
Net gain on foreign currency loans designated as 

hedges of net investments in foreign operations 32 – – 32 

 
Net gain on derivatives designated as cash flow 

hedges – – 8 8 

 Balance at 31  December  2012 (406) – (6) (412) 

Nature and purpose of reserves  

Translat ion reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations where their functiona l currency is different from the 
presentation currency of the reporting entity, as well as fr om the translation of liabilities that hedge the 
Company’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary and exchange differences that arise on the translation 
of monetary items that form part of the net investment in a foreign operation.  

Fair value reserve 

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial 
assets until the financial asset is derecognised. 

Hedging reserve 

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of 
cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that  have not yet occurred. 

Retained earnings  

  2012 2011 

  $million  $million 

 Balance at 1 January  2,926 2,421 

 Net profit after tax  519 753 

 Net actuarial gain/( loss) on the defined benefit plan  1 (10) 

 Share-based payments 13 25 

 Dividends paid (285) (263) 

 Balance at 31  December  3,174 2,926 
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22. Dividends  

Dividends recognised  during the year  

Dividends recognised during the year by the Company are: 

  Dividend   Franked/  Payment  
  per share  Total  Unfranked  Date 
  $ $million    

 2012     

 Interim 2012 ordinary 0.15 143 Franked 28 Sep 2012 

 Final 2011 ordinary 0.15 142 Franked 30 Mar 2012 

  0.30 285   

 2011     

 Interim 2011 ordinary 0.15 132 Franked 30 Sep 2011 

 Final 2010 ordinary 0.15 131 Franked 31 Mar 2011 

  0.30 263   

Franked dividends paid during the year were franked at the t ax rate of 30%.  

Dividends declared in respect of the year  

Dividends declared in respect of the year by the Company are: 

  Dividend   Franked/  Payment  
  per share  Total  Unfranked  Date 
  $ $million    

 2012     

 Final 2012 ordinary*  0.15 144 Franked 28 Mar 2013 

 Interim  2012 ordinary 0.15 143 Franked 28 Sep 2012 

  0.30 287   

 2011     

 Final 2011 ordinary 0.15 142 Franked 30 Mar 2012 

 Interim  2011 ordinary 0.15 132 Franked 30 Sep 2011 

  0.30 274   

�
 After the reporting date , the final 2012 ordinary dividend of $0.15  per share was proposed by the Directors.  The 
financial effect of these dividends has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2012 and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports. 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Dividend franking account    

 

30% franking credits available to the shareholders of Santos Limited for 
future distribution, after adjusting for franking credits whic h will arise 
from the payment of the current tax liability at 31  December 993 994 

The impact on the dividend franking account of dividends proposed after the reporting date but not 
recognised as a liability is to reduce it by $62 million (2011: $61 million).  
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23. Earnings per Share  

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributab le to 
ordinary equity holders of Santos Limited by the weighted aver age number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.  

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of Santos Limited by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of 
all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.  

Earnings used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share reconciles to the net profit after 
tax in the income statement as follows:  

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Earnings used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share 519 753 

The weighted average number of shares used for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share 
reconciles to the number used to calculate basic earnings per share as follows: 

  2012 2011 
  Number of shares  

 Basic earnings per share 954,590,328 888,464,970 

 Partly paid shares 53,854 63,885 

 Executive share options 237,610 498,386 

 Share acquisition rights 3,993,374 2,777,746 

 Diluted earnings per share 958,875,166 891,804,987 

  2012 2011 
  ¢ ¢ 

 
Earnings per share attributable to the equity holde rs of 
Santos Limited    

 Basic earnings per share 54.4 84.8 

 Diluted earnings per share 54.1 84.4 

Partly paid shares outstanding issued under the Santos Executive Share Plan, options outstanding issued 
under the Santos Executive Share Option Plan and Share Acquisition Rights (“SARs”) issued to eligible 
executives and employees have been classified as potential ordinary shares and included in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share in 2012.  The number of shares included in the calculation is 
that assumed to be issued for no consideration, being the difference between the number that would 
have been issued at the exercise price and the number that would have been issued at the average 
market price.  The weighted average number of shares used for the purposes of calculating diluted 
earnings per share in 2011 was retrospectively adjusted for the effect of a 2.5% dis count applicable to 
the Dividend Reinvestment Plan in respect of the 2010 final dividend and 2011 interim dividend (refer 
note 20(b)).  

During the year nil (2011: 65,668) options, 268,008 (2011: 271,593) SARs and 28,500 (2011: nil) partly 
paid shares were converted to ordinary shares.  The diluted earnings per share calculation includes that 
portion of these options, SARs and partly paid shares assumed to be issued for nil consideration, 
weighted with reference to the date of conversion.   The weighted average number included is 88,829 
(2011: 72,138). 

During the year 308,101 (2011: 226,568) options and 679,939 (2011: 390,704) SARs lapsed.  The 
diluted earnings per share calculation includes that portion of these  options and SARs assumed to be 
issued for nil consideration, weighted with reference to the date  the options and SARs lapsed.  The 
weighted average number included is 275,241 (2011: 154,202). 
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24. Consolidated Entit ies  

Name Country of  incorporation  Name Country of  incorporation  

Santos Limited (Parent Company) 1 
Controlled Entit ies  

AUS 
 Controlled entities of Santos International Holdings Pty Ltd (cont) 

Alliance Petroleum Australia Pty Ltd2 AUS Santos Netherlands B.V.3 NLD 
Basin Oil Pty Ltd2 AUS Santos Niugini Exploration Ltd PNG 
Bridgefield Pty Ltd AUS Santos OIG Pty Ltd AUS 
Bridge Oil Developments Pty Ltd2 AUS Santos (Papalang) Pty Ltd AUS 
Bronco Energy Pty Ltd AUS Santos Petroleum Ventures B.V. NLD 
Canso Resources Pty Ltd AUS Santos (Popodi) Pty Ltd AUS 
Doce Pty Ltd AUS Santos Sangu Field Ltd GBR 
Fairview Pipeline Pty Ltd AUS Santos Vietnam Pty Ltd AUS 
Farmout Drillers Pty Ltd AUS Zhibek Resources Ltd1 GBR 
Gidgealpa Oil Pty Ltd AUS Santos (JBJ1) Pty Ltd AUS 
Kipper GS Pty Ltd AUS Controlled entities of Santos (JBJ1) Pty Ltd  

Controlled entities of Kipper GS Pty Ltd  Santos (JBJ2) Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos Carbon Pty Ltd AUS Controlled entity of Santos (JBJ2) Pty Ltd  

Controlled entity of Santos Carbon Pty Ltd  Shaw River Power Station Pty Ltd AUS 
SB Jethro Pty Ltd AUS Santos (JPDA 06-104) Pty Ltd AUS 

Moonie Pipeline Company Pty Ltd AUS Santos (JPDA 91-12) Pty Ltd AUS 
Reef Oil Pty Ltd2 AUS Santos (NARNL Cooper) Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Santos Asia Pacific Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW Pty Ltd4,5 AUS 

Controlled entities of Santos Asia Pacific Pty Ltd  Controlled entities of Santos NSW Pty Ltd  
Santos (Sampang) Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Betel) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos (Warim) Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Hillgrove) Pty Ltd5 AUS 

Santos Australian Hydrocarbons Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Holdings) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos (BOL) Pty Ltd2 AUS Controlled entities of Santos NSW (Holdings) Pty Ltd 

Controlled entity of Santos (BOL) Pty Ltd  Santos NSW (LNGN) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Bridge Oil Exploration Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Pipeline) Pty Ltd5 AUS 

Santos Browse Pty Ltd5 AUS Santos NSW (Sales) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos CSG Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Narrabri Energy) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos Darwin LNG Pty Ltd2 AUS Controlled entities of 
Santos Direct Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Narrabri Energy) Pty Ltd 
Santos Facilities Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Eastern) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos Finance Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Sulu) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos GLNG Pty Ltd AUS Santos NSW (Tooncomet) Pty Ltd5 AUS 

Controlled entity of Santos GLNG Pty Ltd  Santos NSW (Narrabri Power) Pty Ltd5 AUS 
Santos GLNG Corp USA Santos NSW (Operations) Pty Ltd5 AUS 

Santos (Globe) Pty Ltd AUS Santos (N.T.) Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos International Holdings Pty Ltd AUS Controlled entity of Santos (N.T.) Pty Ltd  

Controlled entities of Santos International Holdings Pty Ltd Bonaparte Gas & Oil Pty Ltd AUS 
Barracuda Ltd PNG Santos Offshore Pty Ltd2 AUS 
CJSC South Petroleum Company1 KGZ Santos Petroleum Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Lavana Ltd PNG Santos QLD Upstream Developments Pty Ltd3 AUS 
Sanro Insurance Pte Ltd SGP Santos QNT Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Santos Americas and Europe Corporation USA Controlled entities of Santos QNT Pty Ltd  

Controlled entities of Santos Americas and Europe Corp Santos QNT (No. 1) Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Santos TPY Corp USA Controlled entities of Santos QNT (No. 1) Pty Ltd 

Controlled entities of Santos TPY Corp  Santos Petroleum Management Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Santos Queensland Corp USA Santos Petroleum Operations Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos TOG Corp USA TMOC Exploration Pty Ltd AUS 

Controlled entities of Santos TOG Corp  Santos QNT (No. 2) Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Santos TOGA Pty Ltd AUS Controlled entities of Santos QNT (No. 2) Pty Ltd 
Santos TPY CSG Corp USA Moonie Oil Pty Ltd AUS 

Santos Bangladesh Ltd GBR Petromin Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos Baturaja Pty Ltd3 AUS Santos (299) Pty Ltd (in liquidation)  AUS 
Santos (BBF) Pty Ltd AUS Santos Exploration Pty Ltd AUS 

Controlled entities of Santos (BBF) Pty Ltd  Santos Gnuco Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos (SPV) Pty Ltd AUS Santos Upstream Pty Ltd AUS 

Controlled entity of Santos (SPV) Pty Ltd  Santos TPC Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos (Madura Offshore) Pty Ltd AUS Santos Wilga Park Pty Ltd AUS 

Santos Belida Pty Ltd3 AUS Santos Resources Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos (Donggala) Pty Ltd AUS Santos (TGR) Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos Egypt Pty Ltd AUS Santos Timor Sea Pipeline Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos EOM Pty Ltd AUS SESAP Pty Ltd AUS 
Santos Hides Ltd PNG Vamgas Pty Ltd2 AUS 
Santos International Pte Ltd SGP   
Santos International Operations Pty Ltd AUS   
Santos International Ventures Pty Ltd AUS   
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24. Consolidated Entit ies  (continued)  

Notes 

1. Beneficial interests in all controlled entities are 100%, except: 

�x CJSC South Petroleum Company (70%); and 

�x Zhibek Resources Ltd (75%).  

2. Company is party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee.  Refer note 37. 

3. Company incorporated during the year. 

4. Company changed type from public to proprietary during th e year.  

5. The following companies changed name during the year: 

�x Santos Browse Pty Ltd (previously Coveyork Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Star Gas Limited); 

�x Santos NSW (Betel) Pty Ltd (previously Betel Gas Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Eastern) Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Energy Australia Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Hillgrove) Pty Ltd (previously Hillgrove Energy Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Holdings) Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Star Gas Holdings Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (LNGN) Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Star Gas LNG Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Narrabri Energy) Pty Ltd (previously Narrabri Energy Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Narrabri Power) Pty Ltd (previously Narrabri Power Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Operations) Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Star Operations Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Pipeline) Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Star Gas Pipeline Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Sales) Pty Ltd (previously Eastern Star Gas Sales Pty Ltd); 

�x Santos NSW (Sulu) Pty Ltd (previously Sulu Resources Pty Ltd); and 

�x Santos NSW (Tooncomet) Pty Ltd (previously Tooncomet Pty Ltd). 

Country of incorporation  

AUS – Australia 

GBR – United Kingdom 

KGZ – Kyrgyz Republic 

NLD – Netherlands 

PNG – Papua New Guinea 

SGP – Singapore 

USA – United States of America 
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25. Acquisit ion s and Disposal s of Subsidiaries  

(a)  Acquisit ions  

There were no acquisitions of controlled entities during 2012.  

During 2011 the following controlled entities were acquired and  the operating results included in the 
income statement from the date of acquisition:  
 

Name of entity  
Date of 

acquisition  
Beneficial 

interest  
Purchase 

consideration  

Contribution to 
consolidated profit 

from acquisition 
date to 

31 December  2011 
  %  $million  $million  

Eastern Star Gas Limited Group*  28 Oct 2011 100 722 (2) 

*  Eastern Star Gas Limited and its controlled entities  changed names during the year. Refer to note 24.  

On 28 October 2011, Santos obtained control of Eastern Star Gas Limited (“ESG”)  through the acquisition 
of the remaining 79. 03% of  ESG’s outstanding ordinary shares via a Scheme of Arrangement (“the 
Scheme”).  As a result, the Group’s equity interest in ESG increased from 20.97% to 100%.  ESG is 
focussed on the exploration of coal seam gas in Australia.  At the time of acquisition, ESG’s main activity 
was the Narrabri Gas Project, which is located in Petroleum Exploration Licence (“PEL”) 238 adjacent to 
the township of Narrabri in New South Wales.  At the time of ac quisition ESG held a 65% interest in PEL 
238, with the Group holding the remaining 35%.  If the acquisition had  occurred on 1 January 2011, the 
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2011 would have increased by $5 million and the net 
profit attributable to equity holders of Santos Limited would have reduced by $20 million. 

This acquisition was provisionally accounted for at 31 December 2011, as the fair value of the net assets 
acquired had not been finally determined, however no adjustment to the fair value was required in 2012. 

Acquisition-date fair value of consideration transferred : 

 $million  

Shares issued 673 

Share-based payments 14 

Cash paid 35 

Total consideration transferred 722 

 
(b)  Disposal s of controlled entit ies  

On 8 February 2012, the Group disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary Boston L.H.F. Pty Ltd for 
$2 million, resulting in a gain on sale of $1 million. 

There were no disposals of controlled entities during 2011.  
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26. I nvestment in an Associate  
 

   Ownership interest    

  Principal  2012 2011 2012 2011 
Company  Country  activity  %  % $million  $million 

Eastern Star Gas Limited Australia Oil and gas 100 100 – – 

In 2011 Santos obtained control of Eastern Star Gas Limited (“ESG”) through the acquisition of the 
remaining 79.03% of ESG’s outstanding ordinary shares via a Scheme of Arrangement.  As a result, the 
Group’s equity interest in ESG increased from 20.97% to 100% (refer note  25). 

Movement in the carrying amount of the Group’s inve stment in an 
associate    

Balance at 1 January – 208 

Share of net losses, after tax – (9)  

Fair value adjustment for step-up acquisition from associate to subsidiary – (6)  

Consideration for step-up acquisition from associate to subsidiary – (193) 

Balance at 31  December  – – 

The Group’s share of the associate’s income stateme nt    

Revenue – 1 

Net loss after tax – (9)  
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27. I nterests in Joint Ventures  

(a)  Joint Venture Assets  

The following are the significant joint ventures assets in which the Group is a joint venturer:  

 Cash -generating  Principal  I nterest  Interest  
Joint venture  unit  act ivit ies  2012 2011 
   %  % 

Oil and gas assets – 
Producing assets      

Bayu-Undan Bayu-Undan Gas and liquids production 11.5 11.5 

Casino Casino Gas production 50.0 50.0 

Chim Sao Vietnam (Block 12) Oil and gas production 31.9 31.9 

Fairview GLNG Gas production 22.8 22.8 

Halyard/Spar Varanus Island Gas production 45.0 45.0 

John Brookes Varanus Island Gas production 45.0 45.0 

Madura Offshore PSC (Maleo) Madura PSC Gas production 67.5 67.5 

Mutineer-Exeter1 Mutineer-Exeter Oil production 41.6 33.4 

Reindeer Reindeer Gas production 45.0 45.0 

Roma GLNG Gas production 30.0 30.0 

SA Fixed Factor Area Cooper Basin Oil and gas production 66.6 66.6 

Sampang PSC (Oyong, Wortel) Sampang PSC Oil and gas production 45.0 45.0 

Stag Stag Oil and gas production 66.7 66.7 

SWQ Unit Cooper Basin Gas production 60.1 60.1 

Oil and gas assets – Assets in 
development      

GLNG Downstream GLNG LNG facilities in development 30.0 30.0 

Kipper Kipper Gas development 35.0 35.0 

PNG LNG PNG LNG Gas and liquids development 13.5 13.5 

Exploration and evaluation 
assets      

Caldita/Barossa – Contingent gas resource 25.0 40.0 

Petrel, Tern & Frigate – Gas development 40.0 40.0 

PEL1 and 12 – Contingent gas resource 65.0 65.0 

PEL238 and PAL2 – Contingent gas resource 80.0 80.0 

PEL238 and PAL2 – Contingent gas resource 69.2 69.2 

1. Acquired additional interest in December 2012, subject to customary approvals. 
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27. I nterests in Joint Ventures  

(b)  Jointly Controlled Entit ies  

The Group recognises its interests in the following jointly controlled  entities using the proportionate 
consolidation method of accounting:  

  I nterest  Interest  
  2012 2011 
 Joint venture entity  %  % 

 CJSC KNG Hydrocarbons 54.0 54.0 

 Darwin LNG Pty Ltd 11.5 11.5 

 Easternwell Drilling Services Holdings Pty Ltd 50.0 50.0 

 GLNG Operations Pty Ltd 30.0 30.0 

 GLNG Property Pty Ltd 30.0 30.0 

 Lohengrin Pty Ltd 50.0 50.0 

 Papua New Guinea Liquefied Natural Gas Global Company LDC 13.5 13.5 

The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entities, 
which are included in the consolidated financial statements using the proportionate consolidation 
method of accounting, are as follows:  

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Current assets 824 570 

 Non-current assets 1,287 822 

 Total assets 2,111 1,392 

 Current liabilities 782 507 

 Non-current liabilities 1,189 713 

 Net assets 140 172 

 Revenue 375 362 

 Expenses (379) (326) 

 (Loss)/profit before income tax  (4) 36 
 
(c)  Joint Venture Commitments  

The Group’s share of capital expenditure commitments 
and minimum exploration commitments in respect of 
joint  ventures are: 

 Capital expenditure commitments 2,968 4,458 

 Minimum exploration commitments 139 126 
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  2012 2011 
28. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows  $million  $million 

 (a)  Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activit ies   
 Profit after income tax  518 751 
 Add/(deduct) non-cash items:   
 Depreciation and depletion 773 641 
 Exploration and evaluation expensed 41 58 

 Net impairment loss on exploration and evaluation assets 5 13 
 Net impairment loss on oil and gas assets 101 118 
 Net impairment loss on other land, buildings, plant and equipment  – 1 
 Net reversal of impairment loss on receivables – (9) 
 Net (gains)/ losses on fair value hedges (8) 13 
 Share-based payment expense 15 13 
 Unwind of the effect of discounting on provisions 45 43 

 
Change in fair value of financial assets designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss  1 (8) 
 Defined benefit plan expense 3 2 
 Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 2 (18) 
 Net gain on sale of exploration and evaluation assets – (200) 
 Net gain on sale of oil and gas assets (11) (329) 
 Net gain on sale of controlled entities (1) – 
 Net loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 1 – 

 
Fair value adjustment for step-up acquisition from associate to 

subsidiary – 6 
 Share of net loss in an associate – 9 
 Amortisation of prepaid loan transaction costs 6 3 

 
Net cash provided by operating activities before changes in assets or 

liabilities 1,491 1,107 

 
Add/(deduct)  change in operating assets or liabilities, net of 

acquisitions or disposals of businesses:   
 Decrease in trade and other receivables 10 60 
 Increase in inventories (38) (17) 
 Increase in other assets (51) (49) 
 I ncrease in net deferred tax liabilities  57 52 
 Increase in current tax liabilities  154 126 
 Decrease in trade and other payables (15) (46) 
 Increase in provisions 50 20 

 Net cash provided by operating activit ies  1,658 1,253 

 (b)  Non -cash financing and investing activit ies    

 Santos Dividend Reinvestment Plan 126 108 
 Consideration for acquisition of Eastern Star Gas Ltd – 687 

 (c)  Total taxation paid    
 I ncome taxes paid    
 Cash outflow from operating activities  (24) (200) 
 Cash outflow from investing activities (124) (248) 
 Royalty -related taxation paid    
 Cash outflow from operating activities (142) (157) 

  (290) (605) 

 (d)  Total borrowing costs paid    
 Cash outflow from operating activities (19) (81) 
 Cash outflow from investing activities (175) (132) 

  (194) (213) 
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29. Employee Benefits  

(a)  Defined benefit plan  

Defined benefit members of the Santos Superannuation Plan receive a lump sum benefit on 
retirement, death, disablement and withdrawal.  The defined bene fit section of the Plan is closed to 
new members.  All new members receive accumulation-only benefits. 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Amo unt recognised in the statement  of financial posit ion    

 Deficit in plan recognised in non-current provisions (refer note 18) 40 50 

 Non-current receivables  (16) (23) 

  24 27 

 

Movements in the liability for net defined benefit 
obligations recognised in the statements of financi al 
posit ion    

 Liability at 1 January 27 22 

 Expense recognised in income statement 3 2 

 Amount capitalised in oil and gas assets 2 1 

 Amount recognised in retained earnings (2) 14 

 Employer contributions (6) (12) 

 Liability at 31  December  24 27 

 Expense rec ognised in the income statement    

 Service cost 4 2 

 Interest cost  5 3 

 Expected return on plan assets (6) (3) 

  3 2 

 
The expense is recogn ised in the following line item in the 
income statement :   

 Cost of sales 3 2 

 Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income    

 Actuarial gain/( loss) in the year 2 (14) 

 Tax effect (1) 4 

 Net actuarial gain/( loss) in the year 1 (10) 

 
Cumulative actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive 

income, net of tax  (22) (23) 
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  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 
29. Employee Benefits (continued)  $million  $million $million $million $million 

 (a)  Defined benefit plan (continued)       

 
Historical information for the 
current and previous periods       

 
Present value of defined benefit 

obligations 190 192 173 170 175 

 Fair value of plan assets (150) (142) (141) (136) (113) 

 Deficit in plan 40 50 32 34 62 

 
Experience adjustments (gain)/loss 

on plan assets (6) 12 5 (9) 43 

 
Experience adjustments gain on plan 

liabilities – (2) (3) (7) (14) 
 
  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Reconciliat ion of the fair value of plan assets    

 Opening fair value of plan assets 142 141 

 Expected return on plan assets 10 10 

 Actuarial gain/(loss) 6 (12) 

 Employer contributions 9 12 

 Contributions by plan participants 4 5 

 Benefits paid (19) (11) 

 Taxes and premiums paid (2) (4) 

 Transfers in – 1 

 Closing fair value of plan assets 150 142 

 
Reconciliat ion of the present value of the defined benefit  
obligations    

 Opening defined benefit obligations 192 173 

 Service cost 8 7 

 Interest cost  7 9 

 Contribution by plan participants 4 5 

 Actuarial loss – 13 

 Benefits paid (19) (11) 

 Taxes and premiums paid (2) (4) 

 Closing defined benefit obligations 190 192 
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  2012 2011 
29. Employee Benefits (continued)  %  % 

 (a)  Defined benefit plan (continued)    

 Plan assets    

 The percentage invested in each asset class at the reporting date:    

 Australian equity 26 28 

 International equity  29 29 

 Fixed income 19 12 

 Property 14 10 

 Other 5 13 

 Cash 7 8 

Fair value of plan assets  

The fair value of plan assets includes no amounts relating to: 

�x any of the Group’s own financial instruments; or  

�x any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the Group. 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Actual return on plan assets    

 Actual return on plan assets – gain/(loss) 10 (1) 

Expected rate of return on plan assets  

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term 
return for each asset class by the target allocation of assets to each asset class and allowing for the 
correlations of the investment returns between asset  classes.  The returns used for each asset class 
are net of investment tax and investment fees.  An allowance fo r asset-based administration 
expenses has been deducted from the expected return. 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting da te (expressed as weighte d average)  

  2012 2011 
  %  p.a. % p.a.  

 Discount rate 2.6 3.4 

 Expected rate of return on plan assets nil 7.3 

 Expected average salary increase rate over the life of the plan  5.0 6.0 

The expected rate of return on p lan assets includes a reduction to allow for the administrative 
expenses of the plan. 

Expected contributions  

The Group expects to contribute $5 million to the defined benefit superannuation plan in 2013. 
 

(b)  Defined contribution plans  

The Group makes contributions to several defined contribution plans.  The amount recognised as an 
expense for the year was $11 million (2011: $8 million).  
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  

(a)  Current general employee share plans  

The Company operated two general employee share plans in 2012: 

�x Share1000, governed by the Santos Employee Share Acquisition Plan rules (“Share1000 Plan”); 
and 

�x ShareMatch, governed by the ShareMatch Plan rules (“ShareMatch Plan”). 

Broadly, the Share1000 Plan and the ShareMatch Plan provide for Australian-resident permanent 
eligible employees to be entitled to acquire shares under the plans.  Eligible employees have the 
option to participate in either the Share1000 Plan or the ShareMatch Plan.  Members of the Santos 
Leadership Team, Directors of the Company, casual employees, employees on fixed-term contracts 
and employees on international assignment are excluded from participating in the Share1000 Plan 
and the ShareMatch Plan. 

Share1000 Plan 

The Share1000 Plan was introduced in 2010 with the first  issue of shares pursuant to the plan being 
made in 2011.  The Share1000 Plan provides for grants of fully paid ordinary shares up to a value 
determined by the Board, being $1,000 per annum per eligible e mployee.  A trustee funded by the 
Group acquires the shares directly from the Company.  The trustee holds the shares on behalf of 
the participants in the plan until the shares are no longer subject  to restrictions.   

The employee’s ownership of shares allocated under the Share1000 Plan, and his or her right  to 
deal with them, are subject to restrictions until the earlier of the expiration of the  three-year 
restriction period and the time when he or she ceases to be an employee.  During the restriction 
period, participants are entitled to receive dividends, participate in bonus and rights issues and 
instruct the trustee as to the exercise of voting rights . 

The following shares were issued pursuant to the Share1000 Plan during the period:  

  I ssued  Fair value 
 Date shares  per share 
  Number  $ 

 2012   

 4 January 2012 6,400 12.4090 

 2 July 2012 135,608 10.7600 

  142,008  

 2011   

 4 January 2011 82,200 13.1974 

 4 July 2011 89,550 13.3026 

  171,750  

The fair value per share is determined by the Volume Weighted Average Price (“VWAP”) of ordinary 
Santos shares on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) during the week up to and including 
the date of issue of the shares. 

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group in relation to the Share1000 Plan 
during the year were: 

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Employee expenses 1,539 2,275 

 Issued ordinary share capital 1,539 2,275 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(a)  Current general employee share plans (continued)  

ShareMatch Plan 

The ShareMatch Plan was also introduced in 2010 as an alternative to the Share1000 Plan with the 
first issue of shares pursuant to the plan being made in 2011.  The ShareMatch Plan provides an 
opportunity for eligible employees to purchase shares through salary sacrifice, up to a maximum 
value of $5,000, and to receive a matched Share Acquisition Right (“SAR”) at a ratio set by the 
Board and with vesting subject to conditions of service.  The salary sacrifice deductions are made 
over a maximum twelve-month period.   In 2011 and 2012, the ratio was one matched SAR for each 
share purchased. 

The employee’s ownership of shares allocated under the ShareMatch Plan, and his or her right to 
deal with them, are subject to restrictions until the earlier of the expiration of the restriction perio d 
(which will be approximately three, five or seven years from the  date of the offer, depending on any 
election made by the employee) and the time when he or she ceases to be an employee.  During 
the restriction period, p articipants are entitled to receive  dividends, participate in bonus and rights 
issues and exercise voting rights. 

The following shares were issued pursuant to the ShareMatch Plan during the period:  

  I ssued  Fair value 
 Date shares  per share 
  Number  $ 

 2012   

 4 January 2012 39,248 12.4090 

 2 July 2012 452,608 10.7600 

  491,856  

 2011   

 4 January 2011 307,401 13.1974 

 4 July 2011 332,019 13.3026 

  639,420  

The following shares were issued in one tranche and subsequently forfeited and reallocated in a 
new tranche: 

Number of shares  
Original  
tranche  

Re-allocated  
tranche  

982 4 July 2011 4 January 2012 

500 4 July 2011 2 July 2012 

378 4 January 2011 2 July 2012 

The fair value per share is determined by the Volume Weighted Average Price (“VWAP”) of ordinary 
Santos shares on the ASX during the week up to and including the date of issue of the shar es. 

During the year the Company issued $5 million (2011: $8 million) of share capital under the 
ShareMatch plan.  Cash of $5 million (2011: $6 million) was received from employees under loan 
arrangements.  The movement in loans receivable from employees during the year was: 

 
  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Employee loans at 1 January  2,215 – 

 Ordinary share capital issued during the year 5,379 8,478 

 Cash received during the year (5,155) (6,263) 

 Employee  loans  at 31 December  2,439 2,215 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(a)  Current general employee share plans (continued)  

During the financial year, the Company granted 493,716 (2011: 639,779) matched SARs to eligible 
employees as set out below.  Shares allocated to an employee upon the vesting of matched SARs 
will be subject to restrictions on dealing until the same restriction date as that which applies to the 
shares allocated under the ShareMatch Plan (effectively a maximum four-year restriction period 
from the date the shares are allocated following vesting of the  matched SARs).  No amount is 
payable on grant or vesting of the matched SARs. 

 Year  End of  Beginning  Granted     
 of  vesting  of the  during    End of  
Grant  grant  period  year  the year  Lapsed  Vested  the year  
   Number  Number  Number  Number  Number  

2012        

R07 – R09 2012 3 July 2014 – 40,230 (402) – 39,828 

R10 – R12 2012 1 July 2015 – 453,486 (4,202) (3,251) 446,033 

R01 – R03 2011 3 July 2013 297,748 – (12,648) (8,883) 276,217 

R04 – R06 2011 3 July 2014 326,589 – (14,594) (6,187) 305,808 

Total    624,337 493,716 (31,846) (18,321) 1,067,886 

2011        

RO1 –  RO3 2011 3 July 2013 – 307,401 (8,141) (1,512) 297,748 

RO4 –  RO6 2011 3 July 2014 – 332,378 (5,414) (375) 326,589 

Total    – 639,779 (13,555) (1,887) 624,337 

The fair value of services received in return for  matched SARs granted is measured by reference to 
the fair value of matched SARs granted.  The estimate of the fair value of the services received is 
measured by discounting the share price on the grant date using  the assumed dividend yield for the 
term of the matched SAR. 

  2012 
 Matched SARs grant  R07 – R09 R010 – R012 

 Fair value at grant date ($)  11.93 10.06 

 Share price on grant date ($)  12.65 10.91 

 Exercise price ($) – – 

 Right life (weighted average, years) 2.5 3.0 

 Expected dividends (% p.a.) 2.4 2.8 
 

  2011 
 Matched SARs grant  R01 – R03 R04 – R06 

 Fair value at grant date ($)  12.47 12.61 

 Share price on grant date ($)  13.19 13.47 

 Exercise price ($) – – 

 Right life (weighted average, years) 2.5 3.0 

 Expected dividends (% p.a.) 2.3 2.2 

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group during the financial year in relation 
to matched SARs issued under the ShareMatch Plan were: 

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Employee expenses 3,651 2,196 

 Retained earnings 3,651 2,196 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(b)  Executive Long -term I ncentive Programme  

The Company’s Executive Long-term Incentive (“LTI”) Programme provides for invitations t o be 
extended to eligible executives selected by the Board.  The Programme is governed by the Santos 
Employee Equity Incentive Plan (formerly known as the Employee Share Purchase Plan) rules in 
respect of offers of SARs and the Santos Executive Share Option Plan rules in respect of offers of 
options. 

The Santos Executive Share Option Plan rules have been in force since 1997, however no new 
issues of options have been made under the plan since 2009.  The Santos Employee Share Purchase 
Plan rules have been used as a basis of executive compensation since 2003 and were amended and 
renamed the Santos Employee Equity Incentive Plan in 2012.  Each SAR and option is a conditional 
entitlement to a fully paid ordinary share, subject to the satisfaction of perf ormance or service 
conditions, on terms and conditions determined by the Board.   The Board has the discretion to 
cash-settle SARs granted under the amended Santos Employee Equity Incentive Plan. 

SARs and options carry no voting or dividend rights until the performa nce or service conditions are 
satisfied and, in the case of options, when the options are exer cised or, in the case of SARs, when 
the SARs vest and are converted into shares. 

Upon cessation of employment, unvested SARs and options will in general lapse and be forfeited.  
However, if cessation occurs due to death, disability or redundancy, or in other circumstances 
approved by the Board, then a proportion of the  unvested SARs or options may remain on foot 
(i.e. remain in the plan and not lapse) or vest (and in the case of options become exercisable). 

Where there is a change in control, the Board may determine whet her, and the extent to which, 
SARs and options may vest.  

The 2011 and 2012 LTI Programme offers consisted only of SARs.  Eligible executives were granted 
both Performance Awards and Deferred Awards in 2011 but deferred awards were then 
discontinued as part of the regular LTI Programme and none were granted in 2012.  Performance 
Awards only were granted to eligible executives in 2012.  

Vest ing of  Perform ance Aw ards 

All Performance Awards are subject to hurdles based on the Company’s Total Shareholder Return 
(“TSR”) relative to the ASX 100 over a three-year performance period to the end of the vesting 
period.  There is no retesting of performance conditions .  Each tranche of the Performance Awards 
vest in accordance with the following vesting schedule, relative t o the TSR condition: 

 Grants I 4 – I 6, J1 – J6  Grants F3 –  F5 

TSR percentile  ranking  %  of grant vesting  %  of grant vesting  

< 50th percentile – – 

= 50th percentile  50 37.5 

51st to 75th percentile  Further 2.0% for each percentile  Further 1.5% for each percentile  

>= 75th percentile  100 Further 1.0% for each percentile  
over 75th  

 

 All other grants  

TSR percentile ranking  %  of grant vesting  

< 50th percentile – 

= 50th percentile  33.33% 

51st to 100th percentile  Further 1.33% for each percentile  

Vest ing of  Deferred Aw ards 

Each tranche of the Deferred Awards vests based on continuous service to the vesting date. 

During the financial year, the Company granted 1,558,946 (2011: 1,012,010) SARs under the LTI 
Programme to eligible executives as set out below.  Shares allocated on vesting of SARs granted in 
2011 and 2012 may be subject to further restrictions on d ealing for five or seven years after the 
original grant date, depending on whether the executive elected to  extend the trading restrictions 
period beyond the vesting date.  Shares allocated on the vesting of SARs that were granted prior to 
2012 will be subject to further restrictions on dealing for a maximum  of ten years after the original 
grant date.  No amount is payable on grant or vesting of the SARs.  
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(b)  Executive Long -term I ncentive Programme  (continued)  

 Year End of  Beginning Granted    End  
 of  Vesting  of the  during   of the  
Grant grant  period  year  the year  Lapsed  Vested  year  
   Number  Number  Number  Number  Number  

2012        

Performance         

J1 – J3 2012 31 Dec 2014 – 1,365,011 (133,073) – 1,231,938 

J4 – J6 2012 31 Dec 2014 – 193,935 – – 193,935 

I1 – I3 2011 31 Dec 2013 544,186 – (66,325) (1,218) 476,643 

I4 – I6 2011 31 Dec 2013 157,232 – – – 157,232 

H4 2010 31 Aug 2013 40,000 – – – 40,000 

H1 2010 31 Dec 2012 481,998 – (84,502) – 397,496 

G1 2009 31 Dec 2011 255,279 – (255,279) – – 

F5 2008 31 Dec 2012 50,403 – – – 50,403 

F4 2008 31 Dec 2011 50,403 – (50,403) – – 

Deferred         

DI1 – DI3 2011 28 Feb 2014 259,310 – (27,219) (7,820) 224,271 

H6 2010 7 Nov 2012 15,000 – – (15,000) – 

H2 2010 1 Mar 2013 249,284 – (29,490) (13,477) 206,317 

G3 2009 1 Mar 2012 82,671 – (945) (81,726) – 

G2 2009 1 Mar 2012 132,285 – (1,839) (130,446) – 

   2,318,051 1,558,946 (649,075) (249,687) 2,978,235 

2011        

Performance         

I1 – I3 2011 31 Dec 2013 – 577,721 (33,535) – 544,186 

I4 – I6 2011 31 Dec 2013 – 157,232 – – 157,232 

H7 2010 31 Dec 2012 10,000 – (10,000) – – 

H4 2010 31 Aug 2013 40,000 – – – 40,000 

H3 2010 31 Dec 2012 10,000 – (10,000) – – 

H1 2010 31 Dec 2012 590,942 – (101,434) (7,510) 481,998 

G1 2009 31 Dec 2011 378,491 – (88,549) (34,663) 255,279 

F5 2008 31 Dec 2012 50,403 – – – 50,403 

F4 2008 31 Dec 2011 50,403 – – – 50,403 

F3 2008 31 Dec 2010 35,973 – (4,676) (31,297) – 

F1 2008 31 Dec 2010 124,305 – (21,545) (102,760) – 

Deferred         

DI1 – DI3 2011 28 Feb 2014 – 277,057 (17,747) – 259,310 

H6 2010 7 Nov 2012 15,000 – – – 15,000 

H5 2010 7 Nov 2011 15,000 – – (15,000) – 

H2 2010 1 Mar 2013 290,964 – (36,629) (5,051) 249,284 

G3 2009 1 Mar 2012 114,377 – (31,706) – 82,671 

G2 2009 1 Mar 2012 159,155 – (18,020) (8,850) 132,285 

F2 2008 2 May 2011 67,883 – (3,308) (64,575) – 

   1,952,896 1,012,010 (377,149) (269,706) 2,318,051 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(b)  Executive Long -term I ncentive Programme (continued)  

The Company has not granted options over unissued shares under the Executive Long-term 
Incentive Programme since 2009.  The information as set out below relates to options issued under 
the Executive Long-term Incentive Programme in 2009 and earlier: 

 Year End of  Beginning    End  Exercisable  
 of  vesting  of the    of the  at end of  
Grant  grant  period  year  Lapsed  Exercised  year  the year  
   Number  Number  Number  Number  Number  

2012        

Performance         

G1 2009  31 Dec 2011 176,125 (176,125) – – – 

F5 2008 31 Dec 2012 131,976 – – 131,976 – 

F4 2008 31 Dec 2011 131,976 (131,976) – – – 

Deferred         

G2 2009 1 Mar 2012 54,621 – – 54,621 54,621 

Vested in prior years  4,108,376 – – 4,108,376 4,108,376 

   4,603,074 (308,101) – 4,294,973 4,162,997 

Weighted average exercise price ($) 12.69 15.90 N/A 12.46 12.31 

2011        

Performance        

G1 2009 31 Dec 2011 197,959 (21,834) – 176,125 – 

F5 2008 31 Dec 2012 131,976 – – 131,976 – 

F4 2008 31 Dec 2011 131,976 – – 131,976 – 

F3 2008 31 Dec 2010 94,193 (12,245) – 81,948 81,948 

F1 2008 31 Dec 2011 620,445 (137,097) – 483,348 483,348 

Deferred         

G2 2009 1 Mar 2012 65,717 (8,528) (2,568) 54,621 – 

F2 2008 1 May 2011 271,694 (22,064) – 249,630 249,630 

Vested in prior years  3,381,350 (24,800) (63,100) 3,293,450 3,293,450 

   4,895,310 (226,568) (65,668) 4,603,074 4,108,376 

Weighted average exercise price ($) 12.79 15.28 10.65 12.69 12.28 

The options outstanding at 31 December 2012 have an exercise price in the range of $8.46 to 
$17.36, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.95 years (2011: 5.1 years). 

During the year nil (2011: 65,668) options were exercised. 

The fair value of shares issued as a result of exercising options is the market price of shares of the 
Company on the ASX as at close of trading on their issue date. 

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group in relation to executive share 
options exercised during the financial year were: 

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Issued ordinary share capital – 699 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(b)  Executive Long -term I ncentive Programme (continued)  

Valuat ion of  SARs – Per form ance Aw ards 

The fair value of services received in return for SARs granted is measured by reference to the fair 
value of SARs granted.  The estimate of the fair value of the services received for the Performance 
Awards are measured based on a Monte Carlo simulation method.  The contractual life of the SARs 
is used as an input into this model.  Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into a Monte 
Carlo simulation method.  The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (ca lculated based 
on the weighted average remaining life of the share rights), adjusted for any expected changes to  
future volatility due to publicly available information.   

The following table includes the valuation assumptions used for Performance Awards SARs granted 
during the current and prior years :  

 2012  2011 

Performance Awards  J1 – J3 J4 – J6  I1– I3 I4 – I6 

Fair value at grant date ($)  9.97 10.45  10.23 12.08 

Share price on grant date ($)  14.08 14.08  16.28 16.28 

Exercise price ($) – –  – – 

Expected volatility (weighted average, %  p.a.) 29.8 30.1  46.6 46.6 

Right life (weighted average, years) 3.0 3.0  3.0 3.0 

Expected dividends (% p.a.) 2.1 2.1  2.3 2.3 

Risk-free interest rate (based on Commonwealth 
Government bond yields, % p.a.) 3.3 3.7  5.1 5.1 

Valuat ion of  SARs – Deferred Aw ards 

The estimate of the fair value of the services received for the Deferred Awards are measured by 
discounting the share price on the grant date using the assumed divid end yield for the term of the 
SAR.  

The following table includes the valuation assumptions used for Deferred Awards SARs granted 
during 2011.  No Deferred Awards SARs were granted during 2012.   

 2011 

Deferred Awards  DI1– DI3 

Fair value at grant date ($)  15.25 

Share price on grant date ($)  16.28 

Exercise price ($) – 

Right life (weighted average, years) 3.0 

Expected dividends (% p.a.) 2.3 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(b)  Executive Long -term I ncentive Programme (continued)  

Financial st at ement  ef fect  

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group during the financial year in relation 
to equity-settled share-based payment grants issued under the LTI Programme were: 

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Employee expenses:   

 SARs 8,983 8,011 

 Options 20 861 

 Total employee expenses 9,003 8,872 

 Retained earnings 9,003 8,872 

Cash-set t led share-based payment s 

As a result of the 2009 Entitlement Offer, issued at a 26.9% discount to the closing price of the 
shares before the announcement of the Entitlement Offer, the Board determined that for every 
unvested SAR and option as at the time of the Entitlement Offer, eligible senior executives would be 
entitled to a payment of $1.31 per SAR and option if and when those applicable SARs and options 
are converted to shares. 

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group during the financial year in relation 
to cash-settled share-based payment grants issued under the LTI Programme were: 

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Balance of liability at 1 January 2,051 2,112 

 Employee expenses 49 367 

 Revaluation (129) (107) 

 Cash payments (278) (321) 

 Balance of liability at 31 December  1,693 2,051 

 Intrinsic value of vested liability  1,604 1,543 
 
(c)  Santos Eastern Star Gas  Limited  Employee I ncentive Plan  

Santos acquired Eastern Star Gas Limited (“ESG”) in 2011.  Under the ESG employee incentive plan, 
eligible ESG employees were granted shares in ESG with interest-free loans extended for terms of 
up to five years.   The shares issued ranked equally with othe r issued ordinary shares and were not 
quoted on the ASX as they were subject to trading restrictions while there were loans outstanding 
(“ESG Plan Shares”). 

As part of the acquisition of ESG, Santos issued Santos ESG Plan Shares in respect of the ESG Plan 
Shares for the same consideration as ordinary ESG shares (i.e. 0.06881 Santos shares for each 
unquoted ESG Plan Share).  These Santos ESG Plan Shares are subject to the same terms and 
conditions as the ESG Plan Shares including trading restrictions until repayment of the loan balance 
and are not quoted on the ASX while there are loans outstanding.  Should the employees not repay 
the interest-free loans during the term period, they forfeit the shares, w hich will then be sold 
on-market.  The loans therefore have not been recognised as receivables.  Employees are entitled 
to dividends on these shares while the interest-free loans are outstanding. 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(c)  Santos Eastern Star Gas Limited Employee I ncentive Plan  (continued)  

Financial st at ement  ef fect  

On 17 November 2011, 2,002,362 shares were granted to eligible ESG employees at a weighted 
average exercise price of $7.82.  No further shares have been issued under this plan. 

In the period from 17  November 2011 to 31 December 2011, employee loans in respect of 
1,061,634 shares were repaid at a weighted average exercise price of $7.40, resulting in trading 
restrictions being lifted on those shares and an increase in the Company’s share capital.  During 
2012 a total of $5 million employee loans were repaid (2011: $10 million).  At 31 December 2012, 
loans were still outstanding in respect of 223,628 (2011:  940,728) shares at a weighted average 
exercise price of $11.37 (2011: $8.28).  The weighted average remaining contractual life for t he 
outstanding employee loans in respect of these shares is 2.2 years (2011: 1.2 years).  The range of 
exercise prices for shares outstanding at the end of the year was $9.01 to $15.26 (2011:  $4.65 to 
$15.26). 

Valuat ion of  Sant os ESG Plan Shares 

The fair value of services received in return for shares and interest-free loans granted is measured 
by reference to the fair value of shares granted.  The estimate of the fair value of the ser vices 
received for these shares and interest-free loans are measured based on a Monte Carlo simulation 
method.  The contractual life of the interest-free loan is used as an input into this model.  
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into a Monte Carlo simulation method.  The expected 
volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the w eighted average remaining life 
of the share rights), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly 
available information.  

The following table includes the valuation assumptions used for shares and interest-free loans 
granted as part of the ESG acquisition: 

Santos ESG Plan Shares  2011 

Grant date 28 Oct 2011 

Share price on grant date ($)  13.20 

Expected volatility (weighted average, % p.a.) 41.0 

Expected dividends (% p.a.) 2.7 

Risk-free interest rate (based on Commonwealth Government bond yields, % p.a.) 3.9 – 4.3  
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(d)  2012-2015 Four -year Strategy Grant  

During the financial year the Company granted 205,339 (2011: nil) SARs to the CEO under the 
Santos Employee Equity Incentive Plan (“SEEIP”) , referred to as the 2012 -2015 four-year strategy 
grant.  The issue of SARs under this arrangement was approved by Shareholders at the 2012 
Annual General Meeting. 

As described more fully in the Notice of Meeting to the 2012  AGM, the award is split into five equal 
tranches with separate performance targets that relate to:  

�x GLNG Start-Up – loading of first LNG cargo on or before 30 June 2015; 
�x GLNG Cost – project cost within or under budget;  
�x Production Growth – targeting 77 mmboe or more by 31 December 2015;  
�x Reserves Growth – targeting 2P reserve/production cover of 18 years or more at  31 December 

2015; and 
�x Operations Integrity – maintaining an annual score of 90% or more against various 

environmental health and safety metrics while ensuring no High Impact  or Critical Environment 
incidents occur over the 2012-2015 period. 

The SARs have been granted at no cost, and no amount is payable on vesting of the SARs if the 
performance conditions are met.  Each SAR entitles the CEO to one fully paid ordinary share which 
will rank equally with shares in the same class or, at the discretion of the Board, cash to the same 
value.  Performance testing will occur in 2016. 

The SARs carry no voting or dividend rights unless and until they vest and are converted into 
shares. 

Valuat ion of  SARs 

The estimate of the fair value of the services received for the award is measured by discounting the 
share price on the grant date using the assumed dividend yield fo r the term of the SARs.  

The following table includes the valuation assumptions used for 2012-2015 four-year strategy grant 
granted during the current year:  

2012-2015 four -year strategy grant  2012 

Fair value at grant date ($)  10.57 

Share price on grant date ($)  11.57 

Exercise price ($) – 

Right life (weighted average, years) 3.5 

Expected dividends (% p.a.) 2.59 

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group during the financial year in relation 
to the 2012-2015 four year Strategy Grant were: 

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Employee expenses 375 – 

 Retained earnings 375 – 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  
 
(e)  Legacy Plan – general employees  

SESAP 

The SESAP, governed by the Santos Employee Share Acquisition Plan Rules (“SESAP Rules”), was 
replaced by the Share1000 Plan (also governed by the SESAP Rules) and the ShareMatch Plan in 
2010.  No shares have been issued pursuant to the SESAP since 2009. 

The SESAP enabled permanent eligible employees with at least one year of completed service to 
acquire shares under the plan.  Senior Executives who reported directly to the CEO and Managing 
Director, participants in the LTI Programme, casual employees and Directors of the Company were 
excluded from participating in this plan.  Employees were not eligible to participate under the plan 
while they were resident overseas unless the Board decided otherwise. 

The SESAP provided for the grants of fully paid ordinary shares up to a value of $1,000 per annum 
per eligible employee.  A trustee funded by the Group acquired shares directly from the Company.  
The trustee held the shares on behalf of the participants in the plan until the shares were no longer 
subject to restrictions.  Current restrictions on remaining shar es held in trust for SESAP ended in 
2012. 

The employee’s ownership of shares allocated under the SESAP, and his or her right to deal with 
them, were subject to restrictions until the earlier of the expiration of the restriction period 
determined by the Board (being three years) and the  time when he or she ceases to be an 
employee.  During the restriction period, participants were entitled to receive dividends, participate 
in bonus and rights issues and instruct the trustee as t o the exercise of voting rights.  At the end of 
the restriction period, shares were transferred to eligible employees at no cost to the  employee. 

At 31 December 2012, the total number of shares acquired under the plan since it s commencement 
was 2,408,566. 
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

( f)  Legacy Plan – executives  

Sant os Execut ive Share Plan 

The Santos Executive Share Plan (“SESP”) operated between 1987 and 1997, when it was 
discontinued.  Under the terms of the SESP, shares were issued as partly paid to one cent.  While 
partly paid, the plan shares are not transferable, carry no voting right and no entitlement to 
dividend but are entitled to participate in any bonus or rights iss ue.  After a “vesting” period, calls 
could be made for the balance of the issue price of the shares, which varied between $2.00 and the 
market price of the shares on the date of the call being mad e.  Shares were issued principally on: 
22 December 1987; 7 February and 5 December 1989; and 24 December 1990.  

At the beginning of the financial year there were 8 3,000 SESP shares on issue.  During the financial 
year, 28,500 (2011: nil)  SESP shares were fully paid and $87,690 (2011: nil) was received by the 
Company.  During 2011, no SESP shares converted to ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2012 
there were 54,500 (2011: 83,000) plan shares outstanding. 

Sant os Execut ive Share Purchase Plan  

The Santos Executive Share Purchase Plan (“SESEP”) operated in 2003 and 2004, governed by the 
executive long-term component of the Santos Employee Share Purchase Plan rules.  No shares have 
been issued under the SESEP since 2004.  At 31 December 2012, the total number of shares 
acquired under SESEP since its commencement was 220,912. 

The shares allocated pursuant to the SESEP were allotted to a trustee at no cost to participants, to 
be held on their behalf.  

In general, the shares were restricted for a period of one ye ar from the date of allotment.  If a 
participating executive ceased employment during this period, the Board, in it s discretion, could 
determine that a lesser restriction on transfer and dealing app lied, having regard to the 
circumstances of the cessation.  At 31 December 2012, 30,430 shares (2011: 35,725) remain on 
trust until December 2013 or July 2014, applicable to the 2003 and 2004 grants respectively.  
During this time, the shares are subject to forfeiture if par ticipants act fraudulently or dishonestly or 
in breach of their obligations to any Group c ompany.  During the period the shares are held on 
trust,  participants are entitled to receive dividends, participate in bonus and rights issues and 
instruct the trustee as to the exercise of voting rights.  
 

(g)  Non -executive Director Share Plan  

In accordance with shareholder approval given at the 2007 Annual General Meeting, the 
Non-executive Director (“NED”) Share Plan was introduced in July 2007.  In 2010 and earlier years,  
Directors who participated in the NED Share Plan elected to sacrifice all or part of their fees in 
return for an allocation of fully paid ordinary shares of equivale nt value.  The NED Share Plan 
therefore did not involve any additional remuneration for participating Directors . 

Shares were allocated quarterly and were either issued as new shares or purchased on the ASX at 
the prevailing market price.  The shares are registered in the name of the participating D irector, but 
are subject to a restriction on dealing.  In the absence of exceptional circumstances, the restriction 
will apply until the Director ceases to hold office or until ten yea rs have elapsed since the allocation 
of the shares, whichever is earlier. 

The NED Share Plan was suspended in 2011 and closed in 2012. Accordingly, no Non-executive 
Directors participated in the NED Share Plan in 2012 or 2011 and no shares were allocated under 
the plan in those years. A total of 72,137 shares were allocated to NEDs during the life of the NED 
Share Plan, of which as at 31 December 2012, 46,279 (2011: 46,279) are still subject to r estrictions, 
for periods up to 2020.  
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30. Share -based Payment Plans  (continued)  

(h)  Amounts recognised in the financial statements  

The amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Group during the financial year in relation 
to shares issued under employee share plans are as follows: 

  2012 2011 
 Note $000 $000 

Statement of financial position:     

Current general employee share plans – ShareMatch 
Plan 30(a) 5,379 8,478 

Executive long-term incentive programme:     

Share options 30(b) – 699 

Cash-settled 30(b) 80 (260) 

Acquisition of Eastern Star Gas Limited  30(c) – 13,767 

  5,459 22,684 

Issued capital:    

Current general employee share plans:     

Share1000 Plan 30(a) 1,539 2,275 

ShareMatch Plan 30(a) 5,379 8,478 

Executive long-term incentive programme – share 
options 30(b) – 699 

  6,918 11,452 

Retained earnings:    

Current general employee share plans – matched SARs 30(a) 3,651 2,196 

Executive long-term incentive programme – 
equity-settled 30(b) 9,003 8,872 

Acquisition of Eastern Star Gas Limited 30(c) – 13,767 

CEO four-year strategy grant  30(d) 375 – 

  13,029 24,835 

Employee expenses:     

Current general employee share plans:    

Share1000 Plan 30(a) (1,539) (2,275) 

Matched SARs 30(a) (3,651) (2,196) 

Executive long-term incentive programme:     

Equity-settled 30(b) (9,003) (8,872) 

CEO four-year strategy grant  30(d) (375) – 

Cash-settled 30(b) 80 (260) 

  (14,488) (13,603) 

  5,459 22,684 
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31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  

(a)  Key management personnel compensation  

  2012 2011 
  $000 $000 

 Short-term employee benefits 11,210 10,547 

 Post-employment benefits 211 234 

 Other long-term benefits 163 223 

 Share-based payments 3,772 2,521 

  15,356 13,525 
 

(b)  Loans to key management personnel  

There have been no loans made, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly, by the Group or any 
of its subsidiaries at any time throughout the year to any key management person, including their 
related parties. 
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31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  (continued)  

(c)  Equity holdings of key management personnel  

Options and SARs holdings  

The movement during the reporting period in the number of options and SARs over ordinary shares of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by 
each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

            Vested  Vested  
    Options         and  but not  
 Balance at    exercised/      Balance at   Vested at  exercisable  exercisable  
 beginning    rights   Other   Sold/  end of   end of  at end of  at end of  
 of the year  Granted  1 vested  2 changes  3 transferred  the year  4 the year  the year  The year  

2012              

Options               

Direct ors              

Knox, David John Wissler 521,464 –  – 
 

(131,976) 
 – 389,488  257,512 257,512 – 

Execut ives              

Anderson, John Hugh 117,693 –  – 
 – 

 – 117,693  117,693 117,693 – 

Baulderstone, James Leslie 86,238 –  – 
 – 

 – 86,238  86,238 86,238 – 

Brown, Trevor – –  – 
 

37,137 
 – 37,137  37,137 37,137 – 

Cleary, Peter John – –  – 
 – 

 – –  – – – 

Eames, Martyn Edward James 71,662 –  – 
 – 

 – 71,662  71,662 71,662 – 

Macfarlane, Mark Stuart 102,684 –  – 
 

(102,684) 
 – –  – – – 

Seaton, Andrew John 22,213 –  – 
 – 

 – 22,213  22,213 22,213 – 

Total  921,954 –  – 
 

(197,523) 
 – 724,431  592,455 592,455 – 

SARs              

Direct ors              

Knox, David John Wissler 258,038 399,274  – 
 

(50,403) 
 – 606,909  – – – 

Execut ives              

Anderson, John Hugh 65,040 40,274  (4,168) 
 

(13,359) 
 – 87,787  – – – 

Baulderstone, James Leslie 87,806 42,737  (5,057) 
 

(13,450) 
 – 112,036  – – – 

Brown, Trevor – –  – 
 

83,275 
 – 83,275  – – – 

Cleary, Peter John 44,084 40,843  – 
 – 

 – 84,927  – – – 

Eames, Martyn Edward James 71,473 42,777  (4,471) 
 

(15,744) 
 – 94,035  – – – 

Macfarlane, Mark Stuart 84,278 41,447  (4,152) 
 

(121,573) 
 – –  – – – 

Seaton, Andrew John 45,869 44,302  (3,948) 
 

(5,982) 
 – 80,241  – – – 

Total  656,588 651,654  (21,796) 
 

(137,236) 
 – 1,149,210  – – – 
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31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  (continued)  

(c)  Equity holdings of key management personnel  (continued)  

Options and SARs holdings (continued)  

1. SARs granted to executives including the Managing Director on 1 March 2012 for the 2012 LTI Performance Grant and a further Strategy Grant to the Managing Director granted on 
3 May 2012 in accordance with shareholder approval on that date.  

2. Each SAR vested results in the issue of one ordinary share of the Company to the recipient.  There are no amounts unpaid on the shares issued as a result of the vesting of SARs. 

3. Other changes include: 

(i)  Options and SARs which did not vest due to non-fulfilment of  vesting conditions and were forfeited during the year;  

(ii)  Mr TJ Brown held 37,137 options and 83,275 SARs when he was appointed as a key management person on 6 August 2012; and 

(iii) Mr MS Macfarlane ceased to be a key management person on 5 August 2012. 

4. These balances are unchanged since the end of the financial year. 

Details regarding the service and performance conditions that must be met before the options and SARs vest with the recipient are included in note 30(b).  
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31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  (continued)  

(c)  Equity holdings of key management personnel  (continued)  

Options and SARs holdings (continued)  

The movement during the reporting period in the number of options and SARs over ordinary shares of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by 
each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

            Vested  Vested  
    Options         and  but not  
 Balance at    exercised/      Balance at   Vested at  exercisable  exercisable  
 beginning    rights   Other   Sold/  end of   end of  at end of  at end of  
 of the year  Granted  1 vested  2 changes  3 transferred  the year   the year  the year  The year  

2011              

Options               

Direct ors              

Knox, David John Wissler 544,974 –  – 
 

(23,510) 
 – 521,464  257,512 257,512 – 

Execut ives              

Anderson, John Hugh 123,637 –  – 
 

(5,944) 
 – 117,693  117,693 117,693 – 

Baulderstone, James Leslie 91,678 –  – 
 

(5,440) 
 – 86,238  86,238 86,238 – 

Cleary, Peter John – –  – 
 – 

 – –  – – – 

Eames, Martyn Edward James 78,667 –  – 
 

(7,005) 
 – 71,662  71,662 71,662 – 

Macfarlane, Mark Stuart – –  – 
 

102,684 
 – 102,684  102,684 102,684 – 

Seaton, Andrew John – –  – 
 

22,213 
 – 22,213  22,213 22,213 – 

Wilkinson, Richard John – –  – 
 – 

 – –  – – – 

Total  838,956 –  – 
 

82,998 
 – 921,954  658,002 658,002 – 

SARs              

Direct ors              

Knox, David John Wissler 136,779 157,232  (31,297) 
 

(4,676) 
 – 258,038  – – – 

Execut ives              

Anderson, John Hugh 41,087 23,953  – 
 – 

 – 65,040  – – – 

Baulderstone, James Leslie 62,303 25,503  – 
 – 

 – 87,806  – – – 

Cleary, Peter John 20,000 24,084  – 
 – 

 – 44,084  – – – 

Eames, Martyn Edward James 46,458 25,015  – 
 – 

 – 71,473  – – – 

Macfarlane, Mark Stuart – –  – 
 

84,278 
 – 84,278  – – – 

Seaton, Andrew John – 22,929  – 
 

22,940 
 – 45,869  – – – 

Wilkinson, Richard John 61,874 23,776  (15,751) 
 

(69,899) 
 – –  – – – 

Total  368,501 302,492  (47,048) 
 

32,643 
 – 656,588  – – – 
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31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  (continued)  

(c)  Equity holdings of key management personnel  (continued)  

Options and SARs holdings (continued)  

1. SARs granted to executives were granted on 1 March 2011. 

2. Each SAR vested results in the issue of one ordinary share of the Company to the recipient.  There are no amounts unpaid on the shares issued as a result of the vesting of SARs. 

3. Other changes include: 

(i)  Options and SARs which did not vest due to non-fulfilment of vesting conditions and were forfeited during the ye ar; 

(ii)  Mr MS Macfarlane held 102,684 options and 84,278 SARs when he was appointed as a key management person on 20 May 2011;  

(iii)  Mr AJ Seaton held 24,784 options and 22,940 SARs when he was appointed as a key management person on 1 January 2011; 2,661 of these options were subsequently forfeited ; 
and  

(iv) Mr RJ Wilkinson ceased to be a key management person on 3 July 2011.  

Details regarding the service and performance conditions that must be met before the options and SARs vest with the recipient are included in note  30(b).  
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31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  (continued)  

(c)  Equity holdings of key management personnel  (continued)  

Share holdings  

The movement during the reporting period in the number of shares of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by ea ch key management person, 
including their related parties, is as follows:  

        Balance held  
 Balance at  Received on      Balance  nominally  
 beginning  vesting of  Purchased   Other   at end  at end  
 of the year  SARs on -market  Sold  changes  1 of the year  of the year  

2012         

Ordinary shares – fully paid          

Direct ors         

Borda, Kenneth Charles 72,532 – – – 1,788  74,320 – 

Coates, Peter Roland 31,985 – 4,330 – 789  37,104 – 

Dean, Kenneth Alfred 15,956 – – – 393  16,349 – 

Franklin, Roy Alexander – – 3,500 – 47  3,547 – 

Goh, Hock2 – – – – –  – – 

Harding, Richard Michael 2,580 – – – 63  2,643 – 

Hemstritch, Jane Sharman 14,000 – – – –  14,000 – 

Knox, David John Wissler 93,749 – – – 306  94,055 – 

Martin, Gregory John Walton 10,750 – – – –  10,750 – 
Execut ives         

Anderson, John Hugh 53,626 4,168 – – –  57,794 – 

Baulderstone, James Leslie 24,600 5,057 – – –  29,657 – 

Brown, Trevor John – – – – 386,669  386,669 – 

Cleary, Peter John – – – – –  – – 

Eames, Martyn Edward James 61,780 4,471 – – –  66,251 – 

Macfarlane, Mark Stuart 38,207 4,152 – – (42,359)  – – 

Seaton, Andrew John 16,841 3,948 – – 56  20,845 – 

Total  436,606 21,796 7,830 – 347,752  813,984 – 

1. Other changes include: 
(i)  Dividend Reinvestment Plan allocations; 
(ii)  Mr TJ Brown held 386,669 shares when he became a key management person on 6 August 2012; and 

(iii)  Mr MS Macfarlane ceased to be a key management person on 5 August 2012. 
2. Mr H Goh was appointed on 22 October 2012.  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 

109 

31. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  (continued)  

(c)  Equity holdings of key management personnel  (continued)  

Share holdings (continued)  

The movement during the reporting period in the number of shares of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by ea ch key management person, 
including their related parties, is as follows:  

        Balance held  
 Balance at  Received on      Balance  nominally  
 beginning  vesting of  Purchased   Other   at end  at end  
 of the year  SARs on -market  Sold  changes  1 of the year  of the year  

2011         

Ordinary shares – fully paid          

Direct ors         

Borda, Kenneth Charles 68,835 – 2,000 – 1,697  72,532 – 

Coates, Peter Roland 27,121 – 4,330 – 534  31,985 – 

Dean, Kenneth Alfred 15,583 – – – 373  15,956 – 

Franklin, Roy Alexander – – – – –  – – 

Harding, Richard Michael 2,519 – – – 61  2,580 – 

Hemstritch, Jane Sharman 14,000 – – – –  14,000 – 

Knox, David John Wissler 53,664 31,297 8,700 – 88  93,749 – 

Martin, Gregory John Walton 10,750 – – – –  10,750 – 

Execut ives         

Anderson, John Hugh 53,626 – – – –  53,626 – 

Baulderstone, James Leslie 24,600 – – – –  24,600 – 

Cleary, Peter John 1,971 – – (1,971) –  – – 

Eames, Martyn Edward James 61,780 – – – –  61,780 – 

Macfarlane, Mark Stuart – – – – 38,207  38,207 – 

Seaton, Andrew John – – – – 16,841  16,841 – 

Wilkinson, Richard John 93,288 15,751 – – (109,039)  – – 

Total  427,737 47,048 15,030 (1,971) (51,238)  436,606 – 

1. Other changes include: 

(i)  Dividend Reinvestment Plan allocations; 

(ii)  Mr MS Macfarlane held 38,207 shares when he became a key management person on 20 May 2011; 

(iii)  Mr AJ Seaton held 16,789 shares when he became a key management person on 1 January 2011.  A further 52 shares were acquired through the D ividend Reinvestment Plan; and 

(iv)  Mr RJ Wilkinson ceased to be a key management person on 3 July 2011.  
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32. Related Parties  
 
I dentity of related parties  

Santos Limited and its controlled entities engage in a variety of related part y transactions in the ordinary 
course of business.  These transactions are conducted on normal terms and conditions. 

Details of related party transactions and amounts are set out in:  

�x note 10 as to amounts owing from other related entities;  

�x notes 17 and 36 as to Santos Limited’s parent company financial guarantees provided for its 
controlled entities;  

�x note 24 as to its controlled entities;   

�x note 26 as to interests in an associate;  

�x note 27 as to interests in joint ventures; and  

�x note 31 as to disclosures relating to key management personnel. 
 

  2012 2011 
33. Remuneration of Auditors  $000 $000 

 The auditor of Santos Limited is Ernst & Young.   

 (a)  Audit and review services    

 

Amounts received or due and receivable for an audit or review of 
the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the G roup 
by:   

 Ernst & Young (Australia) 1,690 1,600 

 Overseas network firms of Ernst & Young (Australia) 211 166 

 Overseas other audit firms – 8 

  1,901 1,774 

 (b)  Other services    

 
Amounts received or due and receivable for other services in 
relation to the entity and any other entity in the Group by:    

 
Ernst & Young (Australia) for other assurance, taxation and other 

services 582 611 

 
Overseas network firms of Ernst & Young (Australia) for t axation 

services 57 22 

  639 633 

  2,540 2,407 
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  2012 2011 
34. Commitments for Expenditure  $million  $million 

 The Group has the following commitments for expenditure:    

 (a)  Capital commitments    

 
Capital expenditure contracted for at reporting date  for which no 
amounts have been provided in the financial statements, payable:    

 Not later than one year  2,248 2,346 

 Later than one year but not later than five years  822 1,879 

 Later than five years 82 – 

  3,152 4,225 

 (b)  Minimum exploration commitments    

 

Minimum exploration commitments for which no amounts have 
been provided in the financial statements or capital commitments, 
payable:   

 Not later than one year  104 69 

 Later than one year but not later than five years  166 203 

 Later than five years – – 

  270 272 

 

The Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration 
work and expend minimum amounts of money pursuant to the 
terms of the granting of petroleum exploration permits in order  to 
maintain rights of tenure.  

These commitments may be varied as a result of renegotiations of 
the terms of the exploration permits, licences or contra cts or 
alternatively upon their relinquishment.  The minimum exploration 
commitments are less than the normal level of exploration 
expenditures expected to be undertaken by the Group.   

 ( c)  Operating lease commitments    

 Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:   

 Not later than one year  128 124 

 Later than one year but not later than five years  282 396 

 Later than five years 389 421 

  799 941 

The Group leases floating production, storage and offtake facilities, floating storage offloading facilities , 
LNG carriers and mobile offshore production units under operating leases.  The leases typically run for a 
period of four to six years, and may have an op tion to renew after that time.  

The Group also leases building office space and a warehouse under operating leases.  The leases are 
generally for a period of ten years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.  The lease 
payments typically increase annually by the Consumer Price Index.  

During the year ended 31 December 2012 the Group recognised $85 million (2011: $82 million) as an 
expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases. 
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  2012 2011 
34. Commitments for Expenditure  (continued)  $million  $million 

 (d)  Finance lease commitments    

 Finance lease commitments are payable as follows:   

 Not later than one year  1 1 

 Later than one year but not later than five years  1 2 

 Later than five years – – 

 Total minimum lease payments 2 3 

 

The Group has finance leases for various items of plant and 
equipment with a carrying amount of $ 1 million (2011: $2 million).  
The leases generally have terms of between three to twelve years 
with no escalation clauses and no option to renew.  Title to the 
assets passes to the Group at the expiration of the relevant lease 
periods.   

 (e)  Remuneration commitments    

 

Commitments for the payment of salaries and other remuneration 
under the long-term employment contracts in existence at the 
reporting date but not recognised in liabilities, payable:    

 Not later than one year  6 6 

Amounts included as remuneration commitments include commitments arising from the service 
contracts of Directors and executives referred to in the Remuneration Report of the Directors’ Report 
that are not recognised as liabilities and are not included in the co mpensation of key management 
personnel.  
 

( f)  Commitmen t on removal of shareholder cap  

Pursuant to a Deed of Undertaking to the Premier of South Australia dated 16 October 2007 and as a 
consequence of the enactment of the Santos Limited (Deed of Undertaking) Act 2007 on 
29 November 2007, Santos has agreed to: 

�x continue to make payments under its existing Social Responsibility and Community Benefits 
Programme specified in the deed totalling $60 million over a ten-year period from the date the 
legislation was enacted.  As at 31 December 2012, approximately $26 million (2011: $32 million) 
remains to be paid over the remainder of the ten -year period through to 29  November 2017.  

�x continue to maintain the South Australian Cooper Basin asset’s Head Office and Operational 
Headquarters together with other roles in South Australia for ten years subsequent to the date the 
legislation was enacted.  At 31 December 2012, if this condition had not been met, the Company 
would have been liable to pay approximately $50 million (2011: $60 million) to the State 
Government of South Australia. 

Santos is required to make these payments only if the State Government of South Australia does not 
reintroduce a shareholder cap on the Company’s shares or introduce any other restriction on or in 
respect of the Company’s Board or senior management which have an adverse discriminatory effect in 
their application to the Company relative to other companies domiciled in South Australia. 
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35. Contingent Liabilit ies  

Native t it le  

A number of the Australian interests of the Group are located within areas which are the subject of one or 
more claims or applications for native title determination.  What ever the outcome of those claims or 
applications, it is not believed that they will significantly impact the Group’s asset base.  Compliance with the 
“future act” provisions of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) can delay the grant of mineral and petroleum 
tenements and consequently impact generally the timing of exploration,  development and production 
operations.  An assessment of the impact upon the timing of  particular operations may require consideration 
and determination of complex legal and factual issues. 

 

36. Parent Entity Disclosures  

Selected financial information of the ultimate parent entity  in the Group, Santos Limited, is as follows: 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Net profit for the period  284 348 

    

 Total comprehensive income 285 340 

 Current assets 2,490 3,642 

 Total assets 12,349 11,940 

 Current liabilities 1,568 1,327 

 Total liabilities 4,930 4,751 

 Issued capital 6,608 6,392 

 Retained earnings 811 797 

 Total equity  7,419 7,189 

 (a)  Commitments of the parent entity    

 
The parent entity’s capital expenditure commitments and minimum 
exploration commitments are:    

 Capital expenditure commitments 186 144 

 Minimum exploration commitments 2 5 
 
(b)  Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in rel ation to the debts of its subsidiaries  

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings, as disclosed in note 17, with the exception of the finance 
leases, are arranged mainly through Santos Finance Ltd which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Santos 
Limited.  All interest-bearing loans and borrowings are guaranteed by Santos Limited. 

 
( c)  Contingent liabilit ies of the parent entity  

A number of the Australian interests of Santos Limited are located within areas which are the subject of 
one or more claims or applications for native title determi nation.  Whatever the outcome of those claims 
or applications, it is not believed that they will significantly imp act the Group’s asset base.  Compliance 
with the “future act” provisions of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) can delay the grant of mineral and 
petroleum tenements and consequently impact generally the timing of exploration, development and 
production operations.  An assessment of the impact upon the t iming of particular operations may 
require consideration and determination of complex legal and factual issues. 
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37. Deed of Cross Guarantee  

Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, the wholly -owned subsidiaries listed below are relieved from the 
Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of their financ ial reports. 

As a condition of the Class Order, the Company and each of the listed subsidiaries (“the Closed Group”) have 
entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee (“Deed”).  The effect of the Deed is that the Company has 
guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of a ny of the subsidiaries under certain 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  The subsidiaries have also given a similar guarantee in the event 
that the Company is wound up.  

The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are: 

�x Alliance Petroleum Australia Pty Ltd; 

�x Basin Oil Pty Ltd;  

�x Bridge Oil Developments Pty Ltd; 

�x Reef Oil Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos (BOL) Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos Darwin LNG Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos (NARNL Cooper) Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos Offshore Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos Petroleum Management Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos Petroleum Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos QNT Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos QNT (No. 1) Pty Ltd; 

�x Santos QNT (No. 2) Pty Ltd; and 

�x Vamgas Pty Ltd. 

Basin Oil Pty Ltd was added as a party to the Deed during the year.  Santos Petroleum Management Pty Ltd 
executed a Revocation Deed which was lodged with ASIC on 21 December 2012.  It will cease to be a party 
to the Deed six months after th at date. 
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37. Deed of Cross Guarantee  (continued)  

Set out below is a consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2012 of the 
Closed Group: 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Consolidated income statement    

 Product sales 2,613 2,380 

 Cost of sales (2,028) (1,858) 

 Gross profit  585 522 

 Other revenue 223 338 

 Other income 20 365 

 Other expenses (394) (542) 

 Interest income 136 184 

 Finance expenses (126) (234) 

 Profit before tax  444 633 

 Income tax expense (97) (124) 

 Royalty-related taxation expense (41) (51) 

 Total taxation expense (138) (175) 

 Net profit  for the period  306 458 

 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income    

 Net profit  for the period  306 458 

 Other comprehensive income, net of tax:    

 Net exchange (loss)/gain on translation of foreign operations  (3) 1 

 Net actuarial gain/( loss) on defined benefit plan 1 (10) 

 Total comprehensive income  304 449 

 Summary of movements in Closed Group’s retained ear nings    

 Retained earnings at 1 January 1,168 958 

 
Adjustment to retained earnings for company added to Deed during 
the year 24 – 

 Net profit for the period  306 458 

 Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plan 1 (10) 

 Dividends to shareholders (285) (263) 

 Share-based payment transactions 13 25 

 Retained earnings at 31  December  1,227 1,168 
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37. Deed of Cross Guarantee  (continued)  

Set out below is a consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012 of the Closed Group: 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Current assets    

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,968 3,143 

 Trade and other receivables 1,131 1,072 

 Inventories  266 252 

 Other financial assets 3 8 

 Tax receivable – 12 

 Total current assets  3,368 4,487 

 Non -current assets    

 Receivables 30 25 

 Other financial assets 3,162 3,237 

 Exploration and evaluation assets 670 617 

 Oil and gas assets 5,213 4,744 

 Other land, buildings, plant and equipment  173 147 

 Deferred tax assets 11 4 

 Total non -current assets  9,259 8,774 

 Total assets  12,627 13,261 

 Current liabilit ies    

 Trade and other payables 619 550 

 Deferred income 28 38 

 Tax liabilities 82 95 

 Provisions 170 139 

 Total current liabilit ies  899 822 

 Non -current liabilit ies    

 Deferred income 4 – 

 Interest -bearing loans and borrowings 2,372 3,699 

 Deferred tax liabilities 236 266 

 Provisions 1,295 926 

 Other non-current liabilities 7 6 

 Total non -current liabilit ies  3,914 4,897 

 Total liabilit ies  4,813 5,719 

 Net assets  7,814 7,542 

 Equity    

 Issued capital 6,608 6,392 

 Reserves (21) (18) 

 Retained earnings 1,227 1,168 

 Total equity  7,814 7,542 
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38. Financial Risk Management  

Exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arises 
in the normal course of the Group’s business.  The Group’s overall financial risk management strategy is to 
seek to ensure that the Group is able to fund its corporate objectives and meet its obligations  to 
stakeholders.  Derivative financial instruments may be used to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. 

The Group uses various methods to measure the types of financial risk to which it is exposed.  These 
methods include Cash Flow at Risk analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and commodity 
price risk, and ageing analysis for credit risk. 

Financial risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (“Treasury”) which operates under 
Board-approved policies.  The policies govern the framework and principles for overall risk management and 
covers specific financial risks, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk, approved 
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments, and liquidity management.  
 
(a)  Foreign currency risk  

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions and valuations in assets and liabilities that 
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s fu nctional currency.  The risk is measured using 
cash flow forecasting and Cash Flow at Risk analysis.  

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk principally through the sale of products denominated in 
US dollars, borrowings denominated in US dollars and Euros and foreign currency capital and operating 
expenditure.  In order to economically hedge foreign currency risk , the Group from time to time enter s 
into forward foreign exchange, foreign currency swap and fore ign currency option contracts.  

All foreign currency denominated borrowings of Australian dollar (“AUD”) functi onal currency companies 
are either designated as a hedge of US dollar denominated investments in foreign operations 
(2012: US$896 million; 2011: US$934 million), or  swapped using cross-currency swaps to US dollars and 
designated as a hedge of US dollar denominated investments in foreign operations 
(2012: US$1,410 million; 2011: $1,410 million).  As a result, there were no net foreign currency gains or 
losses arising from translation of US dollar denominated borrowings recognised in the income statement 
in 2012. 

Monetary items, including financial assets and liabilities, denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency of an operation , are periodically restated to Australian dollar equivalents, and the 
associated gain or loss is taken to the income statement.  The exception is foreign exchange gains or 
losses on foreign currency provisions for restoration at operating sites which are capitalised in oil and 
gas assets.  

Based on the Group’s net financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2012, the following table 
demonstrates the estimated sensitivity to a ± 13 cent movement in the US dollar exchange rate 
(2011: ±17 cent) and a ±9 cent movement in the Euro exchange rate (2011: ±9 cent) with all other 
variables held constant, on post-tax profit and equity:  

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Impact on post -tax profit:    

 AUD/USD + 13 cents (2011: +17  cents) 22 (26) 

 AUD/USD –13 cents (2011: –17 cents) (22) 26 

 AUD/EUR +9 cents (2011: +9 cents) – – 

 AUD/EUR –9 cents (2011: –9 cents) – – 

 Impact on equity:    

 AUD/USD + 13 cents (2011: +17  cents) 22 (26) 

 AUD/USD –13 cents (2011: –17 cents) (22) 26 

 AUD/EUR +9 cents (2011: +9 cents) – – 

 AUD/EUR –9 cents (2011: –9 cents) – – 
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38. Financial Risk Management  (continued)  

(a)  Foreign currency risk  (continued)  

The above sensitivity will vary depending on the Group’s financial asset and liability profile over time.  
The ± 13 cent sensitivity in the US dollar exchange rate and ± 9 cent sensitivity in the Euro exchange 
rate is the Group’s estimate of reasonably possible changes over the following financial year, based on 
recent volatility experienced in the market.  
 

(b)  Market risk  

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk  

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from its borrowings.  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.  Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk.  

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that the majority of its  exposure to changes in interest rates on 
borrowings is on a floating rate basis.  Interest rate swaps, denominate d in Australian dollars and US 
dollars, have been entered into as fair value hedges of medium-term notes, long-term notes and 
subordinated debt, respectively.  When transacted, these swaps had maturities ranging from 1 to 20 
years, aligned with the maturity of the related notes.  At 31  December 2012, the Group had interest rate 
swaps with a notional contract amount of $ 763 million (2011: $859 million).  

The net fair value of swaps at 31  December 2012 was $182 million (2011: $181 million), comprising 
assets of $182 million and liabilities of $nil (2011: assets of $181 million and liabilities of nil).  These 
amounts were recognised as fair value derivatives. 

Based on the net debt position as at 31 December 2012, taking into account interest rate swaps, it is 
estimated that if US London Inter bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) interest rates changed by ±0.30% 
(2011: ± 0.42%), Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) by ± 1.29% (2011: ± 0.61%) and Australian 
Bank Bill Swap reference rate (“BBSW”) by ± 1.47% (2011: ± 0.65%), with all other variables held 
constant, the impact on post -tax profit and equity would be:  

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Impact on post -tax profit as a result of changing interest rates:    

 
US +0.30%/EU  +1.29%/AU  +1.47%  
(2011: US +0.42%/EU  +0.61%/AU  +0.65%)  21 8 

 
US –0.30%/EU –1.29%/AU –1.47% 
(2011: US –0.42%/EU –0.61%/AU –0.65%)  (21) (8) 

 Impact on equity  as a result of changing interest rates:    

 
US +0.30%/EU  +1.29%/AU  +1.47%  
(2011: US +0.42%/EU  +0.61%/AU  +0.65%)  21 8 

 
US –0.30%/EU –1.29%/AU –1.47% 
(2011: US –0.42%/EU –0.61%/AU –0.65%) (21) (8) 

This assumes that the change in interest rates is effective from the beginning of the financial year and 
the net debt position and fixed/floating mix is constant over the year.  However, interest rates and the 
debt profile of the Group are unlikely to remain constant and the refore the above sensitivity analysis will 
be subject to change. 

The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s reasonable estimate of changes in interest rates over 
the following financial year and reflects annual interest rate volatilit y.  Changes in interest rates over the 
following year may be greater or less than  the US LIBOR ±0.30%, EURIBOR ±1. 29% and the Australian 
BBSW ±1. 47% sensitivity employed in the estimates above. 
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38. Financial Risk Management  (continued)  

(b)  Market risk (continued)  

Cash flow hedge accounting  

The Group has issued €1,000 million subordinated notes with an average fixed interest rate of 8.25%.  

In order to reduce the variability of the Australian dollar cas h flows arising from the Euro principal and 
interest payments to September 2017, the Group entered into cross-currency interest rate swap 
contracts in March 2011, under which it has a right to receive interest at fixed Euro rates and  pay 
interest at floating US dollar interest rates.  These contracts are in place to cover all remaining principal 
and interest payments on €950 million of the subordinated notes.  The Euro rates were fixed at 8.25% 
and the fixed US dollar margins range between 5.18% and 5.349%.  

€50 million of the subordinated notes have been swapped to a fixed US dollar interest rate of 8.48% for 
seven years. 

The cross-currency interest rate swap contracts are recognised at fair value and all gains and losses 
attributable to the hedged risks are recognised in the hedge reserve and reclassified into the income 
statement when the interest expense is recognised. 

The movement in hedge reserve is as follows: 

  2012 2011 
  $million  $million 

 Opening balance (14) 2 

 Charged to comprehensive income 8 (16) 

 Closing balance (6) (14) 

Commodity price risk exposure  

The Group is exposed to commodity price fluctuations through the sale of petroleum products and other 
oil-price-linked contracts.  The Group may enter into commodity crude oil price swap and option 
contracts to manage its commodity price risk.  At 31 December 2012 the Group has no open oil price 
swap contracts (2011: nil), and therefore is not exposed to movements in commodity pr ices on financial 
instruments.  The Group continues to monitor oil price volatility  and to assess the need for commodity 
price hedging. 
 

(c)  Credit risk  

Credit risk for the Group arises from investments in cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial 
instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers 
including outstanding receivables and committed transactions, and represents the potential financial loss 
if counterparties fail to perform as contracted.  Manageme nt has Board-approved credit policies and the 
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  The majority of Santos’ gas contracts are 
spread across major Australian energy retailers and industrial users.  Contracts exist in every mainland 
state whilst the largest customer accounts for less than 20% of contracted gas.  

The Group controls credit risk by setting minimum c reditworthiness requirements for counterparties, 
which for banks and financial institutions  are based upon their long-term credit rating .   

 Approved  Total  Total   Exposure  
Rating  counterparties  credit limit  exposure  *  range  
  $million  $million   $million  

AAA, AA, AA– 6 11,950 4,204  0 – 1,512 

A+, A, A– 13 6,950 1,393  0 – 397 

�
 The sum of all cash deposits plus accrued interest, bank account balances, undrawn credit facility limits and derivative 
mark-to-market gains. 
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38. Financial Risk Management  (continued)  

(c)  Credit risk  (continued)  

If customers are independently rated these ratings are used,  otherwise the credit quality of the 
customer is assessed by taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors 
including credit support from a third party.  Individual risk limits for banks and financial institutions are 
set based on external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board.  Limits for customers are 
determined within contract terms.  The daily nomination of gas de mand by customers and the utilisation 
of credit limits by customers are monitored by line management.  

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s 
exposure to bad debts is not significant.  The Group does not hold collateral, nor does it securitise its 
trade and other receivables. 

At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations  of credit risk within the Group and 
financial instruments are spread amongst a number of financial institutions to minimise the risk of 
counterparty default.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the  carrying amount of 
financial assets of the Group (excluding investments), which have been recognised on the statement of 
financial position. 
 

(d)  Liquidity risk  

The Group adopts a prudent liquidity risk management strategy and seeks to maintain suffi cient liquid 
assets and available committed credit facilities to meet short-term to medium -term liquidity 
requirements.  The Group’s objective is to maintain flexibility in funding to meet ongoi ng operational 
requirements, exploration and development expenditure, and other c orporate initiatives.  

The following table analyses the contractual maturities of the G roup’s financial liabilities, and financial 
assets held to manage liquidity risk.  The relevant maturity groupings are based on the remaining period 
to the contractual maturity date, at the reporting date .  The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows comprising principal and interest repayments.  Estimated variable 
interest expense is based upon appropriate yield curves as at 31 December 2012. 

 Less than  1 to 2  2 to 5  More than  
 1 year  years  years  5 years  
 $million  $million  $million   $million  

2012     

Financial assets held to manage liquidity 
risk      

Cash  2,163 – – – 

Derivative financial assets      

Interest rate swap contracts  38 38 83 46 

Cross-currency swap contracts 24 25 (34) – 

Non -derivative financial liabilit ies      

Trade and other payables (950) – – – 

Obligations under finance leases (1) (1) – – 

Bank loans (62) (61) (545) (1,201) 

Medium-term notes  (6) (6) (106) – 

Long-term notes  (43) (102) (351) (458) 

Subordinated debt (105) (105) (1,590) – 

 1,058 (212) (2,543) (1,613) 
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38. Financial Risk Management  (continued)  

(d)  Liquidity risk  (continued)  

 Less than  1 to 2  2 to 5  More than  
 1 year  years  years  5 years  
 $million  $million  $million  $million  

2011     

Financial assets held to manage liquidity 
risk      

Cash  3,362 – – – 

Derivative financial assets      

Interest rate swap contracts 41 32 52 25 

Non -derivative financial liabilit ies      

Trade and other payables (1,005) – – – 

Obligations under finance leases (1) (2) – – 

Bank loans (57) (63) (365) (861) 

Medium-term notes  (6) (6) (113) – 

Long-term notes  (202) (44) (230) (702) 

Subordinated debt (105) (105) (316) (1,383) 

Derivative financial liabilit ies      

Cross-currency swap contracts 21 12 (36) (143) 

 2,048 (176) (1,008) (3,064) 
 
(e)  Fair values  

The financial assets and liabilities of the Group are all initially recognised in the statement of financial 
position at their fair value in accordance with the accounting policies  in note 1.  The fair values of 
receivables, payables, interest-bearing liabilities and other financial assets and liabilities which are not 
subsequently measured at fair value approximates their carrying value.  

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of 
financial instruments:  

Available-for-sale f inancial asset s 

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted bid price 
at the reporting date.  

Derivat ives 

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows based on 
the terms of maturity of each contract and using market intere st rates for a similar instrument at the 
reporting date.  Where these cash flows are in a foreign cu rrency, the present value is converted to 
Australian dollars at the foreign exchange spot rate prevailing at reporting date.  

Financial l iabilit ies 

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.  Where these cash flows are in a 
foreign currency, the present value is converted to Australian dollars at the f oreign exchange spot rate 
prevailing at reporting date.  
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38. Financial Risk Management  (continued)  

(e)  Fair values (continued)  

I nt erest  rates used for det erm ining fair value 

The interest rates used to discount estimated future cash flow s, where applicable, are based on the 
market yield curve at the reporting date.  The deal t credit spread is assumed to be the same as the 
market rate for the credit as at reporting date as allow ed under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.  The interest rates including credit spreads used to deter mine fair value 
were as follows: 

  2012 2011 
  %  % 

 Derivatives 0.2 – 5.0 0.6 – 5.4 

 Loans and borrowings 0.2 – 5.0 0.6 – 4.8 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique:  

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for i dentical assets and liabilities; 

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly;  

Level 3:  techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 
not based on observable market data. 

The Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:  

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
 $million  $million  $million  $million  

2012     

Assets measured at fair value      

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:     

Interest rate swap contracts  182 – 182 – 

Cross-currency swap contracts 41 – 41 – 

Embedded derivatives 7 – 7 – 

Available-for-sale financial assets:     

Equity shares 10 10 – – 

Liabilit ies measured at fair value      

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss:      

Long-term notes (846) – (846) – 

Medium-term notes (107) – (107) – 
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38. Financial Risk Management  (continued)  

(e)  Fair values (continued)  

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
 $million  $million  $million  $million  

2011     

Assets measured at fair value      

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:     

Interest rate swap contracts  181 – 181 – 

Embedded derivatives 8 – 8 – 

Available-for-sale financial assets:     

Equity shares 2 2 – – 

Liabilit ies measured at fair value      

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss:      

Long-term notes (1,019) – (1,019) – 

Medium-term notes (105) – (105) – 

Cross-currency swap contracts  (47) – (47) – 

During the reporting period s ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, there were no transfers 
between level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements, and no tr ansfers into or out of level 3 fair value 
measurements. 
 

39. Events After the End of the Reporting Period  

On 22 February 2013, the Directors of Santos Limited declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect 
of the 2012 financial year.  The dividend has not been provided for in the 31 December 2012 financial 
statements.  Refer to note 22 for dividends declared after 31 December 2012.  
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Directors’ Declaration 
For the year ended 31 December 2012 

 
 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Santos  Limited (“the Company”), we state that:  
 
1. In the opinion of the  Directors: 
 

(a) the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are  in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), including:  

 
(i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as a t 

31 December 2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  
 
(ii)  complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth);  and 

 
(b) the financial statements and notes comply with International Finan cial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in note 1(a). 
 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

 
2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors 

in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the financial year ended 
31 December 2012. 

 
3. As at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable g rounds to believe that the members of the 

Closed Group identified in note 37 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are 
or may become subject by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those 
members of the Closed Group pursuant to Class Order 98/1418. 

 
 
Dated this 22nd day of February 2013 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director         Director  
 
Adelaide 
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislat ion 

 

Independent  audit or's report  to t he members  of Santos Limited 

Report  on the f inancial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report  of Santos Limited, which comprises the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012, the consolidated income statement, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equit y and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
significant  accounting policies and other explanatory informat ion, and the Directors' Declaration of the 
consolidated ent ity comprising the company and the ent it ies it  controlled at the year's end or from time 
to t ime during the financial year. 

Directors' responsibili t y for the financial report 

The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparat ion of the financial report  that  gives a t rue 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Account ing Standards and the Corporations Act  2001  and for 
such internal controls as the Directors determine are necessary to enable the preparat ion of the financial 
report  that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or err or. In Note 1(a), the Directors 
also state, in accordance wit h Account ing Standard AASB 101 Presentat ion of Financial Statements, that 
the financial statements comply with International Financial Report ing Standards. 

Auditor 's responsibili t y 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit . We conducted our 
audit  in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that  we comply with 
relevant  ethical requirements relating to audit  engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report  is free from material misstatement. 

An audit  involves performing procedures to obtain audit  evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report . The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report , whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant  to the ent ity's 
preparat ion and fair presentation of the financial report  in order to design audit  procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but  not  for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the eff ectiveness 
of the ent ity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of account ing 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting est imates made by the Directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentat ion of the financial report . 

We believe that  the audit  evidence we have obtained is sufficient  and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit  opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit  we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporat ions Act 
2001 .  We have given to the Directors of the company a writ ten Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a 
copy of which is referred to in the Directors’ Report .  
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Opinion 

In our opinion: 

a. the financial report  of Santos Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 , 
including: 

i giving a t rue and fair view of the consolidated ent ity's financial position as at 31 December 
2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii  complying with Australian Account ing Standards and the Corporations Regulat ions 2001 ; 
and 

b. the financial report  also complies with International Financial Report ing Standards as disclosed 
in Note 1(a). 

Report  on the Remunerat ion Report 

We have audited the Remunerat ion Report included in pages 10 to 24 of the Directors’ Report  for the 
year ended 31 December 2012 . The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report  in accordance with section 300 A of the Corporat ions Act  2001 . 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report , based on our audit  conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remunerat ion Report  of Santos Limited for the year ended 31 December 2012, 
complies with sect ion 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 . 
 
 
 
 
Ernst  & Young 

 

 

T S Hammond 
Partner 
Adelaide  
22 February 2013 
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Financial Commentary to Appendix 4E 
 
The following comments should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Report for the year ended 
31 December 2012. 

Consolidated Income Statement 

Net profit for the period ($519 mill ion, down by $234 million -31%) 
Net profit after income tax attributable to owners of Santos Limited decreased by $234 million to $519 million.   
 
Earnings per share for 2012 decreased by 36% to 54.4 cents. 

Underlying Profit after tax for the perio d ($606 million, up by $153 million +34%) 
An analysis of the change in net profit after tax is set out below and a reconciliation to underlying profit after tax 
is set out on page 6 in the Directors’ Report. 

Dividends 
During the year Santos Limited paid fully franked dividends of $285 million on ordinary shares. 
(2011: $263 million). 
 
The Directors have declared a final dividend for 2012 of 15 cents per ordinary share, fully franked 
(2011: 15 cents, fully franked), payable on 28 March 2013. 

Product sales ($3,220 million, up by $499 million +18%) 
Sales revenue increased by $499 million to $3,220 million primarily driven by higher liquids volumes and gas 
prices. 
 
Sales gas, ethane and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) revenues of $1,319 million were 5% higher than 2011.  Sales 
gas, ethane and LNG prices in 2012 averaged $5.14/GJ compared with $4.71/GJ in 2011.  This primarily reflects 
higher Western Australian gas prices from the commencement of Reindeer production and higher Maleo gas 
prices resulting from a favourable price review.  Sales volumes of sales gas, ethane and LNG decreased 1.6 
mmboe largely due to lower customer nominations and cessation of some Eastern Australia gas contracts.  
 
Crude oil sales of $1,401 million were $407 million higher primarily due to higher sales volumes of 3.7 mmboe.  
The increase in sales volumes is primarily due to increased production from Chim Sao and the Cooper Basin 
combined with higher third party crude sales volumes.  
 
Condensate/naphtha sales of $321 million increased by $17 million mainly due to timing of liftings.   
 
Liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) revenues increased by $8 million to $179 million mainly due to higher LPG 
prices. 

Other Income ($16 million, down by $529 million -97%) 
Other income in 2011 included $529 million of gains relating to the sale of non-current assets. 

Cost of sales ($2,089 million, up by $352 million +20%) 
Cost of sales is $352 million higher mainly due to higher production costs, higher third party purchases and 
higher depletion and depreciation costs. Further analysis on cost of sales is detailed below.  
 F
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> Production costs ($660 million, up by $104 million +19%)  

Field production costs of $660 million have increased by $104 million, mainly due to the costs associated 
with new fields (Chim Sao, Reindeer and Wortel) and additional costs relating to the Bayu Undan planned 
shut-down. 
 

> Pipeline Tariffs, Tolls & other ($117 million, up by $2 million +2%) 

Pipeline tariffs, tolls and other expenses of $117 million are in line with 2011.   

> Royalties and Excise ($88 million, up by $34 million +63%) 

Royalties and excise are $34 million higher than 2011 mainly due to higher Cooper Basin and Chim Sao 
sales. 

Carbon Costs ($26 million in 2012, up by $26 million) 

Carbon costs commenced from 1 July 2012 under the Clean Energy Legislation. 

Third Party Gas Purchases ($465 million, up $77 million +20%) 

Third party liquids purchases are higher than 2011 primarily due to increased production as additional fields 
came on-line in 2012.  This increase is partially offset by lower third party gas purchases from Nexus as a 
result of Longtom plant shutdown in June 2012 and lower purchases to fulfil Cooper Basin gas contracts 
following wet weather impacts in 2011.   

> Increase in product stock ($35 million increase, up $23 million) 

The increase in product stock is predominantly due to increased third party liquids purchased, GLNG gas 
injections into underground storage at Roma and to timing of liftings.  

> Depreciation & Depletion ($768 million, up by $132 million +21%) 

Depreciation and depletion of $768 million is $132 million, or 21%, higher than 2011 mainly due to the 
impact of new assets, Chim Sao, Reindeer and Wortel, and higher forecast abandonment and future 
development costs of mature oil assets.  On a $/boe basis, depletion and depreciation has increased from 
$13.47/boe in 2011 to $14.74/boe in 2012.    

Impairment of CGU/assets ($106 million, 2011 $127 million) 
The 2012 review of the carrying values of cash-generating units (CGUs) and assets resulted in impairment of 
CGUs ($101 million) and impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ($5 million).  The impairment primarily 
relates to Thevenard ($61 million), Sangu ($26 million) and Sampang ($16 million).   

Exploration & Evaluation Expensed ($165 million, down by $2 million -1%) 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure expensed in 2012 was $165 million.  The amount expensed relates to 
studies, seismic and unsuccessful wells primarily in Vietnam, Kyrgyz Republic, Bangladesh, Indonesia, offshore 
Australia, the Gunnedah Basin and the Cooper Basin. 

Finance Costs ($59 million, down by $40 million -40%) 
Interest expense has decreased from 2011 mainly due to an increase in borrowing costs capitalised to major oil 
and gas assets under development.   

Finance Income ($138 million, down by $52 million -27%) 
Interest income has decreased from 2011 primarily due to lower interest rates earned on lower cash balances 
deposited on short term money markets.   

Total Taxation Expense ($397 million, down by $134 million -25%) 
Total taxation expense is lower principally as a result of a reduction in income tax expense, which represents 
35% of pre-tax profit compared to an effective tax rate of 34% of pre-tax profit in 2011.  The lower income tax 
expense reflects the lower pre-tax profit.  The lower pre-tax profit results in a higher effective rate despite a 
small reduction in income tax adjustments. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

Overview 
The Group’s net assets increased by $402 million (4%) during 2012 to $9,365 million, principally due to the net 
profit generated during the year. 

Assets  
Current assets of $3,258 million were $1,486 million lower than in 2011 predominantly due to lower cash 
balances ($1,181 million lower) and lower non-trade rece ivables mainly relating to proceeds from the sale of 
interests in GLNG, which were received in January 2012.  
 
Non-current assets were $13,777 million compared to $11,070 million at the end of 2011, an increase of 
$2,707 million, mainly due to 2012 capital expenditure and asset acquisitions, offset by depreciation and 
depletion charges, exploration and evaluation expensed, asset sales and impairment charges.  

Current Liabilities 
Current liabilities of $1,311 million were $169 million lower predominantly due to the repayment of long term 
notes ($151 million) and lower trade and other payables ($ 55 million). These decreases were offset by higher tax 
liabilities ($12 million) and the addition of a carbon cost provision ($20 million). 

Non-current Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities of $6,359 million were $988 million higher predominantly due to the increase in 
non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings ($597 million) and increase in restoration provision balances 
($483 million), partially offset by lower deferred tax liabilities ($43 million).  

Net Debt 
Net debt (borrowings, net of cash on hand and the value of financial derivatives used to hedge debt) of 
$1,330 million was $1,535 million higher than at the end of  2011 primarily as a result of increased capital 
expenditure on major projects, offset by operating cash inflows. 
 
The Group’s net debt/net debt plus equity ratio has increased from (2.3)% in 2011 to 12.4% at the end of 2012. 

Equity 
Total equity increased by $402 million to $9,365 million at  year end. The increase primarily reflects additional 
shares issued in relation to the dividend reinvestment plan ($126 million) and underwriting of the dividend 
payment ($77 million), the 2012 net profit after tax attributable to owners of Santos Limited of $519 million less 
dividends paid during the year ($285 million). 

 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

Operating Cash Flows $1,658 million inflow (2011: $1,253 million inflow), inflow up by 
$405 million or 32% 
Net cash flows from operations increased by $405 million, primarily due to  increased receipts from customers 
($488 million increase), decreased payments of income taxes ($193 million decrease) and royalty-related taxes 
($27 million decrease) and decreased borrowing costs paid ($62 million decrease). The decrease in income taxes 
paid is associated with the immediate deductibility of exploration and evaluation associated with the 2011 
acquisition of Eastern Star Gas Limited. 
 
The aforementioned increases in operating cash flows have been partially offset by increased payments to 
suppliers and employees ($167 million increase), decreased interest received ($53 million decrease),  increased 
exploration and evaluation expenditure ($18 million incr ease), reductions in income tax refunded ($17 million 
decrease), royalty-related taxes refunded ($12 million decrease) and decreased pipeline tariff and other receipts 
($62 million decrease). 
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Investing Cash Flows $3,198 million outflow (2011: $2,142 million outflow), outflow up by 
$1,056 million or 49% 
Net investing cash outflows increased by $1,056 million primarily due to: 

�” Payments for oil and gas assets ($184 million increase) 

�” Payments for exploration and evaluation assets ($29 million increase) 

�” Payments for other land, buildings, plant and equipment ($12 million increase) 

�” Acquisition of non-current assets ($105 million increase) 

�” Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets ($823 million decrease) 

�” Borrowing costs paid being capitalised to qualifying assets ($43 million increase) 

�” These increases in investing cash outflows were partially offset, primarily by income taxes paid on a 
reduced level of disposals of non-current assets ($124 million decrease).   

Financing Cash Flows $366 million inflow (2011: $90 million outflow), net inflow up by 
$456 million or 507% 
Net financing cash flows increased by $456 million primarily due to higher net drawdowns of borrowings. 
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